

SLP720RT SERIES THERMAL PRINTER TECHNICAL REFERENCE

Rev.02

Seiko Instruments Inc.

Rev.01July 2022Rev.02October 2022

Copyright © 2022 by Seiko Instruments Inc. All rights reserved.

Seiko Instruments Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "SII") has prepared this manual for use by SII personnel, licensees, and customers. The information contained herein is the property of SII and shall not be reproduced in whole or in part without the prior written approval of SII.

SII reserves the right to make changes without notice to the specifications and materials contained herein and shall not be responsible for any damages (including consequential) caused by reliance on the materials presented, including but not limited to typographical, arithmetic, or listing errors.

AndroidTM is a trademark of Google LLC.

iOS is a trademark or registered trademark of Cisco in the U.S. and other countries and is used under license. All other trademarks are the properties of their respective companies.

SII ● is a trademark of Seiko Instruments Inc.

PREFACE

This technical reference describes SLP720RT SERIES THERMAL PRINTER (hereinafter referred to as "printer").

See "SLP720RT SERIES Thermal Printer USER'S GUIDE" for operation.

[Product name]

<u>SLP</u>	$\frac{720RT}{(1)} - \frac{x}{(2)} K2F x 1$
(1) : Series	SLP720RT series
(2) : Interface	U: USB E: Ethernet + USB W: Wireless LAN
(3) : Country/Region	U: USA, Canada E: EU, EFTA, UK, Turkey J: Japan 1: Unspecified (other than Wireless LAN model)

The printer complies with EU RoHS Directive (2011/65/EU).

Follow "2.1 PRINTER SPECIFICATIONS" about the input rating of SLP720RT when the power is supplied from customer's device.

When a power supply other than the AC adapter of specified accessories is used, the customer must take action to comply with the safety and EMC regulations of the country of use.

[Contents]

CHAPTER 1 : TERMS USED IN THIS MANUAL

• This chapter describes basic terms that are frequently used in this manual.

CHAPTER 2 : SPECIFICATIONS

- This chapter describes specifications of the printer and the thermal paper.
- CHAPTER 3 : INTERFACE
 - This chapter describes specifications of each interface.

CHAPTER 4 : FUNCTION SETTINGS

- This chapter describes Function Settings and test print.
- CHAPTER 5 : LED INDICATION AND SWITCH FUNCTIONS
 - This chapter describes the LED indication of printer status and the functions of switches.

CHAPTER 6 : COMMAND FUNCTIONS

• This chapter describes the function of commands supported by the printer.

CHAPTER 7 : INITIALIZATION

• This chapter describes the initialization process.

APPENDIX A : CHARACTER SETS (CHARACTER CODE TABLE)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 TERMS USED IN THIS MANUAL 1-1

CHAPTER 2 SPECIFICATIONS

2.1	PRINTER	SPECIFICATIONS	2-1
	2.1.1	Sale Destinations	2-4
	2.1.2	Precautions for Use	2-5
	2.1.3	Dimensions	2-7
	2.1.4	Label	2-9
2.2	Thermal F	Paper Specifications	2-11
	2.2.1	Receipt	2-13
	2.2.2	Linerless Label (Marked Paper)	2-14
	2.2.3	SLP Label	2-17
2.3	CUTTER	SPECIFICATIONS	2-20
2.4	POWER S	SUPPLY SPECIFICATIONS	2-21
2.5	COMMUN	ICATION CABLE SPECIFICATIONS	2-23
	2.5.1	Specified USB Cable Specifications	2-23

CHAPTER 3 INTERFACE

CHAPTER 4 FUNCTION SETTINGS

4.1	FUNCTION SETTING METHOD	4-1
	4.1.1 Changing Memory Switch	4-2
4.2	FUNCTION SETTINGS (MS)	4-6
4.3	EASY PAPER SETTING	I-16
4.4	TEST PRINT	I-17

CHAPTER 5 LED INDICATION AND SWITCH FUNCTIONS

5.1	LED IN	DICATION OF PRINTER STATUS	
5.2	ERROF	R AND RECOVERY PROCEDURE	5-3
5.3	SWITC	HES	
	5.3.1	POWER Switch	
	5.3.2	FEED Switch	

4-1

5-1

3-1

2-1

CHAPTER 6 COMMAND FUNCTIONS

6.1	CHARA	CTER CODES AND COMMANDS6-1
	6.1.1	JIS Code System 6-1
	6.1.2	Shift-JIS Code System6-3
6.2	FLASH I	MEMORY
6.3	RESPO	NSE DATA
6.4	COMMA	AND DESCRIPTION
	6.4.1	Printing Command6-12
	6.4.2	Line Spacing6-14
	6.4.3	Character Set6-15
	6.4.4	Print Position
	6.4.5	Image
	6.4.6	Barcode
	6.4.7	Two-Dimensional Barcode6-49
	6.4.8	Kanji
	6.4.9	Auxiliary Functions6-60
	6.4.10	Ruled Line
	6.4.11	Download Mode6-94
6.5	COMMA	AND LIST

CHAPTER 7 INITIALIZATION

7.1	INITIALIZATION	7-1
7.2	INITIALIZATION OF SETTINGS	7-2
7.3	INITIALIZATION WITH SOFTWARE RESETTING	7-4
7.4	INITIALIZATION WITH HARDWARE RESETTING	7-4

APPENDIX A CHARACTER SETS (CHARACTER CODE TABLE) A-1

A.1	CHARACTER CODE TABLES (CODEPAGE)	4-1
A.2	INTERNATIONAL CHARACTER SET	-11
A.3	2-BYTE CHARACTERS	-12

FIGURES

Figure 1-2 Line Spacing Figure 1-3 Space Between Lines Figure 1-4 Character Spacing Figure 2-1 Operating Temperature and Humidity Range Figure 2-2 SLP720RT Dimensions Figure 2-3 SLP720RT Installation Position	1-2 1-2
Figure 1-4 Character Spacing Figure 2-1 Operating Temperature and Humidity Range Figure 2-2 SLP720RT Dimensions Figure 2-3 SLP720RT Installation Position	1-2
Figure 2-1 Operating Temperature and Humidity Range Figure 2-2 SLP720RT Dimensions Figure 2-3 SLP720RT Installation Position	
Figure 2-2 SLP720RT Dimensions Figure 2-3 SLP720RT Installation Position	_
Figure 2-3 SLP720RT Installation Position	
-	
Figure 2-4 Print Area	
Figure 2-5 Print Area and Mark Sensor Position	2-14
Figure 2-6 Print Area and Mark Sensor Position	
Figure 2-7 Cut Position	
Figure 2-8 Power Supply Connector (View from Joint Surface)	2-21
Figure 3-1 Connector	
Figure 3-2 Screen of [USB] Tab in SII Communication Settings Utility for Windows	
Figure 3-3 Connector	3-5
Figure 4-1 Properties of Printer Driver	4-2
Figure 4-2 Mode Selection Message	
Figure 4-3 MS Selection Message	
Figure 4-4 Function Selection Message (Example: Selected MS1)	
Figure 4-5 Setting Value Selection Message (Example: Selected Standby LED)	
Figure 4-6 Setting Value Confirmation Message (Example: Selected Green)	
Figure 4-7 Test Print Example (USB Model)	
Figure 4-8 Test Print Example (Ethernet + USB Model)	
Figure 4-9 Test Print Example (Wireless LAN Model)	
Figure A-1 USA, Standard Europe (Code Page437)	A-1
Figure A-2 Katakana	
Figure A-3 Multilingual (Code Page850)	
Figure A-4 Portuguese (Code Page860)	
Figure A-5 Canadian-French (Code Page863)	
Figure A-6 Nordic (Code Page865)	
Figure A-7 Turkish (Code Page857)	
Figure A-8 Greek (Code Page737).	
Figure A-9 Latin (Code Page1252)	
Figure A-10 Russian (Code Page866)	
Figure A-11 Eastern Europe (Code Page852)	
Figure A-12 Euro (Code Page858)	
Figure A-13 Cyrillic (Code Page855)	
Figure A-14 Arabic (Code Page864)	
ויייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי	
Figure A-15 Central European (Code Page1250)	A-8

Figure A-17	Greek (Code Page1253)	A-9
Figure A-18	Turkish (Code Page1254)	A-10
Figure A-19	International Character Set	A-11
Figure A-20	Special Character Set	A-12
Figure A-21	NEC Special Character Set	A-12
Figure A-22	NEC Selection of IBM Extended Character Set	A-13
Figure A-23	IBM Extended Character Set	A-14

TABLES

Table 2-1	Printer Specifications	2-1
Table 2-2	Sale Destinations	2-4
Table 2-3	Thermal Paper Specifications	2-11
Table 2-4	Specified Thermal Paper Model	2-11
Table 2-5	Print Area Specifications	2-13
Table 2-6	Print Area and Mark Sensor Position Specifications	2-15
Table 2-7	Print Area and Mark Sensor Position Specifications	2-18
Table 2-8	Cutter Specifications	2-20
Table 2-9	Power Supply Specifications	2-21
Table 2-10	Specified AC Adapter Specifications (PW-H2415-W1)	2-22
Table 2-11	Specified USB Cable Specifications	2-23
Table 2-12	Connection Cable for Specified USB Cable	2-23
Table 3-1	General Specifications of USB Interface	
Table 3-2	Pin Assignment of USB Interface	3-2
Table 3-3	General Specifications of Ethernet Interface	3-5
Table 3-4	Pin Assignment of Ethernet Interface	3-5
Table 3-5	Network Communication System	3-6
Table 3-6	Network Status Indication	3-6
Table 3-7	Print Communication Protocol (LPR)	3-6
Table 3-8	Print Communication Protocol (TCP Socket Port)	3-7
Table 3-9	Protocol for Getting and Setting Status	3-7
Table 3-10	Protocol for Monitoring Settings	3-7
Table 3-11	Protocol for F/W Update	3-7
Table 3-12	General Specifications of Wireless LAN Interface	3-9
Table 3-13	LPR Specifications	3-9
Table 3-14	Specifications of TCP Socket Port	3-9
Table 3-15	Specifications of HTTP Protocol	3-10
Table 3-16	Specifications of SNMP Protocol	3-10
Table 4-1	General Setting 1 (MS1)	
Table 4-2	Standby LED Selection (MS1-4 to 5)	4-7
Table 4-3	General Setting 4 (MS4)	4-7
Table 4-4	Maximum Print Speed Selection (MS4-7 to 8)	4-8
Table 4-5	General Setting 5 (MS5)	
Table 4-6	Initialization Performance Selection After Paper Setting (MS5-6 to 7)	

Table 4-7	General Setting 6 (MS6)	4-10
Table 4-8	Print Density Selection (MS6-1 to 8)	4-10
Table 4-9	General Setting 7 (MS7)	4-11
Table 4-10	Thermal Paper Selection (MS7-1 to 8)	
Table 4-11	Mark Position Correction (MS8 to 9)	4-11
Table 4-12	Mark Detection Maximum Feeding Length Setting (MS10 to 11)	4-12
Table 4-13	Mark Detection Threshold Value (MS12)	
Table 4-14	General Setting 13 (MS13)	4-13
Table 4-15	International Character Set	4-13
Table 4-16	International Character Setting (MS15)	4-13
Table 4-17	Character Code Table	4-14
Table 4-18	Character Code Table Setting (MS16)	4-14
Table 4-19	General Setting 17 (MS17)	4-15
Table 4-20	Paper Saving Setting (MS17-1 to 2)	4-15
Table 4-21	Ethernet Information	4-18
Table 4-22	Wireless LAN Information	4-19
Table 5-1	Printer Status	5-1
Table 5-2	LED Blink Pattern	
Table 5-3	Error and Recovery Procedure	5-3
Table 6-1	Memory Area After Initialization	6-5
Table 6-2	Number of Bytes of Memory Control Information for Each Function	
Table 6-3	Response Identifiers	6-9
Table 7-1	Setting Values After Initialization	7-2
Table 7-2	Setting Values After Initialized with Software Resetting	

CHAPTER 1 TERMS USED IN THIS MANUAL

This chapter describes the terms used in this manual.

• INPUT BUFFER AND LINE BUFFER

When the data (character codes and commands) is sent to the SLP720RT (hereinafter referred to as "printer") from the host devices, the data is stored in the printer input buffer. The input buffer has a capacity of 4096 bytes. Then, the printer retrieves the data which is stored in the input buffer. When the data is character code, the data is mapped to the line buffer. Normal commands are executed immediately when the data is retrieved from the input buffer. On the other hand, realtime commands are executed when the data is stored in the input buffer from the host.

The data capacity of the line buffer is 1 line. When the line buffer is flooded with the capacity of character codes for 1 line, the characters falling into the character codes are printed. The printer repeats this operation to print all the character code. The relation between the input buffer and line buffer is illustrated in Figure 1-1.



Figure 1-1 Relation Between Input Buffer and Line Buffer

• Line Spacing

Line spacing is the space between the lines of printed characters (see Figure 1-2).



Figure 1-2 Line Spacing

The printer is a line printer, therefore, a paper feed step is necessary before printing characters or bit images. For the line feed with printing, the paper is fed for the height of characters or bit images even the line feed amount is set smaller than for the height of the characters or bit images. For the printing with underlines, the printer feeds the paper with the line spacing added 3 dot-lines to the character height.

For the printing without underlines, the paper is fed for the specified line feed amount.

• Space Between Lines

Space between lines is the space between two adjacent lines (see Figure 1-3).



Figure 1-3 Space Between Lines

Character Spacing

Character spacing is the space area adding to between each character in the horizontal direction (see Figure 1-4).



Figure 1-4 Character Spacing

• Line

The word "line" in this manual indicates a line of characters printed on thermal paper. For example, the sentence "the printer feeds paper 1 line" indicates that the printer feeds paper a line of characters.

• Dot-Line

The word "dot-line" in this manual indicates an area of 1 dot in the vertical direction of thermal paper.

For example, the sentence "the printer feeds paper by 1 dot-line" indicates that the printer feeds paper by the space of 1 dot.

• Notation in the Technical Reference

Hexadecimal: the symbol 'H' indicating hexadecimal is added at the end of a number. Example: 0AH

Character: a character is enclosed with single quotation marks. Example: 'G'

CHAPTER 2 SPECIFICATIONS

2.1 PRINTER SPECIFICATIONS

Table 2-1 Printer Specifications

(1/3)

Item		Specifications		
		Paper Width 58 mm ^{*1}	Paper Width 40 mm ^{*1}	
Printing method		Thermal printing		
Dot density		8 dots/mm		
Number of effective	dots max.	432 dots	288 dots	
Paper width max. / F	Printing width max.	58 mm / 54 mm	40 mm / 36 mm	
Operating	Temperature	5°C to 45°C (41°F to 113°F))	
environment	Relative humidity	10 %RH to 90 %RH (non-co	10 %RH to 90 %RH (non-condensing)	
Storage	Temperature	-20°C to 60°C (-4°F to 140°F)		
environment	Relative humidity	10 %RH to 90 %RH (non-condensing)		
Printing speed max.		200 mm/s ^{*2}		
Paper-feed pitch		0.125 mm		
Dimensions (excluding projections)		W 90 mm × D 200 mm × H 141 mm		
Mass		Approx. 1100 g (excluding thermal paper)		
Input voltage		DC24.0 V ±10%		
Mounting type		Front eject : floor installation		
	USB	Ver. 2.0 Full speed (12 Mbp	s)	
Communication system	Ethernet	10BASE-T, 100BASE-TX		
System	Wireless LAN	IEEE802.11b/g/n, IEEE802.11a/n		

		Specifications		
	Item	Paper Width 58 mm ^{*1}	Paper Width 40 mm ^{*1}	
	1-byte character font A	24 dots × 12 dots		
Character	1-byte character font B	16 dots × 8 dots		
size (H × W)	2-byte character font A	24 dots × 24 dots		
(2-byte character font B	16 dots × 16 dots		
Character type	1-byte character	USA, Standard Europe (Coo Katakana Multilingual (Code Page850 Portuguese (Code Page860 Canadian-French (Code Pa Nordic (Code Page865) Turkish (Code Page865) Turkish (Code Page737) Latin (Code Page1252) Russian (Code Page866) Eastern Europe (Code Page Euro (Code Page858) Cyrillic (Code Page858) Cyrillic (Code Page855) Arabic (Code Page864) ^{*3} Central European (Code Pag Cyrillic (Code Page1251) Greek (Code Page1253) Turkish (Code Page1254) User-defined character set Downloaded character, Opti)))) ge863) e852) nge1250)	
	2-byte character	Kanji (JIS 1st and 2nd level NEC special characters, NE characters, IBM extended c character	C selection of IBM extended	
	1-byte character font A	36	24	
Number of	1-byte character font B	54	36	
characters per line max.	2-byte character font A	18	12	
	2-byte character font B	27	18	
	Barcode	UPC-A, UPC-E, JAN13 (EAN13), JAN8 (EAN8), ITF, CODABAR, CODE39, CODE93, CODE128, GS1 Databar Omni-directional, GS1 Databar Truncate GS1 Databar Limited, GS1 Databar Expanded		
Barcode	Two-dimensional barcode	QR Code (Model 2), PDF417, MaxiCode, Data Matrix, GS1 Databar Stacked, GS1 Databar Stacked Omni-directional, GS1 Databar Expanded Stacked		
Print mode		Standard mode		
Input buffer		4096 bytes		
Autocutter	Paper cutting type	Full cut Partial cut (a tab left at the	center)	

	Item			Specifi	cations
				Paper Width 58 mm ^{*1}	Paper Width 40 mm ^{*1}
LED	LED			3 color LED	
Operation swi	itch			POWER Switch, FEED	Switch
			Receipt	100 km or more	
		Thermal	SLP Label	15 km or more	
	Abrasion		Linerless label	75 km or more	
	resistance		Receipt	100 km or more	
		Platen	SLP Label	15 km or more	
Reliability ^{*4}			Linerless label	50 km or more	53 km or more
	Activation pulse resistance		200 million pulses or more		
	o	Cutting SLP Label		1 million cut or more ^{*5}	
	Cutting paper			0.3 million cut or more ^{*5}	
	Linerless label		abel	1 million cut or more ^{*5}	
	MTBF/MCB	/TBF/MCBF		360000 hours / 60 millio	n lines

*1: Select the paper width by MS4-4 (Paper Width Selection).

*2: Condition: our specified AC adapter (PW-H2415-W1), function settings are default setting,

printing 1-byte character font A 'K' for all digits, ambient temperature 25°C (77°F) or more.

However, it may change depending on the connecting time and the printer settings.

*3: Font B cannot be used when this character set is selected.

*4: Except when specific dots are printed continuously. Reliance is a value at average print rate 12.5%, print density 100%, ambient temperature 25°C (77°F), and using specified thermal paper.

*5: Cut operation environment is a value at ambient temperature 25°C (77°F) and using specified thermal paper indicated in Table 2-4.

2.1.1 Sale Destinations

Sale destinations for the printer and the specified accessories are listed below.

Countral		SLP720RT			
Country/ Region ^{*1}	USB model	Ethernet + USB model	Wireless LAN model	AC Adapter	AC Cable
Japan	SLP720RT-UK2F11-17	SLP720RT-EK2F11-07	SLP720RT-WK2FJ1-07		CB-JP08-20A
EU					
EFTA	SLP720RT-UK2F11-15	SLP720RT-EK2F11-05	SLP720RT-WK2FE1-05		CB-CE05-20A
Turkey					
UK	SLP720RT-UK2F11-19	SLP720RT-EK2F11-09	SLP720RT-WK2FE1-09	PW-H2415-W1	CB-UK04-20A
USA			SLP720RT-WK2FU1-03		CB-US06-20A
Canada	SLP720RT-UK2F11-13	SLP720RT-EK2F11-03	3LF/20R1-WK2F01-03		CD-0300-20A
Brazil			-		*2

Table 2-2 Sale Destinations

*1: Ask your SII sales representative if the product can be used in countries or regions other than those listed above. *2: Use the AC cable of 2.0 meters long that complies with safety standards in Brazil.

2.1.2 Precautions for Use

- When the two-dimensional barcode or ladder barcode is printed at high speed, the accuracy of reading the barcode is reduced. In that case, print after switching the print speed to Middle. Use Memory Switch or "Set Print Speed" command (GS 's') to change the print speed.
- When the thin lines such as ruler lines are printed, configure it with 2 dots or more. By configuring it with 1 dot only, the printed lines may be hard to see.
- Always use the printer within the shadowed range shown in the graph below for the relation between temperature and humidity.



Figure 2-1 Operating Temperature and Humidity Range

- When handling the printer, be aware of static electricity. If the static electricity is discharged, this can cause USB communication failure. If this problem occurs, unplug the plug of the USB cable that is connected to the printer and wait a few seconds before connecting again.
- When the printer is left unused for a long period of time, white powder appear to the surface of platen. (This is the powder that an ingredient of thermal paper recrystallized.) When the powder appears to the platen, wipe the platen with ethanol and use the printer after ethanol has dried completely. Pay attention not to adhere the ethanol on any parts other than the platen. When it adheres, wipe it off immediately.
- When printing at high print rate under a low temperature or high humidity environment, steam may be generated from thermal paper. This may cause the thermal paper to be contaminated, or condensation may occur on the printer.
 Stop printing when water drops are produced on the thermal head. The water drops causes galvanic corrosion of the thermal head. If condensation occurs, do not apply current until dewdrops disappear.
- Install the printer on the smooth surface although the rubber feet are the type of adhering to the printer installation surface. When the printer is installed on the uneven surface, it may move during operation, or its surfaces may peel.
- When the printer is moved from the installation site, hold the printer tightly with both hands, then lift it upward slowly to leave the rubber feet from the installation surface. Lifting it rapidly or moving horizontally may peel the entire rubber feet, peel their surfaces, or damage the outer case.
- Paper feeding may be confused a few dot-lines when printing is started or when printing and paper feeding are resumed from a pause state. When printing bit images and so on, always feed the thermal paper for at least 8 dot-lines at the start of printing, and print without interrupting.

- Do not stop the printer as it is after printing barcode or image whose print rate is high. Paper feed difficulty may be caused because the thermal paper surface and the thermal head may stick together. To prevent from the occurrence of the paper feed difficulty, feed the thermal paper after printing.
- For other precautions, see "2 SAFETY PRECAUTIONS" and "3 OPERATING PRECAUTIONS" in "SLP720RT SERIES Thermal Printer USER'S GUIDE".

2.1.3 Dimensions













Figure 2-2 SLP720RT Dimensions

Installation position

The paper ejection direction of this printer is for front eject only.



Figure 2-3 SLP720RT Installation Position

2.1.4 Label

(1) USB Model

SLP720RT-UK2F11



(2) Ethernet + USB Model

SLP720RT-EK2F11

	T	
	Trade name	Thermal Printer
	Model No.	SLP720RT
	Type No.	SLP720RT-EK2F11
	Rating	24V DC === 1.5A
	Ser	ial No.
	VEI	JB000001A0
This device complies with Part 15 of th Operation is subject to the following tw (1) This device may not cause harmful	o conditions: interference,	<u>C</u> address
and (2) this device must accept any int received, including interference that m undesired operation.		
CAN ICES-3 (B)/NMB-3(B)		Seiko Instruments Inc. Made in Malaysia

(3) Wireless LAN Model

SLP720RT-WK2FU1



SLP720RT-WK2FE1



SLP720RT-WK2FJ1



2.2 THERMAL PAPER SPECIFICATIONS

Item		Specifications
Paper type		Paper roll
Paper width max.		58 ₋₁ ⁰ mm
Paper roll outside diameter max.		102 mm
Paper roll width max.		59 mm
	Receipt	12 mm
Paper tube outer diameter min.	SLP Label	29.4 mm
	Linerless label	25.4 mm
Printing surface		Outside

Table 2-3 Thermal Paper Specifications

(NOTE) • Do not use the paper roll whose end is glued, taped and folded.

- Do not use the paper roll whose core is deformed.
- Do not use the paper roll whose core is protruded from the paper end.
- Do not store the paper roll in high-temperature and humidity environment.

Paper Type	Model	Manufacturer	Paper Width [mm]
	TP50KR-2Y	Ninnon Donor	
Receipt	TF60KS-E	 Nippon Paper 	
	PD160R	Oji Paper	
	MS2141602GO		
	MS2141702GOPLUSD		58
	MS214170PLUSD-B		50
	MS214170PLUSD-C	│ │ MAXStick	
	MS214170PLUSD-P		
	MS214170PLUSD		
	MS214170X2		
	MS11732270X2HRHT		40
Linerless label	9023-1823		58
	9023-2242		
	9016-3257	- Iconex	
	9023-1233		40
	9023-1873		
	9023-2150		
	BT format 58mm x 4in dia roll	StickeyPOS	
	BTX format 58mm x 4in dia roll	- StickeyPOS	58

Table 2-4	Specified Thermal Paper Model	
	epeemea memai apei meaei	

Paper Type	Model	Manufacturer	Paper Width [mm]
Linerless label	BT format 40mm x 4in dia roll	StickovDOS	40
	BTX format 40mm x 4in dia roll	StickeyPOS	40
SLP Label [*]	-	-	-

*: Ask your SII sales representative when there are any questions.

(NOTE) • Set MS7-1 to 8 (Thermal Paper Selection) according to the thermal paper used.

• Do not use any thermal paper other than the specified thermal paper.

• Do not use 2-ply thermal paper and perforated thermal paper.

• When different thermal paper from the specified one is used, the printing quality or specified life of the thermal head would not be guaranteed.

2.2.1 Receipt

(1) Print Area



Figure 2-4 Print Area

Table 2-5	Print Area	Specifications
	I IIII AIGU	opcomoutions

Symbol	Name	Specifications		
Symbol	naille	Paper Width: 40 mm	Paper Width: 58 mm	
А	Printable dots per line	288 dots	432 dots	
В	Left margin	2 ±1 mm	2 ±1 mm	
С	Print area	36 ±0.3 mm	54 ±0.3 mm	
D	Right margin	2 ±1 mm	2 ±1 mm	
E	Paper width	40 ₋₁ mm	58 ₋₁ mm	

2.2.2 Linerless Label (Marked Paper)

(1) Print Area and Mark Sensor Specifications

A

Back side (non-printing side)

Figure 2-5 Print Area and Mark Sensor Position

NOTE • The detection accuracy of the mark sensor is ±1 mm.
 (When MS12 (Mark Detection Threshold Value) has been set to the settings at the factory).

Symbol	Item	Dimension
А	Paper width	40 ₋₁ ⁰ to 58 ₋₁ ⁰ mm
В	Print area	36 to 54 mm
С	Upper edge of the label - Upper edge of the print area	4 mm or more
D	Left and right edges of the label - Left and right edges of the print area	2 mm or more
E	Mark position	0 mm
F	Mark width	10 to 14.5 mm
G	Mark length	2 to 5 mm
Н	Distance between marks	25.4 ±0.5 mm
-	Cut position – Mark sensor position	Approx. 26.2 mm
-	Print start position - Mark sensor position	Approx. 13.7 mm
-	Cut position – Print start position	Approx. 12.5 mm
-	Mark reflectivity	6% or less

Table 2-6	Print Area and Mark Sensor Position Specifications
-----------	--

- (2) How to Use Linerless Label
 - (a) Set MS7 (Thermal Paper Selection) to "Linerless label".
 - (b) When using the marked linerless label, set MS1-3 (Mark Mode Selection) to "Enable".
 - (c) Load the marked linerless label, and press the FEED Switch once to perform form feed (paper feed until mark detection).
 The linerless label is automatically cut in the predetermined position.
 - (d) To minimize the margins, feed the paper backward for 68 dots by the "Print and Feed Backward" command (ESC 'j 'n).
 - (e) Print the first sheet.
 - (f) After that, perform form feed by the "Marked Paper Form Feed (Form Feed to Cut Position)" command (GS FF).
 Approximately 58 dots from the lower edge of the mark is fed in the forward direction when the settings of MS8 to 9 (Mark Position Correction) have been set at the factory.
 - (g) Cut the linerless label.

The process has been completed for printing 1 sheet. To go on to print the second sheet, return to (d).

2.2.3 SLP Label

(1) Print Area and Mark Sensor Specifications

Back side (non-printing side)



Figure 2-6 Print Area and Mark Sensor Position

NOTE • The detection accuracy of the mark sensor is ±1 mm. (When MS12 (Mark Detection Threshold Value) has been set to the settings at the factory).

Symbol	Item	Dimension	
А	Peeling paper width	31 ⁰ ₋₁ to 58 ⁰ ₋₁ mm	
В	Label width	10 to 54 mm	
С	Print area	8 to 50 mm	
D	Mark position	0 to 4 mm	
E	Mark width	15 mm	
F	Mark length	13.3 ±0.3 mm	
G	Upper edge of the label – Upper edge of the mark	2.5 ±0.3 mm	
Н	Distance between labels (Gap length)	4.2 ±0.3 mm	
I	Distance between marks	300 mm or less	
J	Upper edge of the label – Upper edge of the print area	2 mm or more	
к	Left and right edges of the label - Left and right edges of the print area	2 mm or more	
-	Cut position – Mark sensor position	Approx. 26.3 mm	
-	Print start position – Mark sensor position	Approx. 13.8 mm	
-	Cut position – Print start position	Approx. 12.5 mm	
-	Mark reflectivity	6% or less	
-	F+G	16.425 mm or less	
-	F+G+H	19.05 mm or more	

Table 2-7	Print Area and Mark Sensor Position Specifications
-----------	--

- (2) How to Use SLP Label
 - (h) Set MS7 (Thermal Paper Selection) to "SLP Label".
 - (i) Set MS1-3 (Mark Mode Selection) to "Enable".
 - Load the SLP Label, and press the FEED Switch once to perform form feed (paper feed until mark detection).
 The linerless label is automatically cut in the predetermined position.
 - (k) To minimize the margins, feed the paper backward for 68 dots by the "Print and Feed Backward" command (ESC 'j 'n).
 - (I) Print the first sheet.
 - (m) After that, perform form feed by the "Marked Paper Form Feed (Form Feed to Cut Position)" command (GS FF).
 Approximately 58 dots from the lower edge of the mark is fed in the forward direction when the settings of MS8 to 9 (Mark Position Correction) have been set at the factory.
 - (n) Cut the SLP Label.

The process has been completed for printing 1 sheet. To go on to print the second sheet, return to (d).

2.3 CUTTER SPECIFICATIONS

(1) Cutter Specifications

Item	Specifications
Paper cutting method	Slide cutting
Cutting frequency	1 cut / 2 sec max.

Table 2-8 Cutter Specifications

(2) Cut Position



Symbol	Item		Dimension
А	Remaining part of partial cut		Approx. 1.5 mm
В	Distance from cut position to thermal head heat element		Approx. 12.5 mm
С	Distance from cut position to backward feed margin		Approx. 8.5 mm
	Distance from paper edge (1st	Paper width: 40 mm	Approx. 20 mm
D	D dot side) to partial cut position	Paper width: 58 mm	Approx. 29 mm

Figure 2-7 Cut Position

(3) Precautions for Using Cutter

Pulling the thermal paper strongly after partial cut may result in uneven pitch because stress is applied to the platen. Feed the thermal paper approx. 1 mm before starting next printing.

Do not cut the thermal paper over maximum cutting frequency because the cutter may damage the cutter.

Leaving the printer for a long time with the state of the cutting completed may cause paper jam at the next printing. Execute paper feed or print 2 mm or more after cutting operation.

2.4 POWER SUPPLY SPECIFICATIONS

(1) Power Supply Connector Specifications

Printer side connector: TCS7960-5320177 (HOSIDEN) equivalent Cable side connector: TCP8927-631167 (HOSIDEN) equivalent



Figure 2-8 Power Supply Connector (View from Joint Surface)

(NOTE) Insert the DC plug into the power connector on the printer correctly. When the DC plug is inserted forcibly in wrong direction, damage may be caused.

(2) Power Supply Specifications

Table 2-9	Power Supply Specifications	5
-----------	-----------------------------	---

ltem	Specifications
Power supply voltage	DC21.6 to 26.4 V
Current consumption	
Standby	Approx. 36 mA avg.
Printing (print rate 25%)	Approx. 4.8 A max.
Printing (print rate 100%)	Approx. 5.7 A max.

ltem	Specifications
Model identifier	PW-H2415-W1
Input voltage	AC100 to 240 V
Input AC frequency	50/60 Hz
Output voltage	DC24.0 V
Output current	1.5 A
Output power	36.0 W
Average active efficiency	87.40% min.
Efficiency at low load (10%)	77.40% min.
No load power consumption	0.15 W max.
Dimensions	W 54 mm × D 120.8 mm × H 33.7 mm*
Mass	Approx. 266 g

Table 2-10 Specified AC Adapter Specifications (PW-H2415-W1)

*: The cable part is excluded.

2.5 COMMUNICATION CABLE SPECIFICATIONS

2.5.1 Specified USB Cable Specifications

Item		Specifications
Product nam	e	IFC-U02-2
Use		USB cable
Color		Black
Cable	Length	Approx. 1800 mm
Capie	Outside diameter	Approx. ϕ 4.0 mm
Plug C1	Туре	Series "A" plug
Plug C2	Туре	Series "B" plug

 Table 2-11
 Specified USB Cable Specifications

Table 2-12	Connection	Cable for S	pecified USE	3 Cable

Plug C1	Plug C2
1	1
2	2
3	3
4	4
SHELL	SHELL

CHAPTER 3 INTERFACE

This chapter describes the specifications of each interface required for connecting host devices with the printer.

The amount of the input buffer in the printer is 4096 bytes. The amount of the output buffer is 4096 bytes.

3.1 USB MODEL

3.1.1 USB Interface

(1) General Specifications

Item	Specifications
USB version	Ver. 2.0 Printer device class 1.1
Communication speed	Full speed (12 Mbps)
Communication protocol	Bulk transfer

(2) Pin Assignment

Table 3-2	Pin Assignment of USB Interface
-----------	---------------------------------

Terminal No.	Terminal Name	Input/Output Direction	Function
1	Vbus	-	USB power supply
2	D-	Input/Output	USB data
3	D+	Input/Output	USB data
4	GND	-	Signal ground
Shell	FG	-	Frame ground

(NOTE) Use a USB cable that conforms to the Full speed if a cable is prepared separately.
(3) Connector

Printer side connector: UBB-4R-D14T-4D(LF)(SN) (JST) or equivalent (Series B)



Figure 3-1 Connector

(4) Data Reception

USB data reception uses a bulk-out transfer method.

Data is received during printing. However, since printing is prioritized, the NAK response may be returned even when there is free space in the input buffer.

When the input buffer usage becomes 3840 bytes or more (the remaining capacity becomes 256 bytes or less), the NAK response continues. When the data process is proceeded, and the input buffer usage becomes 3712 bytes or less (the remaining capacity becomes 384 bytes or more), data reception resumes.

The maximum number of bytes that can be received with 1 packet is 64 bytes. Data is also received on error.

(5) Data Transmission

USB data transmission uses a bulk-in transfer method.

The response data is stored temporarily in the output buffer, and it is sent in response to the bulk-in packet request from the host device. When the bulk-in packet request is received while no response data exists, zero-length packet is sent.

The maximum number of bytes that can be transmitted with 1 packet is 64 bytes.

(6) iSerialNumber

USB iSerialNumber can be set. To set iSerialNumber, there are the following 2 ways:

- (a) When the USB Device Class is set to "Printer Class" To set iSerialNumber, there are the following 2 ways:
 - Using the Communication Setting Utility Use the Communication Settings Utility.
 For details, see "SII Communication Setting Utility for Windows User's Guide" for SLP720RT series.

🖀 Sll Commur	nication Setting Utility V	er X.X.X XXXXXX			_		×
Port Name :	USB002 (USB:SIISLP720	RT) \	1	Load	Defau	It setting	s
LAN	USB						_
- iSerialN	lumber settings						
	۲	Use current iSerialNumber:	123	4567890			
	0	Use printer serial number:		00001A0			
	0	('0'-'9', 'A'-'Z', 'a'-'z')	(1-1	0 characters)			
	0	Undefined (Clear current iSeri	alNumbe	r)			
Open fil	e Save as	file			Apply	to printe	r

Figure 3-2 Screen of [USB] Tab in SII Communication Settings Utility for Windows

- Using the command See the "Set iSerialNumber" command ("6.4.9 Auxiliary Functions", DC2 'u' 0, DC2 'u' 1).
- (b) When the USB Device Class is set to "Vender Class" To set iSerialNumber, there is the following way:
 - Using the command See the "Set iSerialNumber" command ("6.4.9 Auxiliary Functions", DC2 'u' 0, DC2 'u' 1).

(NOTE) • iSerialNumber is not initially set.		
 When multiple printers use the same iSerial 	 When multiple printers use the same iSerialNumber, do not connect the printers 	
to the host at the same time.		
 iSerialNumber must be set only when the printer is installed. 		
 iSerialNumber can input 1-byte alphanumeric characters only. 		

3.2 ETHERNET + USB MODEL

3.2.1 Ethernet Interface

(1) General Specifications

Table 3-3 General Specifications of Ethernet Interface

Item	Specifications
Communication standards	10BASE-T, 100BASE-TX
Communication protocol	
Basic protocol	IPv4, ARP, ICMP, UDP, TCP
Print protocol	LPR, TCP Socket Port

(2) Pin Assignment

Terminal No.	Terminal Name	Input/Output Direction	Function
1	TXP	Input/Output	Transmission+
2	TXN	Input/Output	Transmission-
3	RXP	Input/Output	Reception+
4	N.C.	-	-
5	N.C.	-	-
6	RXN	Input/Output	Reception-
7	N.C.	-	-
8	N.C.	-	-

Table 3-4 Pin Assignment of Ethernet Interface

(NOTE) Use a cable that conforms to the category 5 or higher.

(3) Connector

Printer side connector: RJLTC-202TA (TAIMAG) or equivalent (RJ-45)



Figure 3-3 Connector

Push the LAN cable into the LAN connector until it clicks.

(NOTE) • Do not insert a modular cable, and a general public line to the 10BASE-T/100BASE-TX LAN connector.

• Be sure to connect the aerially wired LAN cable outside to this product via surge-proof devices. Otherwise, induced lightning may damage devices.

(4) LED

Indications of each LED installed on both sides in the bottom of the connector mean the following:

Indication	LED (Yellow)
100 Mbps	On
10 Mbps	Off

 Table 3-5
 Network Communication System

Table 5-6 Metwork Otatus Indication	Table 3-6	Network Status Indication
-------------------------------------	-----------	----------------------------------

Indication	LED (Green)
Connected	On
Disconnected	Off
Data transferred	Blink

(5) Initialization of Communication Settings

It is possible to restore to the communication settings at the factory by the switch operation. See "(2) How to Set the Function Using the Switches" in "4.1.1 Changing Memory Switch".

(6) Protocol

Basic communication protocol

IPv4, ARP, ICMP, UDP, TCP

Print communication protocol

LPR: Transfers print data.

Table 3-7	Print Communication	on Protocol (LPR)
-----------	---------------------	-------------------

Port No.	515
Maximum number of concurrent connections	8 (It changes depending on the connection situation of other protocols such as TCP Socket Port.)
Number of printable connections	1 (Other users wait the completion of printing.)
Timeout	Approx. 5 minutes (This value is changeable.)

TCP Socket Port: Transfers print data and printer status through the bidirectional direct socket communication.

Port type	Direct print TCP communication port
Port No.	9100
Port communication direction	Bidirectional
Maximum number of concurrent connections	14 (It changes depending on the connection situation of other protocols such as LPR.)
Number of printable connections	1 (Other users wait the completion of printing.)
Timeout	Approx. 5 minutes (This value is changeable.)

Table 3-8 Print Communication Protocol (TCP Socket Port)

Protocol for getting and setting the status:

Gets and changes the printer status and network parameters on the specified Web page using the HTTP protocol.

Table 3-9 Protocol for Getting and Setting Status

Port No.	80
HTTP version	HTTP/1.1

Protocol for monitoring settings: Monitors and sets settings using the SNMP protocol.

Table 3-10 Protocol for Monitoring Settings

SNMP version	SNMPV2
Server port No.	161
Trap transmission port No.	162
Trap destination	One IP address can be set (the initial status is not set)
Enabled PDU	Get Request, Get Next Request, Get Response, Set Request
Community name	Public
Enabled MIB	Part of MIB-II (RFC1213)

Protocol for Firmware update: Upgrades the firmware of the LAN module using the TFTP protocol.

Transfer request port No.	69
Maximum number of concurrent connections	1

3.2.2 USB Interface

The USB interface specifications are the same as those of the Bluetooth model. See "3.1.1 USB Interface" for details.

3.3 WIRELESS LAN MODEL

3.3.1 Wireless LAN Interface

(1) General Specifications

Table 3-12	General S	pecifications	of Wireless	LAN Interface
		boomoutono	01 11101000	

	ltem	Specifications
Communication Standards		IEEE802.11b/g/n, IEEE802.11a/n
Mode		Client, Simple AP
Certification/ encryption	Security	None, WEP, WPA-PSK, WPA2-PSK, WPA-Enterprise*
	EAP*	EAP-TTLS [*] , PEAP [*]
Communication protocol		
Basic communication protocol		IPv4, ARP, ICMP, UDP, TCP, DHCP
Print communication protocol		LPR, TCP Socket Port

*: For Client mode only

(2) Protocol

• Basic communication protocol

IPv4, ARP, ICMP, UDP, TCP, DHCP

• Print communication protocol

LPR: Transfers print data.

Table 3-13LPR Specifications

Port No.	515
Maximum number of concurrent connections	5
Number of printable connections	1 (Other users need to wait for the completion of printing.)
Timeout	Approx. 5 minutes (This value is changeable.)

TCP Socket Port: Transfers print data and printer status through the bidirectional direct socket communication.

Port type	Direct print TCP communication port
Port No.	9100
Port communication direction	Bidirectional
Maximum number of concurrent connections	1
Number of printable connections	1 (Other users need to wait for the completion of printing.)
Timeout	Approx. 5 minutes (This value is changeable.)

Table 3-14 Specifications of TCP Socket Port

Protocol for getting and setting the status: Gets the printer status and network parameters using the HTTP protocol and changes them on the dedicated Web page.

Port No.	80
HTTP version	HTTP/1.1

Table 3-15 Specifications of HTTP Protocol

Protocol for controlling the settings: Controls the settings using the SNMP protocol.

SNMP version	SNMPV2	
Server port No.	161	
Trap transmission port No.	162	
Trap destination	1 IP address can be set (Not set initially.)	
Enabled PDU	Get Request, Get Next Request, Get Response, Set Request	
Community name	Public	
Enabled MIB	Part of MIB-II (RFC1213)	

Table 3-16 Specifications of SNMP Protocol

(3) MAC Address

The MAC address can be confirmed by the following ways.

- Confirmation by test print The printer prints Wireless LAN information on the test print, and the MAC address can be confirmed in the result. See "4.3 Test Print" for details.
- Label attached on the printer

The MAC address of the printer can be confirmed in the label attached to the bottom of the printer. In the label, a barcode (CODE128) of the MAC address is also printed, so that the address can be read with a barcode reader.

In the barcode, 12 digit number of the MAC address is recorded in AB:CD:EF:01:23:45 format. ("AB:CD:EF:01:23:45" is a virtual address. In addition, ":" is not displayed when the address is read with a barcode reader.)

 Confirmation through Web browser Using Web browser, the MAC address can be confirmed on [Wireless] screen.
 See "2.1.1 Wireless" in "SLP720RT WIRELESS LAN INTERFACE TECHNICAL REFERENCE" for details.

CHAPTER 4 FUNCTION SETTINGS

4.1 FUNCTION SETTING METHOD

In the printer, initial states of selectable items such as communication system after power on and thermal paper type can be preset. Preset these functions before using the printer. Details for settings of the software switches are described below.

The function settings are allocated to memory switches (hereinafter referred to as "MS") that are stored in the FLASH memory. These are enabled until they are rewritten.

The function settings can be set using MS1 to 40. Do not rewrite MS2 to 3, 14, and 18 to 40 since they are reserved for the system. The values shown in the shaded cell (in bold) in the tables is set at the factory.

(NOTE) Be sure to configure the setting or the value as instructed when "Fixed" is stated in the table. Otherwise, the printer may not work correctly or may crash.

4.1.1 Changing Memory Switch

(1) Change Procedures

There are following ways to change the MS.

- Using the utility
 - For Windows

Call the memory switch setting utility from the printer driver property. For details, see "SII Printer Setting Utility for Windows User's Guide" for SLP720RT series.

🖹 SII XXXXXXX Propert	ies		×
General Sharing Ports	Advanced	Color Management Securit	y Device Settings Utility
CII	•	Information	Displays status and information of the printer.
SII (Memory Switch	Manages the function settings of the printer.
SII XXXXXXXX Printer Driver Version X.XX		Print Job	Set output of print data for each job.
		Test Print	Generates and outputs test print data.
Rendering	X.X.X X.X.X X.X.X	NV Image	Registers images for logos or watermarks to the printer.
Processor Monitor Utility	X.X.X X.X.X X.X.X X.X.X	Codepage	Registers user page 1-byte font to the printer.
	X.X.X X.X.X	Others	Saves and reads driver settings.
		Log	Launch log setting utility.
			OK Cancel Apply

Figure 4-1 Properties of Printer Driver

- For iOS Using the iOS app "SII Printer Utility" provided by App Store
- For Android Using the Android app "SII Printer Utility" provided by Google Play
- Using the "Change Function Settings" command (DC2 'k', DC2 'w') See DC2 'k', DC2 'w' in "6.4.9 Auxiliary Functions".
- Using switches

The MS can be changed manually using the printer's POWER Switch and FEED Switch. The procedures are described in the following pages.

(2) How to Set the Function Using Switches

To set functions using the switches, follow the procedures below.

- 1. Load the thermal paper in the printer. Ensure that no error occurs, and then turn off the printer.
- 2. Hold the FEED Switch down and press the POWER Switch, then release the POWER Switch. Keep pressing the FEED Switch until the test print is completed.
- 3. A message of mode selection is printed as shown in Figure 4-2 when the test print has completed. To enter Setting Mode, press the FEED Switch.

[Enter Setting Mode] Enter Setting Mode: Feed SW Exit: Power SW

Figure 4-2 Mode Selection Message

4. A message to select MS to set is printed as shown in Figure 4-3 when the printer enters Setting Mode. Press the FEED Switch the number of times corresponding to the selected MS number, and then press the POWER Switch.

[N	S Selection]
0	: Exit
1	: MS1
2	: MS4
3	: MS5
4	: MS6
5	: MS7
6	: MS13
7	: MS17
8	: I/F Setting
9	: International Character
10	: Character Code Table
11	: Default Setting
Pr	ess the FEED switch an equal
n	mber of times to the selected number.
A1	ter that, press the POWER SW.

 \cdot For "8 : I/F Setting", the items to be set are different for each model.

- \cdot When pressing the FEED Switch once, "1 : MS1" is selected.
- When pressing the POWER Switch without pressing the FEED Switch, "0 : Exit" is selected.

Figure 4-3 MS Selection Message

HINT

- For "I/F Setting", the items to set are different for each interface.
 - USB Interface

[Function selection of I/F Setting] O : Return to MS selection. 1 : USB Device Class Press the FEED switch an equal number of times to the selected number. After that, press the POWER SW.

The USB Device Class can be changed.

Ethernet Interface

[Function selection of I/F Setting] 0 : Return to MS selection. 1 : LAN Factory Default Setting Press the FEED switch an equal number of times to the selected number. After that, press the POWER SW.

Communication settings can be initialized.

Wireless LAN Interface

[Function selection of I/F Setting] 0 : Return to MS selection. 1 : WLAN Factory Default Setting Press the FEED switch an equal number of times to the selected number. After that, press the POWER SW.

Communication settings can be changed.

5. A message to select the functions assigned to the MS is printed an example shown in Figure 4-4.

Press the FEED Switch the number of times corresponding to the selected function number, and then press the POWER Switch.

[Function selection of MS1] 0 : Return to MS selection.
1 : Taken Mode
2 : Mark Mode
3 : Standby LED
4 : Auto Activation by AC
5 : Power SW
Press the FEED switch an equal
number of times to the selected number.
After that, press the POWER SW.

 \cdot When pressing the FEED Switch 3 times, "3 : Standby LED" is selected.

- · When pressing the POWER Switch without pressing the FEED Switch,
- "0 : Return to MS Selection" is selected.

Figure 4-4 Function Selection Message (Example: Selected MS1)

6. A message to select the setting value of the selected function is printed as an example shown in Figure 4-5.

Press the FEED Switch the number of times corresponding to the selected setting value number, and then press the POWER Switch.

[Standby LED] O : Return to function selection. 1 : Aqua
2 : Green 3 : Off 4 : Blue
Press the FEED switch an equal number of times to the selected number. After that, press the POWER SW.

• When pressing the FEED Switch twice, "2 : Green" is selected.

Figure 4-5 Setting Value Selection Message (Example: Selected Standby LED)

7. A message to confirm the selected setting values is printed in an example shown in Figure 4-6.



Figure 4-6 Setting Value Confirmation Message (Example: Selected Green)

To save the setting value to the memory, press the FEED Switch. Figure 4-3 is printed.

To discard the selected item, press the POWER Switch. A message of function selection is printed in an example shown in Figure 4-4. If "0 : Return to MS Selection" is selected here, function selection is not performed, and Figure 4-3 is printed.

To continue to set functions, return to 4.

 To exit Setting Mode, select "0 : Exit" shown in Figure 4-3. The test print and Figure 4-2 printing start again, so verify the function settings whether they are properly reflected.

4.2 FUNCTION SETTINGS (MS)

Details of each function are described below. The values shown in the shaded cell (in bold) in the tables is set at the factory.

(NOTE) Be sure to set values as instructed when "Fixed" is stated in the table. For reserved area, be sure to set the specified value. Otherwise, the printer may not work correctly or may crush. Reserved values may be changed.

1. General Setting 1 (MS1)

Sets the printer.

- Taken Mode Selection (MS1-2)
 Enables or disables the paper removal detection after cutting.
 When Taken Mode is "Enable", the next printing starts after removing the previous paper remaining in the paper outlet.
 When printing continuously on linerless label, set to "Enable".
 When printing continuously on receipt or SLP Label, set to "Disable".
- Mark Mode Selection (MS1-3) Enables or disables the mark detection.
- Standby LED Selection (MS1-4 to 5) The LED color in standby mode can be selected.
- Auto Activation by AC Selection (MS1-7) When this function is enabled, the printer is turned on by inserting the AC cable of the specified AC adapter into a socket.
- POWER Switch Function Selection (MS1-8) Enables or disables the POWER Switch of the printer.

MS	Function	Value		
IVIS	Function	0	1	
1-1	Reserved	-	Fixed	
1-2	Taken Mode Selection (Taken Mode)	Enable	Disable	
1-3	Mark Mode Selection (Mark Mode)	Enable	Disable	
1-4 to 5	Standby LED Selection (Standby LED)	See Table 4-2		
1-6	Reserved	-	Fixed	
1-7	Auto Activation by AC Selection (Auto Activation by AC)	Disable	Enable	
1-8	POWER Switch Function Selection (Power SW)	Disable	Enable	

 Table 4-1
 General Setting 1 (MS1)

MS1-5	MS1-4	Standby LED
0	0	Aqua
0	1	Green
1	0	Off
1	1	Blue

Table 4-2 Standby LED Selection (MS1-4 to 5)

- Reserved (MS2 to 3) MS2 to 3 are all reserved. To write all 40 bytes, send FFH as values of MS2 to 3.
- 3. General Setting 4 (MS4)

Selects the printer drive method.

- Paper Width Selection (MS4-4) The paper width to use can be selected.
- Paper Auto Detection Selection (MS4-6) Enables or disables the paper auto detection. When the paper auto detection is enabled, the printer feeds the paper forward or backward immediately after the power is turned on or when the paper is set. Then, the paper is automatically detected and the paper setting is changed.
 Paper that can be automatically detected is SLP Label and Linerless label (marked paper). Receipt and Linerless label (non-marked paper) are set as Linerless label. The automatically detected paper settings are cleared by the power off or the reset command.
- Maximum Print Speed Selection (MS4-7 to 8)

The maximum printing speed can be selected in 2 levels.

- High: Drives at the maximum print speed of 200 mm/s.
- Middle: Decreases the maximum print speed for printing image to 100 mm/s to improve the print quality.

The printing of the image includes the following:

Raster bit image, NV graphics, downloaded bit image, bit image mode, barcode, two-dimensional barcode

The speed may be lower than the selected maximum speed due to environmental temperature, communication method, and so on.

MS	Function	Value		
IVIS	Function	0	1	
4-1 to 3	Reserved	-	Fixed	
4-4	Paper Width Selection (Paper Width)	40 mm	58 mm	
4-5	Reserved	-	Fixed	
4-6	Paper Auto Detection Selection (Paper Auto Detection)	Enable	Disable	
4-7 to 8	Maximum Print Speed Selection (Print Speed)	See Table 4-4		

Table 4-3General Setting 4 (MS4)

MS4-8	MS4-7	Maximum Print Speed Selection
0	0	Reserved
0	1	Middle
1	0	Reserved
1	1	High

 Table 4-4
 Maximum Print Speed Selection (MS4-7 to 8)

4. General Setting 5 (MS5)

Sets various responses, data processing, and operations.

- Automatic Status Response Selection (MS5-1) Enables or disables the automatic status response function.
- Initialized Response Selection (MS5-2) Enables or disables the initialized response function.
- Data Discard Selection When Error Occurs (MS5-3) Enables or disables data discarding on error or in the return-waiting state. Enabling this function discards print data and the following commands when an error occurs or during the return-waiting state.

Target commands for discarding : paper feed commands, paper cut commands, execution response request command, print commands.

(NOTE) When the Data Discard Selection When Error Occurs is enabled and an error occurs during command processing, the command processing does not end until all the remaining data is received. When the data remains during command processing at the time of error occurrence, send all the remaining data before entering the next command.

 Data Discard Selection When Output Buffer Full Occurs (MS5-4) Enables or disables the discard of the subsequent response data when the response data of the printer is not received by the host and exceeds the capacity of the output buffer in the printer (256 bytes).

When the host does not receive data from the printer, enable this setting.

(NOTE) When the response data from the printer is used by the host, and data discarding is enabled, the data may be missed when the output buffer is full. Therefore, the data must be received regularly.

 Initialization Performance Selection After Paper Setting (MS5-6 to 7) When Initial cut is selected, the initialization operation is performed in the order of feeding paper approximately 20 mm and cutting the thermal paper, after paper setting. When Stamp & Cut is selected, the initialization operation of "Stamp & Cut" command (GS 'Y') is performed after paper setting.

Even when Initial cut or Stamp & Cut is selected, Initial cut or Stamp & Cut operation is not performed when thermal paper is inserted at power on or reset.

(NOTE) In Stamp&cut, the print is stopped and the paper is cut in the middle of graphics printing, therefore the print result may degrade.

• Cutting Mode Selection After Paper Setting (MS5-8)

When Initialization Performance Selection After Paper Setting is enabled, whether to perform cutting operation by full cut or partial cut in the paper set initialization operation can be selected.

MS	Function	Value			
IVIS	Function	0	1		
5-1	Automatic Status Response Selection (Auto Status Back)	Enable	Disable		
5-2	Initialized Response Selection (Init. Response)	Enable	Disable		
5-3	Data Discard Selection When Error Occurs (Error Through)	Enable	Disable		
5-4	Data Discard Selection When Output Buffer Full Occurs (Response Data Discarding)	Enable	Disable		
5-5	Reserved	-	Fixed		
5-6 to 7	Initialization Performance Selection After Paper Setting (Paper Set Handle)	See Table 4-6			
5-8	Cutting Mode Selection After Paper Setting (Cutting Method)	Partial cut (Partial)	Full cut (Full)		

Table 4-5	General	Setting	5	(MS5)
-----------	---------	---------	---	-------

MS5-7	MS5-8	Initialization Performance Selection After Paper Setting
0	0	Disable
0	1	Stamp & Cut (Stamp&Cut)
1	0	Initial cut (Standard)
1	1	Disable

- 5. General Setting 6 (MS6)
 - Print Density Selection (MS6-1 to 8) The print density can be selected.

MS	Function	Value		
IVIS	Function	0	1	
6-1 to 8	Print Density Selection (Print Density)	See Table 4-8		

Table 4-7	General Setting	6	(MS6)	
-----------	-----------------	---	-------	--

MS6-8	MS6-7	MS6-6	MS6-5	MS6-4	MS6-3	MS6-2	MS6-1	Print Density Selection
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	70%
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	75%
0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	80%
0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	85%
0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	90%
0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	95%
0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	100%
0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	105%
0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	110%
0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	115%
0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	120%
0	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	125%
0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	130%
Other than those above							Prohibition	

Table 4-8 Print Density Selection (MS6-1 to 8)

(NOTE) Excessive printing energy may shorten the life of the thermal head or may cause a paper feed problem, so set the thermal paper selection and print density selection accurately. If the thermal paper to use is different from the one selected, or the print density selection is other than 100%, the reliability of the product specification may not be satisfied.

6. General Setting 7 (MS7)

• Thermal Paper Selection (MS7-1 to 8) The thermal paper to use can be selected.

MS	Function	Value		
IVIS	Function	0	1	
7-1 to 8	Thermal Paper Selection (Thermal Paper)	See Table 4-10		

Table 4-9 General Setting 7 (MS7)

Table 4-10	Thermal Paper Selection (MS7-1 to 8)
	Thermal Luper Ocicotion (

MS7-8	MS7-7	MS7-6	MS7-5	MS7-4	MS7-3	MS7-2	MS7-1	Thermal Paper Selection
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	Receipt
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	Linerless label
0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	SLP Label
	Other than those above						Prohibition	

(NOTE) Excessive printing energy may shorten the life of the thermal head or may cause a paper feed problem, so set the thermal paper selection and print density selection accurately. If the thermal paper to use is different from the one selected, or the print density selection is other than 100%, the reliability of the product specification may not be satisfied.

7. Mark Position Correction (MS8 to 9)

The length of the mark position correction can be set in 1 dot increments.

Table 4-11	Mark Position Correction (MS8 to 9)
------------	-------------------------------------

MS	Function	Number of Bytes	Definition Range	Default Setting
8 to 9	Mark Position Correction	2 byte	-68 to 2400 (dot)	58

8. Mark Detection Maximum Feeding Length Setting (MS10 to 11)

The maximum paper feeding length during the mark detection can be set in mm. When the mark cannot be detected by feeding the paper the set length, paper feeding is stopped at the length.

 Table 4-12
 Mark Detection Maximum Feeding Length Setting (MS10 to 11)

MS	Function	Number of Bytes	Definition Range	Default Setting
10 to 11	Mark Detection Maximum Feeding Length Setting	2 byte	1 to 300 (mm)	190

9. Mark Detection Threshold Value (MS12)

The mark detection threshold value can be set within the range of 01H to FEH. When the mark (paper) sensor value is more than this value, it is judged as on the mark. When the value is decreased, it is set to the higher reflectivity, and when the value is increased, it is set to the lower reflectivity. Normally, use the default setting.

Table 4-13	Mark Detection Threshold Value (M	MS12)

MS	Function	Number of Bytes	Definition Range	Default Setting
12	Mark Detection Threshold Value	1 byte	01H to EFH	80H

10. Command Setting (MS13)

Selects the Kanji code system and 180° reverse function.

- Kanji Code System Selection (MS13-1) The initial Kanji code system can be set to the JIS code or Shift-JIS code system.
- Realtime Command Selection (MS13-3)
 Enables or disables the process of realtime command.
 Realtime commands are ignored when Disable is selected.
 - The following realtime commands are affected by this setting: "Clear Buffer at Error" command (DC3 '(' 'c' 'l' 'r' ')') "Printer Reset" command (DC3 '(' 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' DC3 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' ')') "Send Status Data in Real Time" command (DEL EOT n)

(NOTE) When the image data contains the code line matching the code that constitutes a realtime command, use this setting to disable realtime commands.

Me	Eurotion	Value		
MS	Function	0	1	
13-1	Kanji Code System Selection (Kanji Code)	Shift-JIS code	JIS code	
13-2	Reserved	-	Fixed	
13-3	Realtime Command Selection (Realtime Command)	Disable	Enable	
13-4 to 8	Reserved	-	Fixed	

Table 4-14 Command Setting (MS13)

11. Reserved (MS14)

MS14 is reserved. To write all 40 bytes, send F8H as a value of MS14.

12. International Character Setting (MS15)

A value corresponding to the international character set can be selected.

n	Country	n	Country
0	USA	9	Norway
1	France	10	Denmark II
2	Germany	11	Spain II
3	United Kingdom	12	Latin America
4	Denmark I	13	Prohibition [*]
5	Sweden	14	Prohibition [*]
6	Italy	15	Prohibition [*]
7	Spain I	16	Prohibition [*]
8	Japan	17	Arabia

 Table 4-15
 International Character Set

*1: The setting is ignored when the prohibition is selected.

When a number not assigned to the international character is set, USA is set. For the international character setting, see the "Set International Character" command (ESC 'R').

Table 4-16 Inte	ernational Cha	aracter Setting (MS15)
-----------------	----------------	------------------------

MS	Function	Number of Bytes	Definition Range	Default Setting
15	International Character Setting (International Character)	1 byte	0 to 255	0

13. Character Code Table Setting (MS16)

A value corresponding to the character code table number can be set. The character code table number is the number shown in Table 4-17.

Character Code Table No.	Codepage
0	USA, Standard Europe (Code Page437)
1	Katakana
2	Multilingual (Code Page850)
3	Portuguese (Code Page860)
4	Canadian-French (Code Page863)
5	Nordic (Code Page865)
13	Turkish (Code Page857)
14	Greek (Code Page737)
16	Latin (Code Page1252)
17	Russian (Code Page866)
18	Eastern Europe (Code Page852)
19	Euro (Code Page858)
34	Cyrillic (Code Page855)
37	Arabic (Code Page864)
45	Central European (Code Page1250)
46	Cyrillic (Code Page1251)
47	Greek (Code Page1253)
48	Turkish (Code Page1254)
255	User Page

 Table 4-17
 Character Code Table

When a number not assigned to the character code table is set, the character code table number is set to 0 (Code Page437). For the character code table, see the "Set Codepage" command (ESC 't').

Table 4-18	Character	Code	Table	Setting	(MS16)
------------	-----------	------	-------	---------	--------

MS	Function	Number of Bytes	Definition Range	Default Setting
16	Character Code Table Setting (Character Code Table)	1 byte	0 to 255	0

14. General Setting 17 (MS17)

• Paper Saving Setting (MS17-1 to 2)

Space between lines and line spacing can be reduced without decreasing the size of character or graphic.

Space between lines 0 dots: Space between lines and line spacing are decreased to 0 dots. Space between lines 2 dots: Space between lines and line spacing are decreased to 2 dots. Space between lines 4 dots: Space between lines and line spacing are decreased to 4 dots. Disable: No decrease.

(NOTE) Paper saving is not performed to blank lines contained in the graphics print data. This function is only valid for character printing. When the following 2 conditions are met, the paper is fed only for the decreased dot-lines from the last printing position and is cut. · "Cut Paper" command (GS 'V') is transmitted. ·Line feed or space between lines exists after the last printed line.

 Feed Backward Setting After Paper Cutting (MS17-3) After paper cutting, before the command accompanying the next printing or paper feeding is executed, the paper is fed backward for 60 dots. The margin from the cut position to the print start position can be reduced up to about 2 mm. The paper is not fed backward by partial cutting.

MS	Function	Value		
MS Function		0	1	
17-1 to 2	Paper Saving Setting (Paper Saving)	See Table 4-20		
17-3	Feed Backward Setting After Paper Cutting (Backfeed After Cut)	Enable Disable		
17-4 to 8	Reserved	-	Fixed	

Table 4-19 General Setting 17 (MS17)

Table 4-20	Paper Saving	Setting	(MS17-1 to 2)
------------	--------------	---------	---------------

MS17-2	MS17-1	Paper Saving Setting
0	0	Space Between Lines 0 dots
0	1	Space Between Lines 2 dots
1	0	Space Between Lines 4 dots
1	1	Disable

15. Reserved (MS18 to 40)

MS18 to 40 are all reserved. To write all 40 bytes, send FFH as values of MS18 to 40.

4.3 EASY PAPER SETTING

It is necessary to set the paper to be used. It can be easily set by following procedures.

- 1. With the printer turned on, operate the release lever to open the top cover.
- 2. Press the FEED Switch a number of times within 4 seconds according to the paper to be used in the table below.
- 3. The LED blinks once after 4 seconds. Then, close the top cover.

Thermal Paper	Mark Mode	Taken Mode	Number of Times to Press FEED Switch	Standby LED
Linerless label	Disable	Enable	3	Green
Linerless label	Enable	Enable	4	Green
SLP Label	Enable	Disable	5	Aqua
Receipt	Disable	Disable	6	Blue

4. The LED turns to the lighting of "Standby LED" color.

4.4 TEST PRINT

The printer can perform a test print. In the test print, the firmware version, the MS setting values, etc. are printed.

- 1. Load thermal paper in the printer. Ensure that no error occurs, and then turn off the printer.
- 2. Hold the FEED Switch down and press the POWER Switch, then release the POWER Switch. Release the FEED Switch when the test print has been started.
- 3. After the test print, the printer cuts the thermal paper and returns to the print-ready status.

SLP series Interface SLP72ORT [Ver X.XX] DD.MMM.YYYY Copyright(C):SII
* MS1 * 2) Taken Mode:Enable 3) Mark Mode:Disable 4-5)Standby LED:Green 7) Auto Activation by AC:Enable 8) Power SW:Enable
* MS4 * 4) Paper Width:58[mm] 6) Paper Auto Detection:Disable 7-8)Print Speed:High
 * MS5 * 1) Auto Status Back:Enable 2) Init. Response:Enable 3) Error Through:Enable 4) Response Data Discarding: Disable 6-7)Paper Set Handle: Standard 8) Cutting Method:Full
* MS6 * 1-8)Print Density:100[%]
* MS7 * 1-8)Thermal Paper: Linerless label
* MS13 * 1) Kanji Code: JIS Code 3) Realtime Command:Enable
* MS17 * 1-2)Paper Saving:Disable 3) Backfeed After Cut: Enable
* Communication Type * USB Communication Control Model:SLP720RT USB Device Class:Printer
* Font Information * Character Code Table: Code Page437 International Character: USA
* Serial Number Information * XXXXXXXXXX

Figure 4-7 Test Print Example (USB Model)

SLP series Interface SLP72ORT [Ver X.XX] DD.MMM.YYYY Copyright(C):SII * MS1 * 2) Taken Mode:Enable 3) Mark Mode:Disable 4-5) Standby LED:Green
2) Taken Mode:Enable 3) Mark Mode:Disable 4-5)Standby LED:Green
 Auto Activation by AC:Enable Power SW:Enable
 * MS4 * 4) Paper Width:58[mm] 6) Paper Auto Detection:Disable 7-8)Print Speed:High
 * MS5 * 1) Auto Status Back:Enable 2) Init. Response:Enable 3) Error Through:Enable 4) Response Data Discarding: Disable 6-7)Paper Set Handle: Standard 8) Cutting Method:Full
* MS6 * 1-8)Print Density:100[%]
* MS7 * 1-8)Thermal Paper: Linerless label
<pre>* MS13 * 1) Kanji Code: JIS Code 3) Realtime Command:Enable * MS17 *</pre>
1-2)Paper Saving:Disable 3) Backfeed After Cut: Enable
* Communication Type * LAN Communication MAC Address: XX:XX:XX:XX:XX:XX IP Address: 192.168.0.190 Subnet Mask: 255.255.255.0 GateWay Address: 0.0.0.0 DHCP Client: Enable Physical Layer: Auto Nego
* Font Information * Character Code Table: Code Page437 International Character: USA
* Serial Number Information * XXXXXXXXX

Figure 4-8 Test Print Example (Ethernet + USB Model)

Table 4-21 Ethernet Information

Item	Description	
MAC Address	MAC Address	
IP Address	IP Address	
Subnet Mask	Subnet Mask	
GateWay Address	Gateway Address	
DHCP Client	Selected DHCP Client Mode	
Physical Layer	Selected Communication Speed and Communication Mode	

SLP series Interface SLP72ORT [Ver X.XX] DD.MMM.YYYY Copyright(C):SII
 * MS1 * 2) Taken Mode:Enable 3) Mark Mode:Disable 4-5) Standby LED:Green 7) Auto Activation by AC:Enable 8) Power SW:Enable
* MS4 * 4) Paper Width:58[mm] 6) Paper Auto Detection:Disable 7-8)Print Speed:High
 * MS5 * 1) Auto Status Back:Enable 2) Init. Response:Enable 3) Error Through:Enable 4) Response Data Discarding: Disable 6-7)Paper Set Handle: Standard 8) Cutting Method:Full
* MS6 * 1-8)Print Density:100[%]
* MS7 * 1-8)Thermal Paper: Linerless label
* MS13 * 1) Kanji Code: JIS Code 3) Realtime Command:Enable
* MS17 * 1-2)Paper Saving:Disable 3) Backfeed After Cut: Enable
* Communication Type * * WLAN Communication * Mode: Simple AP Radio: &02.11b/g/n Country: US Channel: Auto SSID: SII-Printer Securty: None MAC Address: XX:XX:XX:XX:XX IP Address: 192.168.0.1 Subnet Mask: 255.255.0 Default GateWay: 0.0.00 Module Ver.: XX.XX
* Font Information * Character Code Table: Code Page437 International Character: USA
* Serial Number Information * XXXXXXXXXX

Figure 4-9 Test Print Example (Wireless LAN Model)

Table 4-22 Wireless LAN Information

ltem	Description
Mode	Selected Wireless LAN Operation Mode
Radio	Selected Wireless LAN Standard
Country	Corresponding country US: USA, Canada JP: Japan EU: EU, EFTA, UK, Turkey
Channel	Selected Channel
SSID	SSID Setting
Security	Selected Security
DHCP	Selected DHCP Client Mode (in Client Mode)
MAC Address	MAC Address
IP Address	IP Address*
Subnet Mask	Subnet Mask*
Default Gateway	Gateway Address*

*: When Client Mode is selected in the Mode, IP address, Subnet Mask and Gateway Address obtained from DHCP Server are printed. When the Power SW is pressed and canceled data queue, "---,---" is printed. In case of DHCP timeout, the Setting value is used and printed.

CHAPTER 5 LED INDICATION AND SWITCH FUNCTIONS

5.1 LED INDICATION OF PRINTER STATUS

The printer shows the printer status with a single LED.

The printer statuses are shown in Table 5-1.

Printer Status	LED (Color) ^{*1}	LED (Lighting Pattern)
Power off	-	Off
Power on (print-ready) / Connecting Wireless LAN communication	Green ^{*2}	On ^{*2}
Printing	Green	On
Waiting for test print	Green	Blink-2
Output buffer full	Green	Blink-1
Out-of-paper error	Lime yellow	Blink-1
Paper jam error while detecting mark	Lime yellow	Blink-3
Cover open error	Lime yellow	On
Hardware error	Red	On
Head temperature error	Purple	On
Voltage error	Purple	Blink-1
Cutter error	Purple	Blink-2
Not connected Wireless LAN communication	Blue	Blink-2
Paper removal waiting	Blue	Blink-3
Rewriting firmware	White	On
In function setting mode	White	On

Table 5-1 Printer Status

*1: The color tone may vary depending on the individual difference of the products and the viewing angle.

*2: The value at the factory

Table 5-2 LED Blink Pattern

Status	Pattern	
Blink-1		
Blink-2		
Blink-3		

5.2 ERROR AND RECOVERY PROCEDURE

When an error occurs, the printer stops printing operation. However, the data receiving is enabled. The table below shows errors and their recovery procedures.

Error	Detail	Recovery Procedure	Priority ^{*1}
Return-waiting	The printer becomes this state after releasing the out-of-paper error, cover open error, cutter error, or voltage error.	The return-waiting state is released 1 second later, and the printer becomes print-ready state.	-
Output buffer full	Output buffer of the printer is full.	Read response data from the host device.	1
Paper removal waiting	Paper remains in the paper outlet after cutting the paper.	Remove the paper from the paper outlet.	2
Out-of-paper error	There is no thermal paper.	Open the top cover, load thermal paper, and then close the top cover.	3
Cover open error	The top cover is open.	Close the top cover.	4
Cutter error	Cut failure due to paper jam at cutting. • Cutter work lock error (The cutter blade is stuck protruding out of home position ^{*2} .) • Cutter home lock error (The cutter blade is stuck at home position ^{*2} .)	Open the top cover to remove the error cause and close the top cover, the printer automatically recovers. If the top cover is not open or the printer does not automatically recover, see "Cleaning Cutter Error" in the USER'S GUIDE.	5
Voltage error	The power voltage is out of the allowable range.	The printer automatically recovers when the voltage is returned to within the allowable range.	6
Head temperature error	Head temperature rises to 85°C (185°F) or higher.	The printer automatically recovers when head temperature becomes 80°C (176°F) or lower.	7
Hardware error	An abnormality occurs in the thermal head or the circuit board.	Recovery is not possible. Request for repair.	8

Table 5-3 Error and Recovery Procedure

*1: This indicates the priority when multiple errors occur simultaneously. The bigger number indicates higher priority. For example, when "Cover open error" and "Out-of-paper error" occur simultaneously, the LED shows "Cover open error" which has the higher priority.

*2: The cutter blade operates starting from the home position (the blade is stored).

5.3 SWITCHES

There are 2 switches, the POWER Switch and the FEED Switch on the printer.

5.3.1 POWER Switch

The printer can be turned on/off by POWER Switch. To turn on the printer, hold down the POWER Switch until the LED lights up. To turn off the printer, hold down the POWER Switch until the LED turns off.

(NOTE) • Always use the POWER Switch to turn off the printer. When the printer is turned off by removing AC adapter, the memory may be damaged.
• For Ethernet + USB models, Ethernet communication is prioritized. (At the factory)
When using USB communication, switch with the following method.
When the printer status is "Power on (print-ready)", press the POWER Switch 3 times within 3 seconds.

5.3.2 FEED Switch

The thermal paper can be fed by FEED Switch. The operation varies depending on the MS1-3 (Mark Mode Selection) setting.

• MS1-3 (Mark Mode Selection) is set to Disable

The printer feeds a small amount of thermal paper by pressing the FEED Switch once. The thermal paper is fed continuously by holding down the FEED Switch.

• MS1-3 (Mark Mode Selection) is set to Enable

By pressing the FEED Switch once, form feed (paper feed until mark detection) is performed. When the printer cannot detect the mark after feeding the paper for the set length or when the thermal paper (non-marked) is used, the printer stops feeding at the set length. The maximum paper feeding length during the mark detection can be set with the MS or "Change Function Settings" command (DC2 'w').

(NOTE) When an error occurs, the printer does not feed the paper by the FEED Switch.

CHAPTER 6 COMMAND FUNCTIONS

6.1 CHARACTER CODES AND COMMANDS

The character code range and user-defined character codes differ between when Kanji mode is selected by the "Specify Kanji Mode" command (FS '&') after selecting JIS code system by the "Select Kanji Code System" command (FS 'C'), and when Shift-JIS code system is selected.

6.1.1 JIS Code System

In order to print 2-byte characters by JIS code system, select JIS code system by the "Select Kanji Code System" command (FS 'C'), and then specify 2 bytes character code after selecting Kanji mode by the "Specify Kanji Mode" command (FS '&').

The commands function as the character code of the 1-byte code system character, or either of the 1st byte and the 2nd byte of the 2-byte code system character.

When a command is entered with a character code of 2-byte code system character, the next data is always processed as the 1st byte. However, when the command is the "Cancel Kanji Mode" command (FS '.'), the next data is proceed as the character code of the 1-byte code system.

When the command is entered with the 2nd byte of character code in the 2-byte code system character, the data up to the 1st byte is ignored.

(1) Character codes of 1-byte code system character

00H to 1FH:	The following codes are processed as commands. The other codes are ignored. 09H(HT), 0AH(LF), 0CH(FF), 10H(DLE), 12H(DC2), 13H(DC3), 18H(CAN), 1BH(ESC), 1CH(FS), 1DH(GS)
20H to 7EH:	Character code
7FH:	Ignored
80H to FEH:	Character code
FFH:	Depends on the character set. For the Codepage 1250 to 1254 and the user-defined character, the code is processed as a character code. For character sets other than above, the code is ignored.

(2) Character code of 2-byte code system character

2-byte character is specified with 2 bytes character code.

(a) The 1st byte

00H:	1-byte code system character area Specify the character code of 1-byte code system character with the 2nd b	yte.
21H to 7	2-byte character area	
77H:	User-defined character area	
78H to 7	2-byte character area	
93H to 9	2-byte character area	

The codes other than above are ignored when they are not commands. The data to be received next is processed as the 1st byte.

(b) The 2nd byte

(When the 1st byte is 00H)

- 20H to 7EH: Processed as the 1-byte code system character.
- 80H to FEH: Processed as the 1-byte code system character.

FFH: Depends on the character set. For the Codepage 1250 to 1254 and the user-defined character, the code is processed as a 1-byte code system character. For character sets other than above, the code is ignored with the 1st byte.

(When the 1st byte is other than 00H)

21H to 7EH: Processed as the 2nd byte of a 2-byte character.

The codes other than above are ignored with the 1st byte when they are not commands. The data to be received next is processed as the 1st byte.

The code within the 2-byte character area that are not defined in the JIS code system nor the special characters are processed as 2-byte spaces.

6.1.2 Shift-JIS Code System

When Shift-JIS code system is selected by the "Select Kanji Code System" command (FS 'C'), Kanji characters can be printed with 2 bytes character code without entering the "Specify Kanji Mode" command (FS '&').

The command functions in either case that the command is the 1-byte code system character or the 2nd byte of character code of the 2-byte code system character.

When the command is entered with the 2nd byte of character code in the 2-byte code system character, the 1st byte is ignored.

(1) Character codes of 1-byte code system character

The following codes are processed as commands. The other codes are ignored. 09H(HT), 0AH(LF), 0CH(FF), 10H(DLE), 12H(DC2), 13H(DC3), 18H(CAN), 1BH(ESC), 1CH(FS), 1DH(GS)
Character code
Ignored
See (2).
Depends on the character set. For the Codepage 1250 to 1254 and the user-defined character, the code is processed as a character code. For character sets other than above, the code is ignored.

(2) Character codes of 2-byte code system character

2-byte character is specified with 2 bytes character code.

(a) The 1st byte

81H to 9FH:2-byte character areaE0H to EBH:2-byte character areaECH:User-defined character areaEDH to EFH:2-byte character areaFAH to FCH:2-byte character area

The codes 80H to FEH other than above are processed as 1-byte code system characters.

(b) The 2nd byte

40H to 7EH: Processed as the 2nd byte of Shift-JIS code. 80H to FCH: Processed as the 2nd byte of Shift-JIS code.

The codes other than above are ignored with the 1st byte when they are not commands.

The codes not defined as Shift-JIS code system or special characters within the 2-byte character area are processed as 2-byte spaces.

6.2 FLASH MEMORY

Using the FLASH memory of the printer, the user-defined characters, downloaded characters, optional fonts, macro function, NV graphics function, downloaded bit image function, User page 1-byte fonts, and User page international characters are available. The FLASH memory consists of the following areas.

- System area: Stores data for controlling system.
- Font area: Stores font data such as Kanji.
- User area: Stores user-defined characters, downloaded characters, optional fonts, NV graphics, downloaded bit images, User page 1-byte fonts, User page international characters, and so on.

The system area can be rewritten by commands, such as "Change Function Settings" command (DC2 'k', DC2 'w') and "Save Maintenance Counter" command (GS 'g' '1').

The font area cannot be rewritten.

The user area can be rewritten by registration commands such as user-defined characters, downloaded characters, optional fonts, NV graphics function, downloaded bit image function, User page 1-byte fonts, User page international characters, and so on.

The memory capacity of the user area is 1048576 bytes. When using registration commands, it is necessary to confirm the remaining memory capacity beforehand. Read this section for the remaining memory capacity.

(1) Memory area

The printer has the function of memory allocation or release in order to change the uses for the memory in the user area and memory capacity to use.

Allocating the memory area means to divide the memory into the specified capacity (bytes) so as to be able to use exclusively for a certain function.

Releasing the area of memory means to disable the division of the memory that the certain functions have been using. The released memory area is not reused until the "Initialize User Area" command (DC2 'R') or "Defragment User Area" command (DC2 '*' '1') is executed.

When using user-defined characters, downloaded characters, optional fonts, NV graphics function, downloaded bit image function, User page 1-byte fonts, and User page international characters, the remaining memory capacity should not be exceeded.

Moreover, the memory capacities for optional fonts, NV graphics function, and downloaded bit image function are limited to the values as follows. When using these functions, do not exceed the limits.

Font Size	Capacity (Bytes)
Optional font	65536
NV graphics (per key code)	917504
Downloaded bit image	65536

See the description of each command on how to calculate memory usage.

Use	Capacity (Bytes)
User-defined characters	9784
Downloaded characters	6184
Optional fonts	0
NV graphics	0
Downloaded bit images	0
User page 1-byte fonts	0
User page international characters	0

Table 6-1 Memory Area After Initialization

For user-defined characters and downloaded characters, the memory area is allocated at the factory and the initialization of the user area.

For optional fonts, NV graphics, downloaded bit images, User page 1-byte fonts, and User page international characters, the memory area has not been allocated at the factory and initialization of the user area, but the memory area is automatically allocated when entering commands.

When registering these, check beforehand that there is sufficient memory remaining capacity. The remaining memory capacity can be confirmed by the "Send Remaining User Area" command (DC2 ^{**} '2').

This memory area can be released/allocated with a command, so the memory remaining capacity can be increased for registering other functions.

When the command is normal and the memory area has been allocated, the data is registered. In the following cases, the data is not correctly registered.

- (a) When the command is not normal, that is, when the parameter is out of the definition range, the subsequent data is processed as normal data.
- (b) When the memory area is not allocated or the memory remaining capacity is not sufficient even though the command is normal, the operation is performed by each command as follows:
 - "Register User-Defined Character" command (FS '2') Up to FS '2' is ignored, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data.
 - "Register Downloaded Character" command (ESC '&')
 Up to ESC '&' is ignored, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data.
 - "Register Optional Font" command (DC2 'P')
 Up to DC2 'P' s e y x is ignored, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data.
 - "Register Downloaded Bit Image" command (GS '*')
 Up to GS '*' x y is ignored, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data.
 - "Register NV Graphics Data" command (GS '(' 'L', GS '8' 'L') All data including the subsequent data is ignored.
(2) Memory control information

When allocating the area or registering to use each function, the memory control information is always added to the beginning of the allocated area. The number of bytes of memory control information depends on each function.

The number of bytes of memory control information for each function is listed in Table 6-2.

Function	Number of Bytes
User-defined character	8
Downloaded character	104
Optional font	12
NV graphics	14
Downloaded bit image	12
User page 1-byte font	74
User page international character	11

Table 6-2	Number of Bytes of Memory Control Information for Each Function
-----------	---

[Example]

The user-defined character has up to 94 characters for the area of $24 \times 3 = 72$ bytes and $16 \times 2 = 32$ bytes, and with 8 bytes of memory control information, the memory capacity to be used therefore becomes as shown below:

(72 + 32) × 94 + 8 = 9784 bytes

To calculate the remaining memory capacity, calculate it including the number of bytes of memory control information.

For the optional font, since the memory area is limited to 65536 bytes, the maximum number of bytes of the optional font that can be registered is as follows:

Optional font = 65536 - 12 = 65524 bytes

- (3) Memory management
- 1. Usage state of the user area in the FLASH memory

The user area in the FLASH memory has the following 3 usage states:

- In use state
- Used state (erasable)
- Unused state



The memory area other than allocated for user-defined character and downloaded character is in "Unused state" at the factory.

When data is registered in the user area, the user area turns to "In use state" as described in the figure below. When the data in use state is released, the area turns to "Used state". This area cannot be reused as it is.

[1] State at the factory

Data (3) In use state

Data (4) Used state Data (5) In use state

Unused state

- [2] State with data registered
- [3] State with data released



"Data (1)" to "Data (5)" in the figure are the data other than User-defined character and downloaded character.

Unused state

When data registration and release are repeated, the memory state turns to the [4] state in the figure. In order to use the "Used state" area again, execute the "Defragment User Area" command (DC2 '*' '1'). When the unused state area is less than the amount of data to be registered next time, issuing a registration command automatically executes the user area defragmentation. The [5] shows the memory state after defragmented.

To confirm the free space of the current memory, execute the "Send Remaining User Area" command (DC2 '*"2').

The current memory capacity in an unused state is sent by the "Send Remaining User Area" command (DC2 '*"2').

2. Precautions for rewriting, releasing and allocating in the FLASH memory area

When registering the registration commands (user-defined character, downloaded character, optional font, macro, NV graphics, downloaded bit image, User page 1-byte font, and User page international character), if data has already been registered in the area, the data to be newly registered is compared with the already registered data. When both data are equal, overwriting is not performed. As for the remaining memory capacity, confirm it by the "Send Remaining User Area" command (DC2 '*' '2').

The FLASH memory can be rewritten approximately 100000 times. Execute the "Defragment User Area" command (DC2 '*' '1') after the free area of memory becomes low in order to effectively use the number of rewritable times.

Do not turn off the power during the execution of commands with writing or erasing to the FLASH memory.

If the power is turned off during the execution of the command, the data in the FLASH memory may be destructed and operational malfunction may occur. To confirm the termination, send the "Execution Response Request" command (DC2 'q') following such as the command and check the response code.

6.3 RESPONSE DATA

All of upper 4 bits in response data sent from the printer to the host device are identifiers. Table 6-7 shows the meanings to the identifiers.

Identifier	Function	
0xH	Start or end of multi-byte string	
2xH to 7xH	ASCII characters	
8xH	Execution response	
9xH	Progress situation response	
AxH	Status response, realtime status response	
BxH	Initialized response	
CxH	1st byte of automatic status response	
DxH	2nd byte to 8th byte of automatic status response	
ExH	Lower 4 bits of HEX code	
FxH	Upper 4 bits of HEX code	

Table 6-3 Response Identifiers

The responses are sent in the following forms.

(1) Character string

The data is sent in the order of start code (02H), character string, and termination code (00H).

For example, when the character string 'SII' is sent from the printer: 02H, 53H, 49H, 49H, 00H

(2) HEX code

The data is sent in the order of start code (0EH), lower byte of HEX code, higher byte of HEX code, and termination code (00H).

For example, when 12H, 34H, and 56H are sent from the printer: 0EH, E2H, F1H, E4H, F3H, E6H, F5H, 00H

(3) Execution response

One byte data which is the logical sum of lower 4 bits of the parameter n input in the "Execution Response Request" command (DC2 'q') and 80H is sent.

e.g. Input n = 4: 84H

(4) Status response, realtime status response

The status byte specified by the "Send Status Data" command (GS 'r') or "Send Status Data in Real Time" command (DLE EOT) is sent in 1 byte.

Do not transmit the next data until the corresponding status is received after executing "Send Status Data in Real Time" command (DLE EOT).

In addition, do not send "Send Status Data in Real Time" command (DLE EOT) until all response data is retrieved when the response command other than "Send Status Data in Real Time" command (DLE EOT) is executed.

(5) Progress situation response

Various progress situations are sent with lower 4 bits at 16 steps.

(6) Initialized response

The printer sends 1 byte data to inform that initialization has completed. And lower 4 bits shows the factor of the initialization.

- B0H: Initialization by the power on or "Hardware Reset" command (DC2 '@')
- B1H: Initialization by USB class request resetting or "Reset Download Mode" command ('@')
- B2H: Initialization by the "Initialize Printer" command (ESC '@')
- B3H: Initialization by the "Printer Reset" command (DC3 '(' 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' DC3 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' '))
- (7) Automatic status response

When the automatic status response is enabled by the "Enable/Disable Automatic Status Back" command (GS 'a'), the printer sends the status in 8 bytes when the specified status bit changes. When the code CxH is sent from the printer as a response, treat the continuous 8 bytes including the response (except Xoff) as the status from the automatic status response function.

6.4 COMMAND DESCRIPTION

 XX
 XXXX

 Command
 The name of the command

 Code
 Indicates the hexadecimal code (H).

 Definition Range
 Shows the parameter and the settable data range.

 Default
 Describes the default value for the command involving parameter.

 Function
 Shows the function of the command.

 Notes
 Describes notes about the command as needed.

 Related Commands
 Describes commands related to this command operation.

This chapter describes the commands in each function.

The meanings of the terms are described below.

• Buffer full

It signifies the line buffer is in a full state. In standard mode, when new data is input in the buffer full state, the printer performs printing and line feed of the data in the line buffer. The operation is the same as the "Line Feed" command (LF).

• Beginning of line

The beginning of the line signifies a state satisfying the following conditions:

- No print data (including spaces and the portion skipped by the "Horizontal Tab" command (HT)) exists in the current line buffer.
- The print position is not specified by the "Specify Absolute Position" command (ESC '\$') or "Specify Relative Position" command (ESC '\').
- Printable area

This area is X direction maximum width defined by paper width setting.

• Print area

This is a printing range set with the "Set Print Area Width" command (GS 'W'). The print area cannot be set beyond the printable area.

• Ignore

This is a state of discarding all codes including parameters and not doing anything.

• Inch

Unit of length. 1 inch = approx. 25.4 mm

LSB/MSB

LSB represents the least significant bit and MSB represents the most significant bit.

Realtime command

This is the command to execute the process at the time of data receiving.

6.4.1 Printing Command

LF	Line Feed
Code	0AH
Function	Prints the data that is in the line buffer and inserts line feed based on the set line spacing.
Related C	ommands ESC '2', ESC '3'
CR	Carriage Return
Code	0DH
Function	This command is ignored.
ESC 'J' n	Print and Feed Forward
Code	1BH 4AH n
Definition	Range $0 \le n \le 255$
Function	Feeds the paper arbitrarily by predefined length. When there is data in the line buffer, the printer prints 1 line and then feeds the paper. The paper feed length is [n × basic calculation pitch] inches. The vertical basic calculation pitch (y) is used.
Notes	After the command execution, the beginning of the line is the next print position. This command does not affect the line spacing that has been set by the "Set 1/6 Inch Line Spacing" command (ESC '2') or "Set Line Spacing" command (ESC '3'). The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). When the calculation result has fractions, adjust with the minimum pitch of the printer, and round down the remainder.
Related C	ommands GS 'P'
ESC 'j' n	Print and Feed Backward

ESC 'j' n

Code 1BH 6AH n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Function Feeds the paper backward by predefined length. When there is data in the line buffer, the printer prints 1 line and then feeds the paper backward. The paper feed length is [n × basic calculation pitch] inches. The vertical basic calculation pitch (y) is used.

Notes Following the command execution, the beginning of the line is the next print position. This command does not affect the line spacing that has been set by the "Set 1/6 Inch Line Spacing" command (ESC '2') or "Set Line Spacing" command (ESC '3'). The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). When the calculation result is a fractional figure, it is compensated using the printer minimum pitch and the remainder is discarded. When the paper feed length exceeds 68 dot-lines by the correction calculation with the basic calculation pitch, this command is ignored.

Related Commands GS 'P'

Print and n Lines Feed Forward

ESC 'd' n

Code	1BH 64H n
Definition	Range $0 \le n \le 255$
Function	Feeds the paper by n lines. The paper feed length is [n × the set line spacing]. When there is data in the line buffer, the printer prints 1 line and then feeds the paper.
Notes	The beginning of the line is the next printing position.

6.4.2 Line Spacing

ESC '2'

Code 1BH 32H

Function Specifies the line spacing per line as 1/6 inches (34 dots).

Notes This command is not affected by the basic calculation pitch.

Related Commands ESC '3'

ESC '3' n

Set Line Spacing

Set 1/6 Inch Line Spacing

Code 1BH 33H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default The line spacing corresponding to 1/6 inches (34 dots)

Function Sets the line spacing per line. The line spacing is [n × basic calculation pitch] inches.

NotesThe basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P').Moreover, once set, the line spacing is not changed even when the basic calculation pitch is
changed by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P').When the calculation result has fractions, adjust with the minimum pitch of the printer, and
round down the remainder.
The vertical basic calculation pitch (y) is used.

Related Commands ESC '2', GS 'P'

6.4.3 Character Set

ESC SP n	Set Character Right Space
Code	1BH 20H n
Definition	Range 0 ≤ n ≤ 255
Default	n = 0
Function	Sets the amount of character right space. The amount of the right space is [n × basic calculation pitch] inches.
Notes	This command does not affect 2-byte characters. When the double width is specified, the right space becomes twice as much as the setting value. The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). Moreover, once set, the right space is not changed even when the basic calculation pitch is changed by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). When the calculation result has fractions, adjust with the minimum pitch of the printer, and round down the remainder.

The horizontal basic calculation pitch (x) is used.

Related Commands GS 'P'



ESC '!' n

Specify Print Mode

Code 1BH 21H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default n = 0

Function Specifies the function of print mode in batch.

D:4	Function	Value	
ы	Bit Function	0	1
0	Character font	Font A selected (24 × 12)	Font B selected (16 × 8)
1	Undefined	-	-
2	Undefined	-	-
3	Bold printing	Cancel	Specify
4	Double height	Cancel	Specify
5	Double width	Cancel	Specify

D:4	Dit Eurotian	Value	
Bit	Function	0	1
6	Undefined	-	-
7	Underline	Cancel	Specify

Notes When both double height and double width are specified, the character size is quadrupled. When characters with different vertical scale exist on the same line, the characters are enlarged with the bottom edges of the characters as a reference, and so the bottom edges are aligned. To enlarge the character horizontally, enlarge the character in the right direction with the left edge of the character as a reference.

> Underline is applied to the entire character width including the right space of the character. However, no underline is applied to the portion skipped by the "Horizontal Tab" command (HT) and to 90° right rotated characters.

> The underline width is the thickness set by the "Set Underline" command (ESC '-') regardless of the character size. When the underline width is not set by the "Set Underline" command (ESC '-'), the underline width is to be 1 dot.

This command does not affect 2-byte characters except bit 3 (bold printing).

The print modes can also be specified or canceled by commands other than this command. However, the command processed last is valid. For example, when bold printing is canceled by this command after specified by the "Set Bold Print" command (ESC 'E'), the bold printing specified by the "Set Bold Print" command (ESC 'E') is canceled.

Related Commands ESC '-', ESC 'E', ESC 'M', GS '!'

ESC 'M' n

Code 1BH 4DH n

Definition Range n = 0, 1, 48, 49

Default n = 0

Function Selects a character font.

n	Function	
0, 48	Select font A (24 × 12)	
1, 49	Select font B (16 × 8)	

Notes The character font can also be selected by the "Specify Print Mode" command (ESC '!'), but the setting of the command processed last is valid.

Related Commands ESC '!'

GS '!' n

Specify Character Size

Code1DH 21H nDefinition Range $0 \le n \le 255$ $1 \le vertical scale \le 8, 1 \le horizontal scale \le 8$

Default n = 0

Function Specifies a character size (vertical scale / horizontal scale).

Select Character Font

D:4	Bit Function		lue
ы	Function	Hexadecimal	Decimal
0 to 3	Vertical scale	See Table 1 [Vertical Scale].	
4 to 7	Horizontal scale	See Table 2 [Horizontal Scale].	

Table 1 Vertical Scale

Table 2	Horizontal	Scale
---------	------------	-------

Hexadecimal	Decimal	Scale
00H	0	× 1 (default)
01H	1	× 2 (double height)
02H	2	× 3
03H	3	× 4
04H	4	× 5
05H	5	× 6
06H	6	× 7
07H	7	× 8

Hexadecimal	Decimal	Scale
00H	0	× 1 (default)
10H	16	× 2 (double width)
20H	32	× 3
30H	48	× 4
40H	64	× 5
50H	80	× 6
60H	96	× 7
70H	112	× 8

Notes The command is valid for all characters (including Kanji) except HRI characters. However, the scale of the optional font is up to double width or double height. Specifying the optional font in triple or larger size will result in printing in double size.

When either the vertical scale or horizontal scale is out of the definition range, this command is ignored.

The scale is applied with the paper feed direction as the vertical direction and the direction perpendicular to the paper feed as the horizontal direction. Therefore, when specifying 90° right rotated characters, the relationship between vertical and horizontal directions for characters becomes reverse.

Related Commands ESC '!', FS '!'

ESC '-' n

Code 1BH 2DH n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 2, 48 \le n \le 50$

Default n = 0

Function Sets underline.

n	Function
0, 48	Cancel underline
1, 49	Specify 1-dot underline
2, 50	Specify 2-dot underline

Set Underline

Notes Underline is applied to the entire character width including the right space of the character. However, no underline is applied to the portion skipped by the "Horizontal Tab" command (HT) or others and to 90° right rotated characters.

When underline is canceled with n = 0, no underline is applied to the subsequent data, but the underline width set before canceling is retained. Moreover, underline is canceled (n = 0) in the initial state.

The underline width is constant as specified regardless of the character size.

This command does not affect 2-byte characters.

In addition to this command, underline can also be specified or canceled by the "Specify Print Mode" command (ESC '!'). However, the command processed last is valid. For example, when underline is canceled by this command after specified by the "Specify Print Mode" command (ESC '!'), the specification with the "Specify Print Mode" command (ESC '!') is canceled.

Related Commands ESC '!'

ESC 'E' n

Set Bold Print

Code 1BH 45H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default n = 0

- FunctionSets bold printing.n = <******0>B:Bold printing is canceled.n = <******1>B:Bold printing is specified.
- Notes Only the LSB is valid for n. This command affects both 1-byte characters and 2-byte characters. However, the command does not affect optional fonts.

Related Commands ESC '!'

ESC 'G' n

Set Double Strike Print

Code 1BH 47H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default n = 0

FunctionSets double strike printing.n = <******0>B:Double strike printing is canceled.n = <*****1>B:Double strike printing is specified.

NotesOnly the LSB is valid for n.The print result of double strike printing is exactly the same as that of bold printing.This command affects both 1-byte characters and 2-byte characters.However, the command does not affect optional fonts.

Related Commands ESC 'E'

Set Character 90° Right Rotate

ESC 'V' <u>n</u>

Code 1BH 56H n

Definition Range n = 0, 1, 48, 49

Default n = 0

Function Sets 90° character rotation to the right.

n	Function	
0, 48	Cancel 90° character rotation to right	
1, 49	Specify 90° character rotation to right	

Notes Even when underlining is specified, underline is not applied to characters rotated 90° to the right.

When 90° right rotation is specified, the relation between horizontal and vertical enlargements to the character direction is opposite to the case when 90° right rotation is canceled.

Related Commands ESC '!', ESC '-', FS '!', FS '-'

ESC '{' n

- Code 1BH 7BH n
- Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$
- Default n = 0
- FunctionSets inversion (flip) printing.n = <******0>B:Inversion (flip) printing is canceled.n = <******1>B:Inversion (flip) printing is specified.
- Notes Only the LSB is valid for n. This command is valid only when input at the beginning of the line. The inversion (flip) printing is to rotate the data of the line 180° and print. This command affects both 1-byte characters and 2-byte characters.

GS 'B' n

Set Reverse Print

Set Inversion (Flip) Print

Code	1DH 42H n
Definition	Range $0 \le n \le 255$
Default	n = 0
Function	Sets reverse printing of characters. n = <******0>B: Reverse printing is canceled. n = <******1>B: Reverse printing is specified.
NotesOnly the LSB is valid for n.Internal characters and downloaded characters are affected by the reverse printing.The right space of the character set by the "Set Character Right Space" command (ESC SP)also affected by the reverse printing.The reverse printing does not affect the followings:	

Bit image (ESC '*') Downloaded bit image (GS '/') Barcode (GS 'k') HRI character (GS 'H') Portion skipped by Horizontal Tab (HT) Portion skipped by Specify Absolute Position (ESC '\$') Portion skipped by Specify Relative Position (ESC '\$') NV graphics (GS '(' 'L') Graphics Data Storage into Print Buffer (GS '(' 'L') Each two-dimensional barcode print (GS 'p')

This command does not affect spaces between lines. The specifications of bold printing and double strike printing are ignored. (The line width of a reverse print character is as same as that of a normal character.) The reverse printing takes precedence over underline. Therefore, even when underline is

specified, no underline is applied to reverse print characters. However, the underline setting status does not change.

This command affects both 1-byte characters and 2-byte characters.

ESC 'R' n

Set International Character

Code 1BH 52H n

Definition Range $0 \le nl \le 17$

Default n = 0

Function Sets an international character from the following table.

n	Country	n	Country
0	USA	9	Norway
1	France	10	Denmark II
2	Germany	11	Spain II
3	United Kingdom	12	Latin America
4	Denmark I	13	Prohibition ^{*1}
5	Sweden	14	Prohibition ^{*1}
6	Italy	15	Prohibition ^{*1}
7	Spain I	16	Prohibition ^{*1}
8	Japan	17	Arabia

*1: When the prohibition is selected, the setting is ignored.

Related Commands See "A.2 International Character Set".

ESC 'ť n

Set Codepage

Code 1BH 74H n

Definition Range n = 0 to 5, 16, 18, 19, 37, 45 to 48, 255

Default Depends on the Function Settings.

Function Sets the page n in the character code table.

To select the User page, it is required to register the User page beforehand. Set the User page in the "Select Download Mode" command (DC2 DC2) and the "Rewrite 1-Byte Font" command ('S' 'W').

n	Codepage	
0	USA, Standard Europe (Code Page437)	
1	Katakana	
2	Multilingual (Code Page850)	
3	Portuguese (Code Page860)	
4	Canadian-French (Code Page863)	
5	Nordic (Code Page865)	
13	Turkish (Code Page857)	
14	Greek (Code Page737)	
16	Latin (Code Page1252)	
17	Russian (Code Page866)	
18	Eastern Europe (Code Page852)	
19	Euro (Code Page858)	
34	Cyrillic (Code Page855)	
37	Arabic (Code Page864)	
45	Central European (Code Page1250)	
46	Cyrillic (Code Page1251)	
47	Greek (Code Page1253)	
48	Turkish (Code Page1254)	
255	User Page	

Notes Code Page864 is printed in font A (24 × 12) regardless of character font selection.

Related Commands DC2 'w', DC2 'l' See "A.2 International Character Set".

ESC 'y' a b c

Send 1-Byte Font ID

Code 1BH 79H a b c

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the information specified by c, the 1-byte font specified by a and b.

a:Font size

b:Page number

c: Information

The page number is the number registered in the "Rewrite 1-Byte Font" command ('S' W' a [d1]k1 b [d2]k2).

а	Font Size
0	24-dot font
1	16-dot font

С	Function	Response Format
0	Reserved	-
1	Reserved	-
2	Reserved	-
3	Checksum (2 bytes)	HEX code
4	Reserved	-
5	Reserved	-
6	ID (64 bytes)	Character string
7	Registered international character	Character string

When 7 is specified for c, the printer sends the abbreviation of the registered international character in a character string.

When 2 or more international characters are registered, the country names are separated by a ',' (comma).

The character strings sent according to the registeration content are as shown below.

International Character	Response Character String
USA	US
France	FR
Germany	DE
United Kingdom	UK
Denmark I	DK1
Sweden	SE
Italy	IT
Spain I	ES
Japan	JP
Norway	NO
Denmark II	DK2
Spain II	ES2
Latin America	LA*
Arabia	AR*

Notes When the font specified by a and b is not registered, only the header and footer of the response format of the selected function are sent.

Related Commands See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA", "6.4.11 Download Mode".

ESC '&' y s e [x [d]k]n

Code 1BH 26H y s e [x [d]k]n

Definition Range

Rangey = 3 (Font A (24 × 12) selected)y = 2 (Font B (16 × 8) selected) $20H \le s \le e \le 7EH$ $0 \le x \le 12$ (Font A (24 × 12) selected) $0 \le x \le 8$ (Font B (16 × 8) selected) $0 \le d \le 255$

- Function Registers a downloaded character pattern to the specified character code.
 - y: Number of bytes in vertical direction
 - s: Registration start character code
 - e: Registration end character code
 - x: Number of dots in horizontal direction to register
 - d: Font data
 - k: Number of data bytes for 1 character
 - n: Number of characters to register

The downloaded character is not registered at the factory.

Notes The registrable character codes are ASCII codes in the range of 20H to 7EH.

Multiple continuous character codes can be registered in 1 registration. To register only 1 character, specify s = e.

d is registration data and indicates the pattern of x dots in the horizontal direction from the left end. When x is less than the character configuration number of dots at this time, the remaining dots on the right side become spaces.

The number of data bytes k necessary for registering 1 downloaded character is $k = y \times x$ bytes. The number of characters n to register is n = e - s + 1.

In the registration data, the bits corresponding to dots to print are 1, and the bits corresponding to dots not to print are 0.

The memory usage m is 6184 bytes (including the number of bytes of memory control information).



Set Downloaded Character Set

ESC '%' n

Code	1BH 25H n	
Definition	Range $0 \le n \le 255$	
Default	n = 0	
Function	Sets the downloaded character. n = <*****0>B: The downloaded character is canceled. n = <*****1>B: The downloaded character is specified.	
Notes	Only the LSB is valid for n. When the downloaded character is canceled, the internal character set is automatically specified.	
Related Commands ESC '&', ESC '?'		

ESC '?' n

Release Downloaded Character

Code 1BH 3FH n

Definition Range $20H \le n \le 7EH$

- Function Releases the downloaded character of the specified code to make it undefined. After releasing, the printer prints the internal character.
 - n: Character code to release registration pattern
- Notes The downloaded character specified by the character code n is released. The character font selected by the "Specify Print Mode" command (ESC '!') is affected. When the specified character code is undefined, this command is ignored.

Related Commands ESC '&', ESC '%'

DC2 'D' n

Release/Allocate Downloaded Character Area

Code 12H 44H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Function Releases or allocates the downloaded character area.

 $n = <^{******}0>B$: The downloaded character area is released.

 $n = <^{*******1}>B$: The downloaded character area is allocated.

Notes Only the LSB is valid for n.

When the downloaded character area is released, the registered downloaded characters are deleted, and the downloaded character specification is canceled. Moreover, the "Register Downloaded Character" command (ESC '&') and the "Set Downloaded Character Set" command (ESC '%') are ignored.

The downloaded character area is 6184 bytes.

In order to allocate again the downloaded character area that has been released, 6184 bytes or more are necessary for the remaining memory capacity. When the remaining memory capacity is insufficient, the downloaded character area is not allocated, and this command is ignored.

Releasing the area cannot increase the remaining memory capacity. The area can be used again as the user area by the "Defragment User Area" command (DC2 '*' '1').

DC2 'O' n

Code 12H 4FH n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default n = 0 (Optional font printing canceled)

FunctionSets the optional font. $n = <^{******0}>B$:Optional font printing is canceled. $n = <^{*******1}>B$:Optional font printing is specified.

Notes Only the LSB is valid for n. When the optional font printing is specified, and the character codes to print are registered as optional font, they are printed with the optional font. In printing, the optional font has priority over the downloaded character.

DC2 'P' s e y x [d]k

Register Optional Font

Code 12H 50H s e y x [d]k

Definition Range $20H \le s \le e \le 7EH$ $1 \le y \le 127, 1 \le x \le 127$

Function Allocates a memory area of optional font and registers the optional font.

- s: Registration start character code
- e: Registration end character code
- y: Number of vertical dots of optional font
- x: Number of horizontal dots of optional font
- d: Font data
- k: Total number of data bytes

The optional font is not registered at the factory.

Notes When the optional font of the specified set is already registered, but the registeration content is not the same, the area is allocated again to register the optional font. When y or x is out of the definition range, the subsequent data is processed as normal data.

The number of data bytes for 1 character is calculated by the formula below. INT $((y + 7) / 8) \times x$ bytes

The total number of data bytes k is calculated by the formula below. k = INT ((y + 7) / 8) × x × (e - s + 1) For the font data of 1 character, vertical 8 dots are input as 1 byte data in the order shown in the following figure. The following figure is the case of x = y = 20.



*The gray area is disregarded.

The calculating method for the memory usage m is different from the calculating method for the total number of data bytes k, because the font image is stored by the low scan method when registered in the memory.

The memory usage m is calculated by the formula below.

 $m = INT((x + 7) / 8) \times y \times (e - s + 1) + Number of bytes of memory control information$

DC2 'Q' Release Optional Font Area

Code 12H 51H

Function Releases the memory area of the registered optional fonts. After releasing, the registered optional fonts are not printed.

Notes Releasing the area cannot increase the remaining memory capacity. The area can be used again as the user area by the "Defragment User Area" command (DC2 '*' '1').

6.4.4 Print Position

GS 'P' x y	Set Basic Calculation Pitch
Code	1DH 50H x y
Definition	Range $0 \le x \le 255$ $0 \le y \le 255$
Default	x = 203, $y = 203$ (Minimum pitches of the printer)
Function	Sets the basic calculation pitch in the horizontal direction to $1/x$ inches, and the basic calculation pitch in the vertical direction to $1/y$ inches. x = 0 and/or y = 0: x and/or y returns to the default value.
Notes	The horizontal direction means the direction perpendicular to paper feed, and the vertical direction means the paper feed direction.
	The following parameters are used regardless of the character orientation (inversion (flip), 90° right rotated, etc.). Commands that use x: ESC SP, ESC '\$', ESC '\', FS 'S', GS 'L', GS 'W' Commands that use y: ESC '3', ESC 'J', ESC 'j', GS 'V'
	Executing this command does not affect various settings that have been already set (line spacing, character spacing, etc.). When the calculation result combined with other commands has fractions, adjust with the minimum pitch of the printer, and round down the remainder.
Related C	ommands ESC SP, ESC '\$', ESC '\', ESC '3', ESC 'J', ESC 'j', ESC 'W', FS 'S', GS '\$', GS '\', GS 'L', GS 'W', GS 'V'

ΗT

Code 09H

Function Shifts the print position to the next horizontal tab position.

Notes This command is ignored when the next horizontal tab position is not set. The print position is shifted to [print area width + 1] when the next horizontal tab position is beyond the print area.

The horizontal tab position is set by the "Set Horizontal Tab Position" command (ESC 'D'). The default of the horizontal tab position is every 8 characters of the character font in the initial state.

Upon reception of this command when the print position is at [print area width + 1], full print of the current line and horizontal tab processing from the beginning of the next line are executed.

Related Commands ESC 'D'

ESC 'D' [n]k NUL

Set Horizontal Tab Position

Horizontal Tab

Code 1BH 44H [n]k 00H

Definition Range $1 \le n \le 255, 0 \le k \le 32$

Default Every 8 characters of the character font in the initial state

Function Sets the horizontal tab position.

- n: Number of characters from the left margin or beginning of the line to the setting position
- k: Number of horizontal tab positions to be set

Notes The horizontal tab position is set as [n × character width] from the left margin or beginning of the line. The character width here means the entire character width including the right space of the character, and when the double width is specified, this width is doubled. This command cancels the horizontal tab positions already set.

When n = 8 is set as the horizontal tab position, the next print position shifts to the 9th character by executing the "Horizontal Tab" command (HT).

Up to 32 horizontal tabs can be set (k = 32).

When the number of tabs exceeds this number, the subsequent data is processed as normal data. Input n that specifies the setting position in ascending order and end with 00H. When n is equal to or smaller than the preceding n, the setting process of horizontal tab position ends at the moment that n is input, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data. Canceling all horizontal tab positions is performed by the "Set Horizontal Tab Position"

command (ESC 'D' [n]k NUL). When n exceeds the printable area of 1 line, the horizontal tab position is set at the number of printable characters per line + 1.

Even when the character width is changed after setting the horizontal tab position, the set horizontal tab position remains unchanged.

Related Commands HT

ESC 'a' n

Code 1BH 61H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 2, 48 \le n \le 50$

Default n = 0

Function Aligns all print data on 1 line to the specified position.

n	Alignment
0, 48	Aligned left
1, 49	Centered
2, 50	Aligned right

Notes This command is valid only when input at the beginning of the line. Alignment is performed within the print area width being set. The portion skipped by the "Horizontal Tab" command (HT), "Specify Absolute Position" command (ESC '\$'), or "Specify Relative Position" command (ESC '\') is also aligned.

GS 'L' nl nh

Code 1DH 4CH nl nh

Definition Range $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 255$

Default nl = 0, nh = 0

Function Sets the left margin specified by nl and nh. The left margin is [(nh × 256 + nl) × basic calculation pitch] inches. Set Left Margin

Alignment

Notes This command is valid only when input at the beginning of the line.

When a value that exceeds the printable area of 1 line is input, the maximum value of the printable area is set as the left margin.

The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). Moreover, once set, the left margin does not change even when the basic calculation pitch is changed by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P').

The basic calculation pitch in the horizontal direction (x) of "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P') is used for calculating the left margin. Moreover, when the calculation result is a fractional figure, it is corrected using the minimum pitch of the printer, and the remainder is discarded.

When the set print area width is less than 1 character of the currently specified character type at character data mapping, the following processing is performed only for that line.

- (1) Within the printable area, the print area is extended to the right side up to the equivalent of 1 character of the specified character type.
- (2) When an area up to the equivalent of 1 character cannot be secured even when (1) is performed, the print area is extended to the left side. (The left margin is reduced.)

When the set print area width is less than the minimum width of 1 internal character (the width of the font size selected by character font selection) at mapping of the data other than characters (bit image, etc.), the following processing is performed only for that line.

- (1) Within the printable area, the print area is extended to the right side up to the equivalent of the minimum width of 1 internal character.
- (2) When an area up to the equivalent of 1 character cannot be secured even when (1) is performed, the print area is extended to the left side. (The left margin is reduced.)

Ruled line data set in the "6.4.10 Ruled Line" command is not shifted or masked due to the left margin setting. (The ruled line data is always valid for the printable area.)

Related Commands GS 'P', GS 'W'

GS 'W' nl nh

Set Print Area Width

Code 1DH 57H nl nh

Definition Range $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 255$

Default Printable area

Function Sets the print area width specified by nl and nh. The print area width is [(nh × 256 + nl) × basic calculation pitch] inches.

Notes This command is valid only when input at the beginning of the line.

When a value that exceeds the printable area of 1 line is input, the entire area excluding the left margin is set as the print area width.

The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). Moreover, once set, the print area width does not change even when the basic calculation pitch is changed by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P').

The basic calculation pitch in the horizontal direction (x) of "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P') is used for calculating the print area width. Moreover, when the calculation result has fractions, adjust with the minimum pitch of the printer, and round down the remainder.

When the set print area width is less than 1 character of the currently specified character type at character data mapping, the following processing is performed only for that line.

- (1) Within the printable area, the print area is extended to the right side up to the equivalent of 1 character of the specified character type.
- (2) When an area up to the equivalent of 1 character cannot be secured even when (1) is performed, the print area is extended to the left side. (The left margin is reduced.)

When the set print area width is less than the minimum width of 1 internal character (the width of the font size selected by character font selection) at mapping of the data other than characters (bit image, etc.), the following processing is performed only for that line.

- (1) Within the printable area, the print area is extended to the right side up to the equivalent of the minimum width of 1 internal character.
- (2) When an area up to the equivalent of 1 character cannot be secured even when (1) is performed, the print area is extended to the left side. (The left margin is reduced.)

Ruled line data set in the "6.4.10 Ruled Line" command is not shifted or masked due to the print area width setting. (The ruled line data is always valid for the maximum value of the printable area.)

Related Commands GS 'L', GS 'P'

ESC '\$' nl nh

Specify Absolute Position

Code 1BH 24H nl nh

Definition Range $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 255$

Function Specifies the print position based on the left margin position. The next print position is [(nh × 256 + nl) × basic calculation pitch] inches from the left margin position.

Notes Specifications beyond the print area are ignored.

The absolute print position is specified based on the beginning of the line. The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). When the calculation result has fractions, adjust with the minimum pitch of the printer, and round down the remainder.

The basic calculation pitch in the horizontal direction (x) is used.

Related Commands ESC '\', GS 'P'

ESC '\' nl nh

Specify Relative Position

Code 1BH 5CH nl nh

Definition Range $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 255$

Function Specifies the print position based on the current position. The next print position is [(nh × 256 + nl) × basic calculation pitch] inches from the current position.

NotesSpecifications beyond the print area are ignored.
In relation to the character direction, specify a positive number to specify rightward from the
current position and specify a negative number to specify leftward from the current position.
Negative numbers are represented by 2's complement.
The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P').
When the calculation result has fractions, adjust with the minimum pitch of the printer, and
round down the remainder.

The basic calculation pitch in the hohrizontal direction (x) is used.

Related Commands ESC '\$', GS 'P'

6.4.5 Image

ESC '*' m nl nh [d]k

Print Bit Image Mode

Code 1BH 2AH m nl nh [d]k

Definition Rangem = 0, 1, 32, 33 $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 3, 0 \le d \le 255$

Function Stores a bit image of the number of dots specified by nl and nh in the line buffer in the mode specified by m.

m	Mode	Number of Vertical Dots	Vertical Dot Density	Horizontal Dot Density	Number of Data Dots (k)
0	8 dots single density	8	67 dpi	101 dpi	nh × 256 + nl
1	8 dots double density	8	67 dpi	203 dpi	nh × 256 + nl
32	24 dots single density	24	203 dpi	101 dpi	(nh × 256 + nl) × 3
33	24 dots double density	24	203 dpi	203 dpi	(nh × 256 + nl) × 3

This command only stores the bit image in the line buffer. The bit image is printed through a print command or 1 line full.

Notes When m is out of the definition range, the subsequent data is processed as normal data. nl and nh indicate the horizontal dots of the bit image to be printed, and the number of data dots is [nh × 256 + nl].

When bit image data exceeding the printable dots on 1 line is input, the excess data is discarded.

d indicates the bit image data. The bits that correspond to dots to print are 1, and the bits that correspond to dots not to print are 0. The data is input in the order in the figure below.

When the print area width set by the "Set Left Margin" command (GS 'L') or "Set Print Area Width" command (GS 'W') is less than the minimum width of 1 internal character (the width of the font size selected by character font selection), the following processing is performed only for that line.

- (1) Within the printable area, the print area is extended to the right side up to the equivalent of the minimum width of 1 internal character.
- (2) When an area up to the equivalent of 1 character cannot be secured even when (1) is performed, the print area is extended to the left side. (The left margin is reduced.)

The printer returns to usual data processing after completion of processing the image data. The functions of print mode (bold printing, double strike printing, underline, character size, etc.) excluding inversion (flip) printing are not affected.

<Data input order>





Register Downloaded Bit Image

GS '*' x y [d]k

Code	1DH 2AH	x y [d]k
Definition	Range	1 ≤ x ≤ 255, 1 ≤ y ≤ 255, 0 ≤ d ≤ 255, 8 ≤ k ≤ 65524 (Deleted when x = 0 or y = 0)
Function	(x × 8) spe (y × 8) spe	the downloaded bit image of dots specified by x and y. ecifies the number of dots in the horizontal direction. ecifies the number of dots in the vertical direction. loaded bit image is not registered at the factory.
Notes	and printe The numb direction is d indicates correspon Image dat Whether t "Select Bi k indicates The relation The memory m = Nur	led bit image is a bit image which can be registered in the user area by this command ad by the "Print Downloaded Bit Image" command (GS '/'). ber of dots in horizontal direction is $x \times 8$ dots, and the number of dots in vertical s y × 8 dots. s the bit image data. The bits that correspond to dots to print are 1, and the bits that d to dots not to print are 0. ta exceeding 65524 bytes cannot be registered. o use column scan mode or row scan mode for transfer data can be selected by the t Image Scan Method" command (DC2 'I'). s the number of data bytes. $k = y \times x \times 8$ bytes. on between the downloaded bit image and the print data is shown as follows. ory usage m is calculated by the formula below. mber of data bytes + Number of bytes of memory control information re is data in the line buffer, this command is ignored.

Related Commands GS '/'

<Column scan mode>

<Row scan mode>



(1)GS '/' m (2)GS '/' m n

Code	(1)1DH 2FH m
	(2)1DH 2FH m n

Definition Range $(1)0 \le m \le 3, 48 \le m \le 51$
 $(2)4 \le m \le 7, 52 \le m \le 55, 0 \le n \le 255$

Function Prints the registered downloaded bit image data in mode m.

When m is $4 \le m \le 7$ or $52 \le m \le 55$, the print start position in the horizontal direction of the downloaded bit image can be specified by n. (The print start position is specified at the position of n × 8 dots from the left end of the paper.)

m	Function
0, 48	Normal mode printing
1, 49	Double width mode printing
2, 50	Double height mode printing
3, 51	Quadruple mode printing
4, 52	Normal mode selection
5, 53	Double width mode selection
6, 54	Double height mode selection
7, 55	Quadruple mode selection

Notes

This command is ignored when the downloaded bit image data is not registered. This command is valid only when there is no data in the line buffer.

The print modes (bold printing, double strike printing, underline, character size, etc.) excluding inversion (flip) printing have no effect. The inversion (flip) printing is invalid in the "Select Downloaded Bit Image" command (GS '/').

When the size of the registered downloaded bit image data exceeds the print area, the excess data is not printed.

When the print area width set by the "Set Left Margin" command (GS 'L') or "Set Print Area Width" command (GS 'W') is less than the minimum width of 1 internal character (the width of the font size selected by character font selection), the following processing is performed only for that line.

- (1) Within the printable area, the print area is extended to the right side up to the equivalent of the minimum width of 1 internal character.
- (2) When an area up to the equivalent of 1 character cannot be secured even when (1) is performed, the print area is extended to the left side. (The left margin is reduced.)

When $0 \le m \le 3$ or $48 \le m \le 51$, printing starts as soon as the command is accepted. When $4 \le m \le 7$ or $52 \le m \le 55$, the selected downloaded bit image is printed on the character printing portion and the space between lines. The image is also printed on the portion of paper feed by the "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J') or "Print and n Lines Feed Forward" command (ESC 'J').

When the downloaded bit image is selected, specifying m outside $4 \le m \le 7$ and $52 \le m \le 55$ cancels the downloaded bit image selection.

Related Commands GS '*'

Print Raster Bit Image

GS 'v' '0' m xL xH yL yH [d]k

Code 1DH 76H 30H m xL xH yL yH [d]k

Function Prints a raster format bit image in mode m.

	m	Mode	Vertical Dot Density	Horizontal Dot Density
0, 48,	64, 128, 192	Normal mode	203 dpi	203 dpi
1, 49,	65, 129, 193	Double width mode	203 dpi	101 dpi
2, 50,	66, 130, 194	Double height mode	101 dpi	203 dpi
3, 51,	67, 131, 195	Quadruple mode	101 dpi	101 dpi

xL and xH specify the number of horizontal data bytes of the bit image as $(xH \times 256 + xL)$ bytes. yL and yH specify the number of vertical data bits of the bit image as $(yH \times 256 + yL)$ bits.

When $128 \le m \le 131$ or $192 \le m \le 195$ is set, the received bit image data is mapped on the memory, and then the image is printed collectively.

When $64 \le m \le 67$ or $192 \le m \le 195$ is set, the received bit image data is treated as compressed data and printed after uncompressing.

Notes This command is valid only when there is no print data in the line buffer. All functions of print mode (character size, bold printing, double strike printing, inversion (flip) printing, underline, reverse printing, etc.) are not affected on raster bit images.

When the print area width set by the "Set Left Margin" command (GS 'L') or "Set Print Area Width" command (GS 'W') is less than the minimum width, the print area width is extended to the minimum width only for that line. The minimum width is 1 dot regardless of the mode. The data outside of the printable area is discarded in dots.

The print start position of the raster bit image can be freely specified by the "Horizontal Tab" command (HT), "Specify Absolute Position" command (ESC '\$'), "Specify Relative Position" command (ESC '\'), or "Set Left Margin" command (GS 'L').

The setting of the "Alignment" command (ESC 'a') is valid for raster bit images as well.

When $0 \le m \le 3$, $48 \le m \le 51$, or $128 \le m \le 131$ is set, the bits that correspond to dots to print are 1, and the bits that correspond to dots not to print are 0 in the bit image data d.



When $64 \le m \le 67$ or $192 \le m \le 195$ is set, the bit image data is input in an RLE (Run Length Encoding) compression data format positioning MSB on the left.

The data of 1 dot-line is defined by the following format.

[n [d]n]: Compressed data of 1 dot-line

- n = Number of compressed data bytes of 1 dot-line
- d = Compressed data 1 byte

When the bit 7 of d is 0, the bits 6 to 0 indicate as follows:

Bit 6: Color (0 = white / 1 = black)

Bit 5 to 0: Number of continuous dots

When the bit 7 of d is 1, the bits 6 to 0 directly indicate the image data of 7 dots.

For example, when 1 dot-line is an image as below, the bit image data is 03H 4FH ABH 0AH.



Depending on the data before compression, the size of the compressed data may be larger than before compression. In that case, the compressed data takes longer to transfer.

When using this command, reduced printing speed, for example due to the communication speed may cause poor print quality or abnormal noise. Therefore, use this command in the environment where printing can be performed maintaining the print speed above a certain speed regardless of the communication speed.

DC2 'l' n

Select Bit Image Scan Method

Code 12H 49H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default n = 0 (Column scan)

FunctionSpecifies whether to transfer bit image registration with column scan or row scan data.n = <******0>B:Column scan is specified.n = <******1>B:Row scan is specified.

Notes Only the LSB is valid for n.

The command affected by this setting is as follows: Register Downloaded Bit Image (GS '*')

DC2 '=' n

Select Image LSB/MSB

Code	12H 3DH n
Definition	Range $0 \le n \le 255$
Default	n = 1
Function	When the row scan method is selected as the bit image scan method, the command selects whether the left edge of the print image is the LSB or MSB of the bit image data. $n = <^{*******}0>B$: The LSB is the left edge or top. $n = <^{*******}1>B$: The MSB is the left edge or top.
Notes	Only the LSB is valid for n.

The commands affected by this setting are as follows: Register NV Graphics Data ((1)GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn '0' kc1 kc2 b xL xH yL yH '1' [d]k (2)GS '8' 'L' p1 p2 p3 p4 '0' fn '0' kc1 kc2 b xL xH yL yH '1' [d]k) Store Graphics Data in Print Buffer ((1) GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn '0' bx by '1' xL xH yL yH [d]k (2) GS '8' 'L' p1 p2 p3 p4 '0' fn '0' bx by '1' xL xH yL yH [d]k) Register Downloaded Bit Image (GS '*') Print Raster Bit Image (GS 'v' '0') Write Ruled Line Image (DC3 'V') Fill Ruled Line Pattern (DC3 'F')

When $64 \le m \le 67$ or $192 \le m \le 195$ is set in the "Print Raster Bit Image" command (GS 'v'), only the internal flag operation of the printer is executed.

When this command is input while the column scan is selected, only the internal flag operation of the printer is executed.

Related Commands DC2 'l'

GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn

Send NV Graphics Memory Capacity

Code 1DH 28H 4CH pL pH 30H fn

- FunctionIn response to the request of this command, the printer sends the number of bytes of total
capacity in NV graphics area by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.
The number of data bytes to be sent is 2 bytes of header and footer + 4 × 2 = 10 bytes.
pL, pH:Number of bytes of the following parameter
 - fn: Function selection number
- Notes The NV graphics memory capacity means the maximum value available for NV graphics in the user area. This value varies depending on the usage of the user area by other commands.

Related Commands GS '(' 'L', GS '8' 'L' See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn

Send NV Graphics Memory Remaining Capacity

Code 1DH 28H 4CH pL pH 30H fn

- FunctionIn response to the request of this command, the printer sends the number of bytes of remaining
capacity in NV graphics area by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.
The number of data bytes to be sent is 2 bytes of header and footer + 4 × 2 = 10 bytes.
 - pL, pH: Number of bytes of the following parameter
 - fn: Function selection number
- Notes The memory capacity of the unused area excluding the released area is sent by HEX code. The value to be sent is the same as that of the "Send Remaining User Area" command.

Related Commands GS '(' 'L', GS '8' 'L', DC2 '*' '1', DC2 '*' '2' See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn 'K' 'C'

Send Registered NV Graphics Key Code List

Code 1DH 28H 4CH pL pH 30H fn 4BH 43H

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the key code list of the registered NV graphics by character string.

pL, pH: Number of bytes of the following parameter

fn: Function selection number

Notes When 40 or more key codes are registered, the data is divided to the upper limit of 40 key codes and sent. The 1st character of the response shows the status of the data that follows.

Response Data	Status
40H	No following data exists
41H	Following data exists

The printer performs the following operations according to the transmission data from the host device after sending the character string once.

Transmission Data	Operation
	Preceding status 40H: Terminates processing Preceding status 41H: Sends next data group
15H	Resends preceding data group
184	Even when continuing data exists, the processing is aborted and terminated.

The printer does not return to normal processing until the processing is terminated or suspended by the operations above.

Related Commands GS '(' 'L', GS '8' 'L' See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn 'C' 'L' 'R'

Delete NV Graphics Data in Batch

Code 1DH 28H 4CH pL pH 30H fn 43H 4CH 52H

Definition Range pL = 5, pH = 0 fn = 65

Function Deletes all NV graphics data in batch.

pL, pH: Number of bytes of the following parameter

fn: Function selection number

Notes This command is valid only when there is no print data in the line buffer. Deleting the graphics data cannot increase the remaining memory capacity. The area can be used again as the user area by the "Defragment User Area" command (DC2 '*' '1').

Related Commands GS '(' 'L', GS '8' 'L'

GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn kc1 kc2

Delete Specified NV Graphics Data

Code 1DH 28H 4CH pL pH 30H fn kc1 kc2

Definition Range	pL = 4, pH = 0 fn = 66 32 ≤ kc1 ≤ 126, 32 ≤ kc2 ≤ 126

 Function
 Deletes the NV graphics data specified by key code.

 pL, pH:
 Number of bytes of the following parameter

 fn:
 Function selection number

 kc1, kc2:
 Key code

Notes When the NV graphics data is not registered in the specified key code, this command is ignored.

This command is valid only when there is no print data in the line buffer. Deleting the graphics data cannot increase the remaining memory capacity. The area can be used again as the user area by the "Defragment User Area" command (DC2 '*' '1').

Related Commands GS '(' 'L', GS '8' 'L'

GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn kc1 kc2 x y

Print Specified NV Graphics Data

Code 1DH 28H 4CH pL pH 30H fn kc1 kc2 x y

Definition Range

pL = 6, pH = 0 fn = 69 $32 \le kc1 \le 126, 32 \le kc2 \le 126$ x = 1, 2 y = 1, 2

FunctionPrints the NV graphics data specified by key code in x times the width and y times the height.pL, pH:Number of bytes of the following parameter

- fn: Function selection number
- kc1, kc2: Key code
- x: Horizontal scale
- y: Vertical scale
- Notes When the NV graphics data is not registered in the specified key code, this command is ignored.

This command is valid only when there is no print data in the line buffer.

The print modes (bold printing, double strike printing, underline, character size, etc.) excluding the inversion (flip) printing have no effect.

When the print area width set by the "Set Left Margin" command (GS 'L') or "Set Print Area Width" command (GS 'W') is less than the minimum width of 1 internal character (the width of the font size selected by character font selection), the following processing is performed only for that line.

- (1) Within the printable area, the print area is extended to the right side up to the equivalent of the minimum width of 1 internal character.
- (2) When an area up to the equivalent of 1 character cannot be secured even when (1) is performed, the print area is extended to the left side. (The left margin is reduced.)

Related Commands GS '(' 'L', GS '8' 'L'

GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn kc1 kc2 x y z

Code 1DH 28H 4CH pL pH 30H fn kc1 kc2 x y z

Function Selects the NV graphics data specified by key code with x times the width and y times the height. The print start position in the horizontal direction of the graphics data can be specified by z. (The print start position is specified at the position of z × 8 dots from the left edge of the paper.)

р∟, рн:	number of bytes of the following parameter
fn:	Function selection number
kc1, kc2:	Key code
x:	Horizontal scale
y:	Vertical scale
Z:	Horizontal print start position
	
When the	NV graphics data is not registered in the spec

Notes When the NV graphics data is not registered in the specified key code, this command is ignored. Multiple NV graphics cannot be selected. The last selected graphics is valid.

This command is valid only when there is no print data in the line buffer.

Related Commands GS '(' 'L', GS '8' 'L'

(1)GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn '0' kc1 kc2 b xL xH yL yH '1' [d]k (2)GS '8' 'L' p1 p2 p3 p4 '0' fn '0' kc1 kc2 b xL xH yL yH '1' [d]k

Register NV Graphics Data

 Code
 (1)1DH 28H 4CH pL pH 30H fn 30H kc1 kc2 b xL xH yL yH 31H [d]k

 (2)1DH 38H 4CH p1 p2 p3 p4 30H fn 30H kc1 kc2 b xL xH yL yH 31H [d]k

Function Registers the NV graphics data corresponding to key code kc1 and kc2. When the key code is different, more than one data can be registered within the memory capacity.

- pL, pH or p1, p2, p3, p4:
 - Number of bytes of the following parameter
- fn: Function selection number
- b: Fixed value
- xL, xH: Horizontal size of registered data, (xH × 256 + xL) dots
- yL, yH: Vertical size of registered data, (yH × 256 + yL) dots
- d: Registered data
- k: Number of image data bytes

The NV graphics is not registered at the factory.

Notes By this command, the number of data bytes + memory control information bytes is used in the user area of the FLASH memory.

When the remaining capacity of the user area is less than the memory usage m, this command is ignored.

This command is valid only when there is no print data in the line buffer.

The memory usage m is calculated by the formula below.

m = Number of data bytes + Number of bytes of memory control information



Related Commands GS '(' 'L'

6.4.6 Barcode

GS 'H' n

Select HRI Character Print Position

Code 1DH 48H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 3, 48 \le n \le 51$

Default n = 0

Function Selects the HRI character print position at barcode printing.

n	Print Position
0, 48	Not printed
1, 49	Over barcode
2, 50	Under barcode
3, 51	Over and under barcode (both)

Notes HRI is an acronym that stands for Human Readable Interpretation. The HRI character is printed in the font selected by the "Select HRI Character Font" command (GS 'f').

Related Commands GS 'f', GS 'k', ESC 'M'

GS 'f' n

Select HRI Character Font

Code 1DH 66H n

Definition Range n = 0, 1, 48, 49

Default n = 0

Function Selects the HRI character font at barcode printing.

n	Font
0, 48	Font A (24 × 12)
1, 49	Font B (16 × 8)

NotesHRI is an acronym that stands for Human Readable Interpretation.
The HRI character is printed at the position specified by the "Select HRI Character Print
Position" command (GS 'H').
The HRI character is printed on the basis of the position that is lowered by the specified
character's height under the base line of the barcode printing.

Related Commands GS 'H'
Set Barcode Height

GS <u>'h' n</u>

Code 1DH 68H n

Definition Range $1 \le n \le 255$

Default n = 162

Function Sets the barcode height to n dots.

Notes When the value less than the GS1 Databar standard is specified, it is automatically adjusted to the minimum height of each GS1 Databar.

Related Commands GS 'k'

GS <u>'w' n</u>

Set Barcode Width

Code 1DH 77H n

Definition Range $2 \le n \le 6$

Default n = 3

Function Sets the barcode width in dots.

n	Multilevel Barcode Module Width (mm)	Binary Level Barcode Narrow Element (mm)
2	0.250	0.250 (2 dots)
3	0.375	0.375 (3 dots)
4	0.500	0.500 (4 dots)
5	0.625	0.625 (5 dots)
6	0.750	0.750 (6 dots)

Notes

Multilevel barcode refers to the following barcode systems: UPC-A, UPC-E, JAN13 (EAN13), JAN8 (EAN8), CODE93, CODE128, JAN13 (EAN13) add-on, GS1 Databar Omni-directional, GS1 Databar Truncated, GS1 Databar Limited, GS1 Databar Expanded

Binary level barcode refers to the following barcode systems: CODE39, ITF, CODABAR

The wide element of the binary level barcode varies depending on the setting of the barcode N:W ratio.

Set 3 or greater to n when the bars are parallel to the thermal paper feed direction. When 2 is set to n, the reading accuracy may degrade.

Related Commands GS 'k', DC2 ':'

Code 12H 3AH n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 2$

Default n = 1

Function Changes the barcode N:W ratio (Narrow width : Wide width).

n	N:W
0	1:2
1	1:2.5
2	1:3

The width of the element is determined as follows depending on the barcode width setting.

Narrow Element	Wide Element (mm)					
(mm)	N:W = 1:2	N:W = 1:2.5	N:W = 1:3			
0.250 (2 dots)	0.500 (4 dots)	0.625 (5 dots)	0.750 (6 dots)			
0.375 (3 dots)	0.750 (6 dots)	1.000 (8 dots)	1.125 (9 dots)			
0.500 (4 dots)	1.000 (8 dots)	1.250 (10 dots)	1.500 (12 dots)			
0.625 (5 dots)	1.250 (10 dots)	1.625 (13 dots)	1.875 (15 dots)			
0.750 (6 dots)	1.500 (12 dots)	1.875 (15 dots)	2.250 (18 dots)			

Notes Some barcode readers may not read the barcode depending on the setting of the narrow width and the setting value of this command. Fully evaluate with your barcode reader before use.

Related Commands GS 'w'

GS 'k' m

Print Barcode

Code	(1) (2) (3) (4)	1DH 6BH 1DH 6BH	H m [d]k 00H H m n [d]n H m [d]k 00H [d2]s 00 H m n [d]n s [d2]s	$(0 \le m \le 6)$ $(65 \le m \le 73, 75 \le m \le 78)$ DH (m = 22) (m = 87)	
Definition	n Range	(2)-1 (2)-2	97 ≤ d ≤ 123 m = 22, 32 ≤ d ≤ 12	≤ 150, 0 ≤ d ≤ 127	1

Function Selects the barcode system and prints the barcode.

m	Barcode System	Number of Barcode Data Bytes	Remarks
0	UPC-A	11 ≤ k ≤ 12	Same barcode system as m = 65
1	UPC-E	11 ≤ k ≤ 12	Same barcode system as m = 66
2	JAN13 (EAN13)	12 ≤ k ≤ 13	Same barcode system as m = 67
3	JAN8 (EAN8)	7 ≤ k ≤ 8	Same barcode system as m = 68
4	CODE39	Variable	Same barcode system as m = 69
5	ITF	Variable (always even number)	Same barcode system as m = 70
6	CODABAR	Variable	Same barcode system as m = 71
22	JAN13 (EAN13)	Add-on 2: 12 ≤ k ≤ 13, s = 2	Some horsede system og m - 97
22	add-on	Add-on 5: 12 ≤ k ≤ 13, s = 5	Same barcode system as m = 87
65	UPC-A	11 ≤ n ≤ 12	Same barcode system as m = 0
66	UPC-E	11 ≤ n ≤ 12	Same barcode system as m = 1
67	JAN13 (EAN13)	12 ≤ n ≤ 13	Same barcode system as m = 2
68	JAN8 (EAN8)	7 ≤ n ≤ 8	Same barcode system as m = 3
69	CODE39	Variable	Same barcode system as m = 4
70	ITF	Variable (always even number)	Same barcode system as m = 5
71	CODABAR	Variable	Same barcode system as m = 6
72	CODE93	Variable	
73	CODE128	Variable	
75	GS1 Databar Omni-directional	n = 13	
76	GS1 Databar Truncated	n = 13	
77	GS1 Databar Limited	n = 13	
78	GS1 Databar Expanded	2 ≤ n ≤ 255	
07	JAN13 (EAN13)	Add-on 2: 12 ≤ n ≤ 13, s = 2	Sama haraada ayatam aa m = 00
87	add-on `	Add-on 5: 12 ≤ n ≤ 13, s = 5	Same barcode system as m = 22

Notes The command configuration, code, definition range, and a part of notes differ depending on the value of m.

> The barcode system selected for $0 \le m \le 6$ is the same as $65 \le m \le 71$, and the barcode system selected for m = 22 is the same as m = 87, and the print result is also the same.

d and d2 indicate the character to be printed. In each barcode system, when d or d2 is a character code that cannot be printed, the barcode is printed until then, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data. s indicates the number of added symbol data bytes.

When UPC-A barcode data and UPC-E barcode data with 12 bytes including the check digit are specified, the 12th byte is ignored and the check digit is automatically calculated by the printer.

When JAN13 (EAN13) barcode data with 13 bytes including the check digit are specified, the 13th byte is ignored and the check digit is automatically calculated by the printer.

When JAN8 (EAN8) barcode data with 8 bytes including the check digit are specified, the 8th byte is ignored and the check digit is automatically calculated by the printer.

When GS1 Databar Omni-directional, GS1 Databar Truncated, or GS1 Databar Limited is specified, '01' at the beginning is automatically added by the printer. And the check digit is automatically calculated by the printer.

Paper feed length is equivalent to the barcode height (including HRI character when HRI character printing is specified) regardless of the line spacing set by the "Set 1/6 Inch Line Spacing" command (ESC '2'), "Set Line Spacing" command (ESC '3') and so on.

Quiet zones are not secured. Set the quiet zone in accordance with the standard of each barcode system.

When the horizontal direction exceeds the print area of 1 line, only paper feed is performed without printing barcode.

This command is valid only when there is no data in the line buffer. When data exists in the line buffer, the data after m is processed as normal data. Moreover, after the operation of the barcode is completed, the beginning of the line is the next print position.

The print modes (bold printing, double strike printing, underline, character size, etc.) excluding inversion (flip) printing have no effect.

[(1) In the case of GS 'k' m [d]k NUL]

This command ends with NUL code.

k indicates the number of barcode data bytes. When a barcode system with fixed number of bytes is selected, make sure that k matches that number of characters. When the number of bytes is insufficient, the data is processed up to the NUL code. Moreover, when the number of bytes is excessive, the data is processed for fixed length and excess data is processed as normal data.

Make sure that the number of bytes for ITF barcode of m = 5 is an even number. If the number of bytes is an odd number, the last data is ignored.

[(2) In the case of GS 'k' m n [d]n]

n indicates the number of data bytes, and n bytes are processed as barcode data from the next data. If n is out of the definition range, or if the number of bytes is an odd number when ITF barcode of m = 70 is selected, command processing is terminated, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data.



UPC-A: Enter 11 characters using numbers from '0' to '9'. Alternatively, enter additional 1 check digit.

The check digit is automatically calculated inside the printer as well.

- UPC-E: Enter 11 characters using numbers from '0' to '9'. Alternatively, enter additional 1 check digit.
 The check digit is automatically calculated inside the printer as well.
 The following data can be input:
 When the original code is 0 ABCDE VWXYZ
 1 . 0 ABCDE 0000Z (Z is 5 to 9)
 2 . 0 ABCD0 0000Z
 - 3.0-ABC00-000YZ (C is 3 to 9)
 - 4.0-ABC00-00XYZ (C is 0 to 2)

JAN13 (EAN13):

Enter 12 characters using numbers from '0' to '9'. Alternatively, enter additional 1 check digit.

- The check digit is automatically calculated inside the printer as well.
- JAN8 (EAN8):

Enter 7 characters using numbers from '0' to '9'. Alternatively, enter additional 1 check digit. The check digit is automatically calculated inside the printer as well.

- CODE39: Enter any number of characters using ' ', '\$', '%', '+', '-', '.', '/', '0' to '9', and 'A' to 'Z'.
- ITF: Enter any even number of characters using numbers from '0' to '9'.
- CODABAR: Enter 1 start character of 'A' to 'D', any number of characters using '0' to '9', '+', '.', '/', ':', '\$', '-', and 1 stop character of 'A' to 'D'.
- CODE93: Input any data from 00H to 2EH. Multiple data can be input. Input 2FH or more lastly.

Input	Data	Input	Data	Input	Data
00H	0	10H	G	20H	W
01H	1	11H	Н	21H	Х
02H	2	12H		22H	Y
03H	3	13H	J	23H	Z
04H	4	14H	K	24H	-
05H	5	15H	L	25H	
06H	6	16H	М	26H	SP
07H	7	17H	Ν	27H	\$
08H	8	18H	0	28H	/
09H	9	19H	Р	29H	+
0AH	А	1AH	Q	2AH	%
0BH	В	1BH	R	2BH	[S1]
0CH	С	1CH	S	2CH	[S2]
0DH	D	1DH	Т	2DH	[S3]
0EH	E	1EH	U	2EH	[S4]
0FH	F	1FH	V		

CODE93 Code Set

CODE128: There are the following 2 types of data input format.

The start code determines which type of data input format has been selected.

(1) Input the start code of 67H, 68H, or 69H shown in the table of CODE128 Code Set.

Then input any data from 00H to 66H. Multiple data can be input.

(2) Input the start code (START A, START B, or START C) of the code set to be selected shown in the table of CODE128 Special Code. Then input the data in the respective formats.

Code Set A	Data from 00H to 5FH can be input.
Code Set B	Data from 20H to 7FH can be input.
Code Set C	Data from 00H(00) to 63H(99) can be input.

As for the data corresponding to the special code, input it in 2 characters according to the table of CODE128 Special Code.

CODE128 Code Set

Input		Data		Input		Data		Input		Data	
input	CodeSet A	CodeSet B	CodeSet C	input	CodeSet A	CodeSet B	CodeSet C	input	CodeSet A	CodeSet B	CodeSet C
00H	SP	SP	00	24H	D	D	36	48H	BS	h	72
01H	!	!	01	25H	Е	Е	37	49H	HT	i	73
02H	"	"	02	26H	F	F	38	4AH	LF	j	74
03H	#	#	03	27H	G	G	39	4BH	VT	k	75
04H	\$	\$	04	28H	Н	Н	40	4CH	FF	_	76
05H	%	%	05	29H	I		41	4DH	CR	m	77
06H	&	&	06	2AH	J	J	42	4EH	SO	n	78
07H	1	1	07	2BH	K	K	43	4FH	SI	0	79
08H	((08	2CH	L	L	44	50H	DLE	р	80
09H))	09	2DH	М	М	45	51H	DC1	q	81
0AH	*	*	10	2EH	N	N	46	52H	DC2	r	82
0BH	+	+	11	2FH	0	0	47	53H	DC3	S	83
0CH	,	,	12	30H	Р	Р	48	54H	DC4	t	84
0DH	-	-	13	31H	Q	Q	49	55H	NAK	u	85
0EH			14	32H	R	R	50	56H	SYN	v	86
0FH	1	/	15	33H	S	S	51	57H	ETB	w	87
10H	0	0	16	34H	Т	Т	52	58H	CAN	х	88
11H	1	1	17	35H	U	U	53	59H	EM	у	89
12H	2	2	18	36H	V	V	54	5AH	SUB	Z	90
13H	3	3	19	37H	W	W	55	5BH	ESC	{	91
14H	4	4	20	38H	Х	Х	56	5CH	FS		92
15H	5	5	21	39H	Y	Y	57	5DH	GS	}	93
16H	6	6	22	3AH	Z	Z	58	5EH	RS	~	94
17H	7	7	23	3BH	[[59	5FH	US	DEL	95
18H	8	8	24	3CH	١	١	60	60H	FNC3	FNC3	96
19H	9	9	25	3DH]]	61	61H	FNC2	FNC2	97
1AH	:	:	26	3EH	۸	٨	62	62H	SHIFT	SHIFT	98
1BH	;	;	27	3FH			63	63H	CODE C	CODE C	99
1CH	<	<	28	40H	NUL	`	64	64H	CODE B	FNC4	CODE B
1DH	=	=	29	41H	SOH	а	65	65H	FNC4	CODE A	CODE A
1EH	>	>	30	42H	STX	b	66	66H	FNC1	FNC1	FNC 1
1FH	?	?	31	43H	ETX	С	67				
20H	@	@	32	44H	EOT	d	68	67H		START A	
21H	Α	A	33	45H	ENQ	е	69	68H		START B	
22H	В	В	34	46H	ACK	f	70	69H		START C	
23H	С	С	35	47H	BEL	g	71				

CODE128 Special Code

In	out	Data			
Code	ASCII	CodeSet A	CodeSet B	CodeSet C	
7B41H	{A	START A	CODE A	CODE A	
7B42H	{B	CODE B	START B	CODE B	
7B43H	{C	CODE C	CODE C	START C	
7B31H	{1	FNC1	FNC1	FNC1	
7B32H	{2	FNC2	FNC2	-	
7B33H	{3	FNC3	FNC3	-	
7B34H	{4	FNC4	FNC4	-	
7B53H	{S	SHIFT	SHIFT	-	
7B7BH	{{	-	'{'	-	

GS1 Databar Omni-directional, GS1 Databar Truncated, GS1 Databar Limited:

Enter 13 characters using numbers from '0' to '9'.

'01' at the beginning is automatically added, and the check digit is automatically calculated by the printer.

GS1 Databar Expanded:

Enter any number of characters using ' ', '!', '"', '%', '&', '", '(', ')', '*', '+', ',', '-', '.', '/', ':', ';', '<', '=', '>', '?', '_', '0' to '9', 'A' to 'Z', and 'a' to 'z'. Enter '{1' for FNC1.

Related Commands GS 'H', GS 'f', GS 'h', GS 'W'

6.4.7 Two-dimensional Barcode

GS 'n' n

Code 1DH 6EH n

Definition Range $2 \le n \le 8$ (number of dots)

Default n = 3

Function Sets the nominal narrow element width.

Related Commands GS 'p'

<u>G</u>S 'o' n

Set PDF Module Height

Code 1DH 6FH n

Definition Range $2 \le n \le 127$

Default n = 10

Function Sets the PDF module height in dots.

NotesWhen the module height is set too low, some barcode readers may not be able to read the
barcode.
The minimum height should be 3 dots or more in normal use.

GS 'p' 0 m2 e r c nl nh [d]k

Code 1DH 70H 00H m2 e r c nl nh [d]k

Definition Range $0 \le m2 \le 255$

 $\begin{array}{l} 0 \leq e \leq 8 \\ r = 0, \ 3 \leq r \leq 90 \\ c = 0, \ 1 \leq c \leq 30 \\ 0 \leq d \leq 255 \\ 0 \leq nl \leq 255, \ 0 \leq nh \leq 255 \\ 1 \leq k(= nh \times 256 + nl) \leq 499 \end{array}$

Function Prints PDF417 on the basis of the specified contents.

m2 = <*****0>B: PDF417 is in normal mode.

- m2 = <******1>B: PDF417 is in simple mode (Micro PDF is not supported).
- e: Error correction level
- r: Number of rows (0 is automatically set)
- c: Number of columns in the data area (0 is automatically set)
- nl, nh: Number of data bytes
- d: Data
- k: Number of data bytes specified by nl and nh
- Notes Only the LSB is valid for m2. Quiet zones are not secured. Set the quiet zone in accordance with the standard of each barcode system.

Related Commands GS 'n', GS 'o'

Print PDF417

Set Nominal Narrow Element Width

Set Module Size of Two-dimensional Barcode

DC2 ';' n

Code 12H 3BH n

Definition Range $2 \le n \le 16$

Default n = 6

Function Specifies the module size of QR Code, Data Matrix, GS1 Databar Stacked, GS1 Databar Stacked Omni-directional, and GS1 Databar Expanded Stacked. n: Number of dots for 1 side of the module size

Related Commands GS 'p' 1, GS 'p' 2, GS 'p' 4

GS 'p' 1 model e v mode nl nh [d]k

Print QR Code

Code 1DH 70H 01H model e v mode nl nh [d]k

Function Prints QR Code data on the basis of the specified contents.

- model: Model
- e: Error correction level 'L'(4CH), 'M'(4DH), 'Q'(51H), 'H'(48H)
- v: Version
 - v = 0: The version is automatically selected (depending on the number of input data bytes).
 - $1 \le v \le 18$: The version is fixed.

mode: Mode of data

mode	Hexadecimal	Mode of data
Ν	4E	Numerical mode
А	41	Alphanumeric mode
В	42	8-bit byte mode
К	4B	Kanji mode
М	4D	Mixed mode

- nl, nh: Number of data bytes
- d: QR Code input data
 - When using 2-byte code (such as Kanji and Hiragana), use Shift-JIS.
- k: Number of data bytes specified by nl and nh
- Notes When any value out of the definition range is specified, this command is ignored, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data.

The maximum value should be 1725 bytes or less depending on the model, the mode, and the error correction level. When any data exceeding the maximum value is specified, the data is discarded.

When the horizontal width of QR Code exceeds the print area, this command is ignored.

When there is data in the line buffer, this command is ignored.

Alignment and inversion (flip) printing are valid.

Quiet zones are not secured. Set the quiet zone in accordance with the standard of each barcode system.

GS 'p' 2 ecc row col nl nh [d]k

Code 1DH 70H 02H ecc row col nl nh [d]k Definition Range ecc = 00Hrow = 0, $8 \le row \le 144$ $col = 0, 10 \le col \le 144$ $1 \le k(= nh \times 256 + nl) \le 3116$ Function Prints a Data Matrix code on the basis of the specified contents. 00H (ECC200) (for future extensional function) ecc: Number of modules in the vertical direction row: When '0' is specified, this is defined automatically. Number of modules in the horizontal direction col. When '0' is specified, this is defined automatically. nl, nh: Number of data bytes d: Barcode data k: Number of data bytes specified by nl and nh Notes When any value other than the number of vertical and horizontal modules available in ECC200 is specified, this command is ignored. When k is out of the definition range, the subsequent data is processed as normal data. The maximum value varies depending on the number of modules in the vertical and horizontal directions and the data to be stored. When any data exceeding the maximum value is specified, the data is discarded. When the barcode size exceeds the print area, this command is ignored. When there is data in the line buffer, this command is ignored. Alignment and inversion (flip) printing are valid. Quiet zones are not secured. Set the quiet zone in accordance with the standard of each barcode system. The Structured Append is not supported. Only the following combinations of the number of modules in the vertical direction ('row') and the horizontal direction ('col') are valid. Squares ('row' × 'col') 10 × 10, 12 × 12, 14 × 14, 16 × 16, 18 × 18, 20 × 20, 22 × 22, 24 × 24, 26 × 26, 32 × 32, 36 × 36, 40 × 40, 44 × 44, 48 × 48, 52 × 52, 64 × 64, 72 × 72, 80 × 80, 88 × 88, 96 × 96, 104 × 104, 120 × 120, 132 × 132, 144 × 144 Rectangles ('row' × 'col') 8 × 18, 8 × 32, 12 × 26, 12 × 36, 16 × 36, 16 × 48

Related Commands ESC 'a', ESC '{'

GS 'p' 3 mode • • • n [d]k

Code	1DH 70H 03H 02H sc cc pc n [d]k	(mode 2)
	1DH 70H 03H 03H sc cc pc n [d]k	(mode 3)
	1DH 70H 03H 04H m [d]k	(mode 4)
	1DH 70H 03H 05H m [d]k	(mode 5)

Definition Range $1 \le n \le 126, 1 \le m \le 138$

Function Prints MaxiCode data on the basis of the specified contents.

Service class SC: In mode 2 and mode 3, specify sc in 3-digit numerals. CC: Country code In mode 2 and mode 3, specify cc in 3-digit numerals. Postal code pc: In mode 2, specify the postal code in 9-digit numerals. In order to specify less than 9 digits, specify data other than numerals for the remaining digits. In mode 3, specify the postal code in 6 alphanumeric characters. When the postal code is less than 6 characters, specify space for the remainder. Number of data bytes n. m: d: Barcode data Number of data bytes specified by n or m k: Notes When n or m is out of the definition range, the subsequent data is processed as normal data. Moreover, the maximum data value will be less than the maximum value of n or m depending on the mode, and when any data exceeding the maximum value is specified, the whole command is discarded. When the barcode size exceeds the print area, this command is ignored. When there is data in the line buffer, this command is ignored. Alignment and inversion (flip) printing are valid.

The print size of the barcode is fixed in vertical 199 dots × horizontal 209 dots. Quiet zones are not secured. Set the quiet zone in accordance with the standard of each barcode system.

The Structured Append is not supported.

Related Commands ESC 'a', ESC '{'

GS 'p' 4 0 n [d]n

Print GS1 Databar Stacked

Code 1DH 70H 04H 00H n [d]n

Definition Range $n = 13, 48 \le d \le 57$

Function Prints GS1 Databar Stacked data on the basis of the specified contents.

- n: Number of data bytes
- d: Input data of GS1 Databar

Enter 13 characters using numbers from '0' to '9'.

'01' at the beginning is automatically added, and the check digit is automatically calculated by the printer.

Notes When any value out of the definition range is specified, this command is ignored, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data. When the horizontal width of GS1 Databar exceeds the print area, this command is ignored.

> When there is data in the line buffer, this command is ignored. Alignment and inversion (flip) printing are valid.

Related Commands ESC 'a', ESC '{'

GS 'p' 4 1 h n [d]n

Print GS1 Databar Stacked Omni-directional

Code 1DH 70H 04H 01H h n [d]n

Definition Range $33 \le h \le 255$, n = 13, $48 \le d \le 57$

Function Prints GS1 Databar Stacked Omni-directional data on the basis of the specified contents. n: Number of data bytes

- h: Height of GS1 Databar Stacked Omni-directional in modules
- d: Input data of GS1 Databar

Enter 13 characters using numbers from '0' to '9'.

'01' at the beginning is automatically added, and the check digit is automatically calculated by the printer.

Notes When any value out of the definition range is specified, this command is ignored, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data.

When the horizontal width of GS1 Databar exceeds the print area, this command is ignored.

When there is data in the line buffer, this command is ignored. Alignment and inversion (flip) printing are valid.

Related Commands ESC 'a', ESC '{

GS 'p' 4 2 s n [d]n

Print GS1 Databar Expanded Stacked

Code 1DH 70H 04H 02H s n [d]n

Definition Range $2 \le s \le 20$ (even number only), $1 \le n \le 255$

Function Prints GS1 Databar Expanded Stacked on the basis of the specified contents.

- n: Number of data bytes
- s: Number of segments (Even number from 2 to 20)
- Notes When any value out of the definition range is specified, this command is ignored, and the subsequent data is processed as normal data. When the horizontal width of GS1 Databar exceeds the print area, this command is ignored.

When there is data in the line buffer, this command is ignored. Alignment and inversion (flip) printing are valid.

Related Commands ESC 'a', ESC '{'

6.4.8 Kanji

FS '&'	Specify Kanji Mode
Code	1CH 26H
Function	Specifies the Kanji mode.
Notes	When the Kanji code system is the Shift-JIS code system, inputting this command executes only the internal flag operation of the printer. In this case, printing is not affected. The Kanji code is processed in order of the 1st byte and the 2nd byte.
Related C	commands FS '.', FS 'C'

FS '.'

Cancel Kanji Mode

Specify Kanji Print Mode

Code 1CH 2EH

Function Cancels the Kanji mode.

Notes When the Kanji code system is the Shift-JIS code system, inputting this command executes only the internal flag operation of the printer. In this case, printing is not affected.

Related Commands FS '&', FS 'C'

FS '!' n

Code 1CH 21H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default n = 0

Function Specifies Kanji print modes in batch.

Bit	Function	Value		
БЦ		0	1	
0	Kanji font	Font A (24 × 24)	Font B (16 × 16)	
1	Undefined	-	-	
2	Double width	Cancel	Specify	
3	Double height	Cancel	Specify	
4	Undefined	-	-	
5	Undefined	-	-	
6	Undefined	-	-	
7	Underline	Cancel	Specify	

Notes

When both double height and double width are specified, the character size is quadrupled. When characters with different vertical scale exist on the same line, the characters are enlarged with the bottom edges of the characters as a reference, and so the bottom edges are aligned. When the character is enlarged horizontally, the character is enlarged in the right direction with the left edge of the character as a reference. Underline is applied to the entire character width including the right and left spaces of the character. However, no underline is applied to the portion skipped by the "Horizontal Tab" command (HT) or others and to 90° right rotated characters.

The underline width is the thickness set by the "Set Kanji Underline" command (FS '-') regardless of the character size.

When the underline width is not set by the "Set Kanji Underline" command (FS '-'), the width is 1 dot.

Print mode can also be specified or canceled by commands other than this command. However, the command processed last is valid. For example, when double height and double width are canceled by this command after quadrupled character is specified by the "Set Kanji Quadruple-Size" command (FS 'W'), the quadrupled character specified by the "Set Kanji Quadruple-Size" command (FS 'W') is canceled.

Related Commands FS '-', FS 'W', DC2 '.', GS '!'

FS '-' n

Set Kanji Underline

Code 1CH 2DH n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 2, 48 \le n \le 50$

Default n = 0

Function Sets Kanji underline.

n	Function	
0, 48	Cancel Kanji underline	
1, 49	Specify 1-dot Kanji underline	
2, 50	Specify 2-dot Kanji underline	

Notes Underline is applied to the entire character width including the left and right spaces of the character. However, no underline is applied to the portion skipped by the "Horizontal Tab" command (HT) or others and to 90° right rotated characters.

When Kanji underline is canceled with n = 0, underline is not applied to the subsequent Kanji data, but the underline width set before canceling is retained.

The Kanji underline width is constant as specified regardless of the character size. In addition to this command, Kanji underline can also be specified or canceled by the "Specify Kanji Print Mode" command (FS '!'). However, the command processed last is valid. For example, when Kanji underline is canceled by this command after specified by the "Specify Kanji Print Mode" command (FS '!'), the Kanji underline specified by the "Specify Kanji Print Mode" command (FS '!') is canceled.

Related Commands FS "!'

FS 'C' n

Code	1CH 43H n
------	-----------

Definition Range n = 0, 1, 48, 49

Default MS13-1 (Kanji Code System Selection) is JIS code: n = 0 MS13-1 (Kanji Code System Selection) is Shift-JIS code: n = 1

Function Selects the Kanji code system.

n	Function
0, 48	JIS code system
1, 49	Shift-JIS code system

Notes The Kanji codes valid in the JIS code system are as follows: The 1st byte: 21H to 7EH and 93H to 97H The 2nd byte: 21H to 7EH

> The Kanji codes valid in the Shift-JIS code system are as follows: The 1st byte: 81H to 9FH, E0H to EFH, and FAH to FCH The 2nd byte: 40H to 7EH and 80H to FCH

FS 'S' n1 n2

Set Kanji Spacing

Code 1CH 53H n1 n2

Definition Range $0 \le n1 \le 255, 0 \le n2 \le 255$

Default n1 = 0, n2 = 0

FunctionSets the left space (n1) and the right space (n2) of Kanji.The left space is [n1 × basic calculation pitch] inches, and the right space is [n2 × basic calculation pitch] inches.

NotesWhen double width is specified, the right and left spaces double from the setting amount.
The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P').
Moreover, once set, the Kanji spacing is not changed even when the basic calculation pitch is
changed by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P').
When the calculation result by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P') has fractions,
adjust with the minimum pitch of the printer, and round down the remainder.
The horizontal basic calculation pitch (x) is used.

Related Commands GS 'P'



FS 'W' n

Code	1CH 57H n
Definition	Range $0 \le n \le 255$
Default	n = 0
Function	Sets the quadrupled character of Kanji. n = <******0>B: The quadrupled character is canceled. n = <******1>B: The quadrupled character is specified.
Notes	Only the LSB is valid for n. Quadrupled characters are the characters for which double height and double width are specified simultaneously. When the quadrupled character is canceled using this command, the printer prints characters of normal size after the next character. When characters with different vertical scale exist on the same line, the characters are enlarged with the bottom edges of the characters as a reference, and so the bottom edges are aligned. When the character is enlarged horizontally, the character is enlarged in the right direction with the left edge of the character as a reference. In addition to this command, the quadrupled character can also be specified or canceled by simultaneously specifying double width and double height in the "Specify Kanji Print Mode" command (FS '!'). However, the command processed last is valid. For example, when the quadrupled character is canceled by this command after double height and double width are specified by the "Specify Kanji Print Mode" command (FS '!'), the specification in the "Specify Kanji Print Mode" command (FS '!') is canceled.

Related Commands FS "!'

DC2 '.' n

Code

Select Kanji Font

Definition Range n = 0, 1, 48, 49

12H 2EH n

Default n = 0

Function Selects Kanji font.

n	Function	
0, 48	Select font A (24 × 24)	
1, 49	Select font B (16 × 16)	

Notes The Kanji font can also be selected by the "Specify Kanji Print Mode" command (FS !!'), but the command processed command last is valid.

Related Commands FS "!'

Send 2-Byte Font ID

FS 'l' a b c

Code 1CH 49H a b c

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the information specified by c, the 2-byte font specified by a and b.

a: Font size

- b: Font type number
- c: Information

с	Function	Response Format	
0	Language	Character string	
1 Standard Charac		Character string	
2	2 Company name Character stri		
3	Checksum (4 bytes) HEX code		
4	4 Data size HEX code		
5	ROM ID	HEX code	

Notes When a or b is out of the definition range, only the header and footer of the response format of the selected function are sent.

Related Commands See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

FS '2' c1 c2 [d]k

Register User-Defined Character

Code 1CH 32H c1 c2 [d]k

Definition Range The definition range differs depending on the Kanji code system.

When JIS code system is specified: c1 = 77H $21H \le c2 \le 7EH$ $0 \le d \le 255$

When Shift-JIS code system is specified: c1 = ECH $40H \le c2 \le 7EH$, $80H \le c2 \le 9EH$ $0 \le d \le 255$

k = 72 (when font A 24 × 24 is selected) k = 32 (when font B 16 × 16 is selected)

Function Registers the user-defined character pattern of Kanji to the character code specified by c1 and c2.

When the character code in which the user-defined character has already been registered is specified, the character is overwritten.

The user-defined character is not registered at the factory.



Notesc1 and c2 indicate the Kanji code for registering user-defined characters; c1 is the 1st byte and
c2 is the 2nd byte.
d indicates the registration data. The bits that correspond to dots to print are 1, and the bits that
correspond to dots not to print are 0.
k indicates the number of registration data bytes. The data bytes differs depending on the
selected font size.
The memory usage m (including the amount of memory control information) is 9784 bytes.

Related Commands FS 'C'

DC2 'G' n

Release/Allocate User-Defined Character Area

Code 12H 47H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

FunctionReleases or allocates the user-defined character area.n = <******0>B:The user-defined character area is released.n = <******1>B:The user-defined character area is allocated.

Notes Only the LSB is valid for n.

User-defined characters are not printed when the user-defined character area is released. The user-defined character area is 9784 bytes. Releasing the user-defined character area cannot increase the remaining memory capacity.

The area can be used again as the user area by the "Defragment User Area" command (DC2 '*' '1').

To allocate again the user-defined character area once released, 9784 bytes or more is required for the remaining memory capacity. When the remaining memory capacity is insufficient, the user-defined character area is not allocated, and this command is ignored.

6.4.9 Auxiliary Functions

ESC '@'	Initialize Printer
Code	1BH 40H
Function	Clears the data in the line buffer and initializes the settings.
Notes	The information of the Function Settings is not re-read. The data in the input buffer is retained.
Related C	commands See "CHAPTER 7 INITIALIZATION".
DC2 '@'	Hardware Reset
Code	12H 40H
Function	Performs hardware reset.
Notes	Performs the same operation as when the power is turned on. When this command is executed during printing, printing is stopped, and reset is performed.
GS FF	Marked Paper Form Feed (Feed Paper to Cut Position)
Code	1DH 0CH
Function	Feeds the paper to the cut position after detecting the mark. The paper feed length is set to the setting values of MS8 to 9 (Mark Position Correction).
Notes	This command is valid only when the marked paper is selected. In addition, this command is valid only when it is input at the beginning of the line. Otherwise, it is ignored. Executing this command at the print start position does not feed the paper to the next print start position.
GS '<'	Marked Paper Form Feed (Feed Paper to Print Start Position)
Code	1DH 3CH
Function	Detects the mark after initialization and feeds the paper to the print start position. The paper feed length is set to the setting values of MS8 to 9 (Mark Position Correction).
Notes	This command is valid only when the marked paper is selected. When this command is executed at the print start position, the printer feeds the paper to the print start position after detecting the next mark.
GS 'A' m n	Correct Marked Paper Form Feed
Code	1DH 41H m n
Definition	Range $0 \le m \le 3, 48 \le m \le 51$ $0 \le n \le 255$

Function Corrects the marked paper form feed position with the correction amount in relation to the initial position.

m: Paper feed / Memory writing selection

m	Paper Feed / Memory Writing Selection	
0, 48	Forward	
1, 49	Backward	
2, 50	Forward, writing to the FLASH memory	
3, 51	Backward, writing to the FLASH memory	

n: Correction amount

The absolute position is [n × basic calculation pitch] inches.

The vertical basic calculation pitch (y) is used for calculating the correction amount.

Notes

This command is valid only when the marked paper is selected.

This command is executed only when it is input immediately after the marked paper form feed operation (FF, GS FF, GS '<', the FEED Switch operation, etc.). It is ignored when not input immediately after the form feed operation.

It is not possible to perform form feed to the position where the upper edge of the next mark goes beyond the mark sensor. When a correction amount exceeding the upper edge of the mark is set, the form feed position is the position where the sensor detects the lower edge of the mark.

When correction paper feed is performed, it is not possible to specify a smaller correction amount than the one set in MS8 to9 (Mark Position Correction). In this case, it is the correction amount set in MS8 to 9. When a larger correction amount than the one set in MS8 to 9 is specified, the correction amount specified by this command is used.

The basic calculation pitch is set with the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). The vertical basic calculation pitch (y) of "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P') is used for calculating the correction amount. Moreover, when the calculation result is a fractional figure, it is compensated using the printer's minimum pitch, and the remainder is discarded. Paper feed is performed for correction during execution of this command. The paper feed length depends on the set correction amount.

When writing to the FLASH memory is selected, the printer writes the number of corrected dot-lines to MS8 to 9 (Mark Position Correction). If the number of corrected dot-lines exceeds 2400 dot-lines in the forward and 68 dot-lines in the backward, the length of the mark position correction will be the maximum dot-line for each.

The printer is initialized after writing to the FLASH memory is completed.

When the form feed position is corrected, set the length from the paper edge to the print start position with a top margin of 4 mm or more. The print start position for marked paper may vary depending on the temperature, humidity or other conditions. When the length is set with insufficient margin, there may be a portion that is not printed due to changes of the print start position, or paper jam may occur.

In addition, set to the position that the next mark does not reach the sensor.

Related Commands FF, GS FF, GS '<', GS 'P'

GS 'C' '0' n m

Set Counter Print Mode

Code 1DH 43H 30H n m

Default n = 0, m = 0

Function Sets print mode of consecutive counter.

- n: Number of digits to print
 - n = 0: Only the actual number of digits of the counter value is printed.
 - At this time, the value of m does not affect the operation.
 - $n \neq 0$: The number of digits to print is set.
- m: Print position of the consecutive counter within the set number of digits

m	Print Position	Processing for Counter Value Lower Than Set Digits
0, 48	Aligned right	Add space(s) to left side
1, 49	Aligned right	Add '0' to left side
2, 50	Aligned left	Add space(s) to right side

NotesWhen the number of digits of the counter value is larger than the number of digits set in n, the
lower n digits of the counter value are printed.
When n or m is out of the definition range, this command is ignored, and the setting value does
not change.

Related Commands GS 'C' '1', GS 'C' '2', GS 'c'

GS 'C' '1' aL aH bL bH n r

Code 1DH 43H 31H aL aH bL bH n r

Definition Range $0 \le aL \le 255, 0 \le aH \le 255$ $0 \le bL \le 255, 0 \le bH \le 255$ $0 \le n \le 255$ $0 \le r \le 255$

Default aL = 1, aH = 0, bL = 255, bH = 255, n = 1, r = 1

Function Sets the count mode of the consecutive counter.

- n: Step magnitude during count-up or count-down
 - r: Number of repetitions with the counter value fixed

Notes	$[aH \times 256 + aL < bH \times 256 + bL and n \neq 0 and r \neq 0]$:	The count-up mode is set.
	[aH × 256 + aL > bH × 256 + bL and n ≠ 0 and r ≠ 0]:	The count-down mode is set.
	[aH × 256 + aL = bH × 256 + bL or n = 0 or r = 0]:	Count stop is set.
	For the count-up mode setting:	-
	[aH × 256 + aL] is the minimum counter value, a	and [bH × 256 + bL] is the maximum
	counter value. When the counter exceeds the m	naximum value, count-up from the
	minimum value starts again.	

 For the count-down mode setting: [aH × 256 + aL] is the maximum counter value, and [bH × 256 + bL] is the minimum counter value. When the counter is smaller than the minimum value, count-down from the maximum value starts again.

Related Commands GS 'C' 'O', GS 'C' '2', GS 'c'

GS 'C' '2' nl nh

Code 1DH 43H 32H nl nh

Definition Range $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 255$

Default nl = 1, nh = 0

Set Count Mode

Set Counter Value

Function Sets the consecutive counter value.

Notes

I and nh indicate the consecutive or

nl and nh indicate the consecutive counter value, and the counter value is [nh × 256 + nl].
For the count-up mode setting:
When the counter value set with this command falls outside the counter range set with

"Set Count Mode" command (GS 'C' '1'), the counter value is forcibly changed to the minimum value by execution of the "Print Counter " command (GS 'c').

· For the count-down mode setting:

When the counter value set with this command falls outside the counter range set with "Set Count Mode" command (GS 'C' '1'), the counter value is forcibly changed to the maximum value by execution of the "Print Counter " command (GS 'c').

Related Commands GS 'C' '0', GS 'C' '1', GS 'c'

GS 'c' Print Counter

Code 1DH 63H

Function Sets the consecutive counter value in the line buffer and updates the counter.

Notes After setting the current consecutive counter value as print data (character string) in the line buffer, the counter is updated according to the set count mode. The counter value set in the line buffer is printed through a print command or buffer full.

When the counter value is to be set in the line buffer and the value is out of the maximum or the minimum range, the value is set in the line buffer after resetting; the value is reset to the minimum if the count-up mode is set, or the value is reset to the maximum if the count-down mode is set.

When the updated counter value exceeds the range of the maximum value and the minimum value, the counter is reset to the minimum when the count-up mode is set, or to the maximum when the count-down mode is set.

Related Commands GS 'C' '0', GS 'C' '1', GS 'C' '2'

GS 'l' n

Send Printer ID

Code 1DH 49H n

Definition Range $1 \le n \le 3, 49 \le n \le 51, 65 \le n \le 67, 97 \le n \le 100$

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the specified printer ID.

n	Printer ID Type	Specifications	Response Format
1, 49	Printer model ID	25H	HEX code
2, 50	Туре ID	See Table [Type ID].	HEX code
3, 51	ROM version ID	Depends on ROM version.	HEX code
65	Firmware version (main)	x.xx.xx	Character string
66	Manufacturer	Seiko Instruments Inc.	Character string
67	Model name	See Table [Model name].	Character string
97	Firmware version (boot)	X.XX.XX	Character string
98	Firmware checksum (boot)	2 bytes checksum	HEX code
99	Firmware checksum (main)	2 bytes checksum	HEX code
100	Firmware checksum (main + boot)	2 bytes checksum	HEX code

Table [Type ID]

Bit	Information	Value		
ы	mormation	0	1	
0	Paper width selection	40 mm	58 mm	
1	Reserved	Fixed to 1		
2	Reserved	Fixed to 0		
3	Undefined	Fixed to 0		
4	Reserved	No	Yes	
5	Reserved	No	Yes	
6	Undefined	Fixed to 0		
7	Undefined	Fixed to 0		

Table [Model name]

Model name	Value
SLP720RT	SII SLP720RT Series.

Notes The printer ID is sent according to the response format. The printer ID is transmitted at the time of retrieving this command from the input buffer. A delay may occur in the slot from command reception to printer ID transmission depending on the input buffer state.

Cut Paper

ROM version ID is needed when the firmware of the printer is uploaded.

Related Commands See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

(1)GS 'V' m (2)GS 'V' m n

Code (1)1DH 56H m (2)1DH 56H m n

Definition Range(1)m = 0, 1, 48, 49 $(2)m = 65, 66, 0 \le n \le 255$

Function Feeds the thermal paper to the specified paper cut position and cuts the paper at the position.

m	Function
0, 48	Full cut
1, 49	Partial cut
65	Paper feed to cut position + [n × basic calculation pitch] and full cut
66	Paper feed to cut position + [n × basic calculation pitch] and partial cut

Notes The command configuration, code, definition range, and some notes differ depending on the value of m.

This command is valid only when input at the beginning of the line.

[(1) GS 'V' m]

Cuts the thermal paper with the specified cutting method.

[(2) GS 'V' m n]

n=0: The thermal paper is fed to the cut position and cut at the position.

 $n\neq 0$: The thermal paper is fed [n × basic calculation pitch] beyond the cut position and cut. The basic calculation pitch is set by the "Set Basic Calculation Pitch" command (GS 'P'). The vertical basic calculation pitch (y) is used for the paper feed length. Moreover, when the calculation result is a fractional figure, it is corrected using the minimum pitch of the printer, and the remainder is discarded.

When the Function Setting MS17-3 (Feed Backward Setting After Paper Cutting) is enabled and the Function Setting MS1-3 (Mark Mode Selection) is disabled, after this command and before the next print or paper feed command is executed, the thermal paper is fed backward automatically to minimize the margin.

Full cut

Partial cut

Stamp & Cut

Related Commands DC2 'w', DC2 'l'

ESC i

Code 1BH 69H

Function Cuts the thermal paper by full cutting.

Notes This command is valid only when input at the beginning of the line.

ESC m

- Code 1BH 6DH
- Function Cuts the thermal paper by partial cutting.

Notes This command is valid only when input at the beginning of the line.

GS 'Y' n

Code 1DH 59H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Function Prints the NV graphics registered with the key code '0' '0' at the center within the set printable area width, and then cuts the thermal paper.

 $n = <^{******}0>B$: The thermal paper is cut by full cutting.

 $n = <^{*******}1>B$: The thermal paper is cut by partial cutting.

Notes Only the LSB is valid for n.

The command is valid even when input in the middle of the line.

The following operations are performed according to the height of the NV graphics registered with the key code '0' '0'.

NV Graphics Height	Operation	
7.5 mm or less	2 mm paper feeding NV graphics printing Paper cutting 2 mm paper feeding	
7.625 to 9.375 mm	2 mm paper feeding NV graphics printing by 7.5 mm Paper cutting Remaining NV graphics printing (9.5 mm - NV graphics height) paper feeding	

NV Graphics Height	Operation	
9.5 mm or more	2 mm paper feeding NV graphic printing by 7.5 mm Paper cutting Remaining NV graphics printing	

When the NV graphics with key code '0' '0' is not registered, the initial cut is performed. Stamp & Cut performs stopping and cutting in the middle of NV graphics printing, so that the printing may be disturbed.

GS 'g' '0' m nl nh

Initialize Maintenance Counter

Code 1DH 67H 30H m nl nh

Definition Range m = 0 nh × 256 + nl = 20, 21, 50, 70

Function Sets the value of the specified resettable maintenance counter to 0. The maintenance counter saved in the FLASH memory is also set to 0. nl and nh specify the maintenance number as [nh × 256 + nl].

nh × 256 + nl		Counter Type	
Hexadecimal	Decimal	- Counter Type	
14H	20	Number of paper feed lines (unit: 100 dot-lines)	
15H	21	Number of thermal head activation times (unit: 100 dot-lines)	
32H	50	Number of autocutter drive times	
46H	70	Drive time of printer (unit: minute)	

NotesNote that frequent use of this command will shorten the life of the FLASH memory. The FLASH
memory can be rewritten approximately 100000 times.
The printer may turn to BUSY state while writing data to the FLASH memory with this command
processing. Do not transmit data from the host since the printer stops data receiving while in
BUSY state.

Do not turn off the power while executing this command.

Related Commands GS 'g' '1', GS 'g' '2'

GS 'g' '1' m

Save Maintenance Counter

Code 1DH 67H 31H m

Definition Range m = 0

Function Saves all maintenance counter values in the FLASH memory.

Notes The number of paper feed lines and the number of thermal head activation times are saved at a value of 1/100.

The maintenance counter is automatically saved at 2-minute intervals without using this command.

Note that frequent use of this command will shorten the life of the FLASH memory. The FLASH memory can be rewritten approximately 100000 times.

Do not turn off the power while executing this command.

Related Commands GS 'g' '0', GS 'g' '2'

Send Maintenance Counter

GS 'g' '2' m nl nh

Code 1DH 67H 32H m nl nh

Definition Range m = 0 nh × 256 + nl = 20, 21, 50, 70, 148, 149, 178, 198

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the maintenance counter value. nl and nh specify the maintenance number as [nh × 256 + nl].

nh × 256 + nl			
Hexadecimal	Decimal	- Counter Type	
14H	20	Number of paper feed lines (unit: 100 dot-lines)	
15H	21	Number of thermal head activation times (unit: 100 dot-lines)	
32H	50	Number of autocutter drive times	
46H	70	Drive time of printer (unit: minute)	
94H	148	Number of paper feed lines (integrated value) (unit: 100 dot-lines)	
95H	149	Number of thermal head activation times (integrated value) (unit: 100 dot-lines)	
B2H	178	Number of autocutter drive times (integrated value)	
C6H	198	Drive time of printer (integrated value) (unit: minute)	

NotesThe maintenance counter value is sent by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.
The number of data bytes to be sent is 2 bytes of header and footer + 4 × 2 = 10 bytes.
The number of thermal head activation times is not counted for the paper feed with the FEED
Switch. The number is counted for the paper feed with printing action, or the paper feed by the
"Line Feed" command (LF), the page print command, and so on.

Related Commands GS 'g' '0', GS 'g' '1', GS 'a'

DC2 '*' '1' n

Defragment User Area

Code 12H 2AH 31H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

FunctionDefragments the user area (FLASH memory), and allocates the free area of memory. $n = <^{******}0>B$:The printer defragments the user area without progress response. $n = <^{*******}1>B$:The printer defragments the user area with progress response.

NotesIn the user area, releasing the area or deleting data cannot increase the remaining memory
capacity. The area can be used again as the user area by this command.
When n = 1, the printer sends the progress situation during execution of this command. The
proportion of the remaining amount of data movement in the user area is sent as progress
situation response. Note that the value of progress situation is a reference. The processing time
of 1 data movement varies depending on the amount of data registered in the user area.
The FLASH memory can be rewritten approximately 100000 times. Execute this command after
the free area of memory becomes low in order to effectively use the number of rewritable times.

Related Commands See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

Send Remaining User Area

Code 12H 2AH 32H

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the remaining memory capacity of the user area (FLASH memory) by 4 bytes in a HEX code format. The number of data bytes to be sent is 2 bytes of header and footer $+ 4 \times 2 = 10$ bytes.

Notes The memory capacity of the unused area excluding the released area is sent by HEX code.

Related Commands See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

DC2 '*' '6'

Send Remaining User Area after Defragment

Code 12H 2AH 36H

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the remaining memory capacity after defragmenting the user area by 4 bytes in a HEX code format. The number of data bytes to be sent is 2 bytes of header and footer $+ 4 \times 2 = 10$ bytes.

Notes This command does not defrag the user area. The memory capacity of the unused area including the released area is sent by HEX code.

Related Commands See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

DC2 'R' n

Code 12H 52H n

Definition Range n = 1

Function Initializes the user area (FLASH memory).

Notes All user-defined characters, downloaded characters, optional fonts, downloaded bit images, NV graphics, User page 1-byte fonts, and User page international characters are cleared and returned to the initial state. (The area for user-defined characters and downloaded characters are allocated.)

> The Function Settings and the maintenance counter are not initialized. When n is out of the definition range, this command is ignored.

DC2 'k' f [d]k NUL

Code 12H 6BH f [d]k 00H

Definition Range f = 0, 128 $0 \le d \le 255$ k = 40

Function Sets all MS in a batch.

> Sets the following function. The setting value is valid from when the command is executed. f = 00H: Does not write to the system area of the FLASH memory at the same time as setting.

f = 80H: Writes to the system area of the FLASH memory at the same time as setting.

Specify the total 40 bytes of MS1 to 40 continuously.

Change Function Settings

Initialize User Area

DC2 '*' '2'

NotesDo not set f = FFH. The printer may not work properly.The printer is initialized after execution of this command.However, initialization operation of the cutter is not performed.Do not turn off the power while executing this command.See "Chapter 4 Function Settings" for each content of MS.

Related Commands DC2 'w'

DC2 'w' f [d]k NUL

Change Function Settings

Code 12H 77H f [d]k 00H

Definition Range

 $0 \le d \le 255$ $0 \le f \le 255$ (See the following functions.) k = 40 (f = 00H, f = 80H), k = 1 (other than left value)

Function Sets the MS.

The MSB of f has the meaning below.

- f = 00H: Does not write to the system area of the FLASH memory at the same time as setting.
- f = 80H: Writes to the system area of the FLASH memory at the same time as setting.

MS	f		Function
All MS	00H	80H	40 Bytes All Writing
1	01H	81H	General Setting 1
2	02H	82H	(Reserved)
3	03H	83H	(Reserved)
4	04H	84H	General Setting 4
5	05H	85H	General Setting 5
6	06H	86H	General Setting 6
7	07H	87H	General Setting 7
8, 9	08H, 09H	88H, 89H	Mark Position Correction
10, 11	0AH, 0BH	8AH, 8BH	Mark Detection Maximum Feeding Length Setting
12	0CH	8CH	Mark Detection Threshold Value
13	0DH	8DH	Command Setting
14	0EH	8EH	(Reserved)
15	0FH	8FH	International Character Setting
16	10H	90H	Character Code Table Setting
17	11H	91H	General Setting 17
18 to 38	12H to 26H	92H to A6H	(Reserved)
39	-	A7H	(Reserved)
40	-	A8H	(Reserved)
-	7FH	FFH	(Prohibited)

NotesThe printer is initialized after execution of this command.
However, initialization operation of the cutter is not performed.
Do not turn off the power while executing this command.
Execute software reset or hardware reset to enable the setting.
See "Chapter 4 Function Settings" for details of each function.

DC2 'l' n

st

Test Print

Code	12H 6CH n
Definition	Range n = 0
Function	In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the MS setting.
Notes	Sends the values of all MS currently set. See "Chapter 4 Function Settings" for the meaning of MS.
	The response is sent by 40 bytes in a HEX code format. The number of data bytes to be sent is 2 bytes of header and footer + 40 × 2 = 82 bytes.
Related C	Commands DC2 'w' See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".
DC2 'q' n	Execution Response Reques

Code 12H 71H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

- Function At the moment that this command has been processed, the printer sends the specified response code.
- Notes Specify the response code by n. The low order 4 bits are valid for n. The code to be sent is the code from 80H to 8FH, which is the logical sum of the low order 4 bits of the specified n and 80H.

The printer has an input buffer of 4096 bytes, and input and execution of command/data are not synchronized. Therefore, the command execution completion cannot be confirmed from outside. This command enables the completion of command execution to be confirmed from outside. To confirm the end of the command, input this command following those commands. The response to this command is sent after the command input immediately before is ended.

Related Commands See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

DC2 't'

Code 12H 74H

Function Performs a test print.

Notes All setting values by commands are initialized. The line buffer is cleared when the test print is executed.

ESC 'c' '4' n

Select Paper Sensor to Stop Printing

Code 1BH 63H 34H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default n = 0

Function This command has no meaning for the printer. This command is ignored.

Enable/Disable Panel Switch

ESC 'c' '5' n

Code	1BH 63H 35H n
Definition	Range 0 ≤ n ≤ 255
Default	n = 0
Function	Enables or disables the panel switch (FEED Switch). n = <*****0>B: The panel switch is enabled. n = <*****1>B: The panel switch is disabled.
Notes	Only the LSB is valid for n. This command affects the FEED Switch operation.
Related C	Commands GS '^'
GS 'r' n	

Send Status Data

Code 1DH 72H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 11$

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the specified status data.

(NOTE) Reserved values in the following tables may be changed.

D:4	Function	Va	Value		
Bit	Function	0	1		
0	Voltage error	No	Yes		
1	Hardware error	No	Yes		
2	Head temperature error	No	Yes		
3	Cutter error	No	Yes		
4	Identifier	Fixe	Fixed to 0		
5	Identifier	Fixe	Fixed to 1		
6	Identifier	Fixe	Fixed to 0		
7	Identifier	Fixe	Fixed to 1		

Printer Status 1 (n = 0)

Printer Status 2 (n = 1)

Bit	Function	Value		
	Function	0	1	
0	Out-of-paper error	No	Yes	
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0		
2	Paper jam error while detecting mark	No	Yes	
3	Cover open error	No	Yes	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0		
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1		
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0		
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1		

Printer Status 3 (n = 2)

Bit	Function	Value	
ы		0	1
0	FEED Switch status	OFF	ON
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
2	Paper feed status	Stop	Operating
3	Return-waiting status	No	Yes
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Option Sensor Status (n = 3)

Bit	Function	Value	
ы		0	1
0	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
1	Taken sensor status	Paper removed	Paper removal wairing
2	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Printer Status 4 (n = 4)

Bit	Function	Value	
		0	1
0	Rewriting FLASH memory ^{*1}	No	Yes
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
2	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

*1: The value is 1 (Yes) during writing to and deleting from the FLASH memory.

Reserved (n = 5 to 7)

Bit	Function	Value	
Ы		0	1
0	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
1	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
2	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Paper Sensor Status (n = 8)

Bit	Function	Value	
ы		0	1
0	Cover open sensor	Closed	Open
1	Out-of-paper sensor	Yes	No
2	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Cutter Status (n = 9)

Bit	Function	Value	
		0	1
0	Cutter work lock error	No	Yes
1	Cutter home lock error	No	Yes
2	Cutter error history	No	Yes
3	Autocutter driving	Stop	Driving
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed	d to 1

Reserved (n = 10 to 11)

D:4	Function	Value		
Bit		0	1	
0	Reserved	Fixed to 0		
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0		
2	Reserved	Fixed to 0		
3	Reserved	Fixed to 0		
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0		
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1		
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0		
7	Identifier	Fixed	to 1	

Notes A delay may occur between command reception and status transmission depending on the input buffer state because this command is executed at the time of retrieving from the input buffer.

Related Commands GS 'a' See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

GS 'a' n

Enable/Disable Automatic Status Back

Code 1DH 61H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Default	MS5-1 (Automatic Status Response Selection) is disabled:	n = 00H
	MS5-1 (Automatic Status Response Selection) is enabled:	n = FFH

Function Selects the status items to be sent by ASB (Automatic Status Back).

Dit	Function	Value	
Bit		0	1
0	Printer status 1	Disable	Enable
1	Printer status 2	Disable	Enable
2	Printer status 3	Disable	Enable
3	Option sensor status	Disable	Enable
4	Printer status 4	Disable	Enable
5	Reserved	-	-
6	Reserved	-	-
7	Reserved	-	-

Notes

When any one of the status items is enabled, the status data at the time of executing this command is sent. After that, the status data is sent each time the state of the enabled status item changes. At this time, since each status item shows the current state, the state may change even with the status item for which ASB is not enabled.

When all status items are disabled, the ASB function becomes disabled.

When the ASB function is enabled in the initial state, the status at the first time that the printer communication becomes available after turning on the power is sent.

The 8-byte status is always continuous except for Xoff code.

Because this command is executed when retrieved from the input buffer, a delay may occur between command reception and status transmission depending on the input buffer status. The status data is sent only to the interface currently selected.

When the cable is connected, the status data is sent right after connecting.

The high order 4 bits of all bytes are identifiers to distinguish from other responses. For the identifier, the 1st byte is CxH (1100xxxx), and the 2nd byte to the 8th byte are DxH (1101xxxx). When the code CxH is sent from the printer as a response, treat the continuous 8 bytes including the response (except Xoff) as the status from the ASB function.

(NOTE) Reserved values in the following tables may be changed.

(1) The 1st Byte (Printer Status 1)

Dit	Function	Value	
Bit		0	1
0	Voltage error	No	Yes
1	Hardware error	No	Yes
2	Head temperature error	No	Yes
3	Cutter error	No	Yes
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
7	Identifier	Fixed	d to 1

(2) The 2nd Byte (Printer Status 2)

Bit	Function	Value	
		0	1
0	Out-of-paper error	No	Yes
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
2	Paper jam error while detecting mark	No	Yes
3	Cover open error	No	Yes
4	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

(3) The 3rd Byte (Printer Status 3)

Dit	Function	Value	
Bit		0	1
0	FEED Switch status	OFF	ON
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
2	Paper feed status	Stop	Operating
3	Return-waiting status	No	Yes
4	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

(4) The 4th Byte (Option Sensor Status)

Bit	Function	Value	
		0	1
0	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
1	Taken sensor status	Paper removed	Paper removal waiting
2	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

(5) The 5th Byte (Printer Status 4)

Bit	Function	Value	
		0	1
0	Rewriting FLASH memory ^{*1}	No	Yes
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
2	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

*1: The value is 1 (Yes) during writing to and deleting from the FLASH memory.

Bit	Function	Value	
		0	1
0	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
1	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
2	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

(6) The 6th Byte to the 8th Byte (Reserved)

Related Commands GS 'r', DC2 'w', DC2 'l' See "6.3 RESPONSE DATA".

DC2 '0' 'c' n

Send Error History

Code 12H 30H 63H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$

Function The printer records an error as a history when it occurs. In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the error history by HEX code.

> Specify the target history number by n. When the specified history number does not contain data, 00H data is sent.

Executing this command stops collecting the error history. To resume collecting error history, specify again the data of history number that has been once specified, or read data of n = 255.

The data sent in the error history is as follows: The 1st to 4th byte: Elapse time (seconds) after turning on the power The 5th to 12th byte: Response value of automatic status response

Notes The number of data bytes to be sent is 2 bytes of header and footer + 12 × 2 = 26 bytes.
DC3 '(' 'c' 'l' 'r' ')'

Code 13H 28H 63H 6CH 72H 29H

- Function The printer clears the input buffer and the line buffer upon receiving this command and returns from parameter waiting.
- Notes This is a realtime command.

This command is executed only at an error.

This command is executed only when Data Discard Selection When Error Occurs is enabled. The operation of this command differs depending on the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection).

- When the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection) is enabled: This command is valid.
 - Notes when using a realtime command:

The user should note that the same behavior as this command occurs when the code line matching the code that comprises this command is received. For example, graphics data contains such code line.

 When the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection) is disabled: This command is invalid.

DC3 '(' 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' DC3 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' ')'

Printer Reset

Clear Buffer at Error

Code 13H 28H 72H 65H 73H 65H 74H 13H 72H 65H 73H 65H 74H 29H

Function Resets the printer.

Performs the same operation as when the power is turned on. (For USB connection, communication is not disconnected, but the buffer is cleared.)

Notes This is a realtime command.

The operation of this command differs depending on the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection).

• When the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection) is enabled: This command is valid.

After sending this command, do not send any data until the initialization is completed by the reset.

Notes when using a realtime command:

The user should note that the same behavior as this command occurs when the code line matching the code that comprises this command is received. For example, graphics data contains such code line.

 When the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection) is disabled: This command is invalid.

DC2 '~' n

Set Print Speed

Code 12H 7EH n

Definition Range $70 \le n \le 130$

Function Sets the print density.

Notes The print density can be adjusted by setting the energy applied to the thermal head in the range of 70% to 130% of the rated energy. However, if the print density that exceeds the rating (100%) is set, the thermal head life may not be satisfied.

When n is out of the definition range, this command is ignored, and the setting value does not change.

The initial state can be selected from 70% to 130% using the Function Setting MS6-1 to 8 (Print Density Selection).

Excessive printing energy may shorten the life of the thermal head or may cause a paper feed problem, so set the thermal paper selection and print density selection accurately. If the thermal paper to use is different from the one selected, or the print density selection is other than 100%, the reliability of the product specification may not be satisfied.

GS 's' n

Code 1DH 73H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 3$

Function Sets the print speed.

n	Speed Setting	
0	High	
1	Middle	
2	Reserved	
3	Reserved	

High:Drives at the maximum print speed of 200 mm/s.Middle:Decreases the maximum print speed for printing image to 100 mm/s to
improve the print quality. Printing of image includes the following:
Raster bit image, NV graphics, downloaded bit image, bit image mode, barcode,
two-dimensional barcode

Notes The speed may be lower than the selected maximum speed due to environmental temperature, communication method, and so on. The initial state can be selected using the Function Setting MS4-7 (Maximum Print Speed Selection).

GS 'O'

Execute Power Off

 Code
 1DH 4FH

 Function
 Performs power off processing after the value of the maintenance counter is saved and the interface goes offline. No data is processed after this command is executed.

 Notes
 To return to the printable state, the POWER Switch should be turned on again.

DC2 'u' 0

Code 12H 75H 00H

Function Sets the printer's serial number to iSerialNumber.

Notes It may break the FLASH memory when this command is frequently used. Use this command only when the printer is installed, and do not use the command in normal operation.

DC2 'u' 1 [d]k NUL

Set iSerialNumber

Code 12H 75H 01H [d]k 00H

Definition Ranged: 1-byte alphanumeric character $1 \le k \le 10$

FunctionSets any character string to iSerialNumber.The character string can be set with 1 to 10 characters.'0' to '9' (30H to 39H), 'A' to 'Z' (41H to 5AH) and 'a' to 'z' (61H to 7AH) can be specified for d.

Notes When multiple printers use the same iSerialNumber, do not connect the printers to the host at the same time.

Do not set characters other than 1-byte characters.

It may break the FLASH memory when this command is frequently used.

Use this command only when the printer is installed, and do not use the command in normal operation.

SYN ESC 'I' 'F' 'W' 'L' p1 p2 p3 p4 fn n Send Wireless LAN Communication Setting

Code 16H 1BH 49H 46H 57H 4CH p1 p2 p3 p4 fn n

Definition Range

p1 = 2, p2 = 0, p3 = 0, p4 = 0fn = 0 See "Function" below for n.

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the setting value of each item of Wireless LAN.

Specify the item number to send for n.

The setting items, the numbers of response bytes, and the response forms are as shown in the following table. When n is out of the definition range, this command is ignored.

n	Item	Number of Response Bytes	Response Format
0	MAC Address	14	HEX code
1	Country	4	HEX code
16	IP Address value	10	HEX code
17	Subnet Mask value	10	HEX code
18	Gateway Address value	10	HEX code
32	Wireless LAN Standard	4	HEX code
33	Channel	4	HEX code
34	Client / Simple AP	4	HEX code
35	SSID	2 to 34	Character string

n	Item	Number of Response Bytes	Response Format
36	Security	4	HEX code
37	WEP encryption key	4	HEX code
64	IP Address	10	HEX code
65	Subnet Mask	10	HEX code
66	Gateway Address	10	HEX code
67	DHCP Enable/Disable	4	HEX code
68	DHCP Timeout	6	HEX code
70	Receive Timeout	6	HEX code

MAC Address

Sends 6-byte address by 14 bytes in a HEX code format.

Country

Sends 1 byte of the following setting value by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.

Setting Value	Country
1	USA, Canada
2	Japan
3	EU, EFTA, UK, Turkey

IP Address value

Sends the 4-byte IP address actually used in the communication by 10 bytes in a HEX code format. To retrieve the IP address set in the printer, use "IP Address" with n = 64.

Subnet Mask value

Sends the 4-byte subnet mask actually used in the communication by 10 bytes in a HEX code format. To retrieve the subnet mask set in the printer, use "Subnet Mask" with n = 65.

Gateway Address value

Sends the 4-byte gateway address actually used in the communication by 10 bytes in a HEX code format. To retrieve the gateway address set in the printer, use "Gateway Address" with n = 66.

The printer sends the IP address, the subnet mask and the gateway address actually used (for example, the address retrieved from the DHCP server when the printer is a DHCP client) for IP Address value, Subnet Mask value, and Gateway Address value.

Wireless LAN Standard

Sends 1 byte of 1 when IEEE802.11b/g/n is selected, or 1 byte of 2 when IEEE802.11a/n is selected, by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.

Channel

Sends 1 byte of any of the following channel numbers by 4 bytes in a HEX code format. 1 to 11, 12^{*1}, 13^{*1}, 36, 40, 44, 48

*1: Only for use in Japan, EU, EFTA, and UK.

When the channel is set to Auto, the printer sends 0 by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.

Client / Simple AP

Sends 1 byte of 0 when Client Mode is selected, or 1 byte of 1 when Simple AP Mode is selected, by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.

SSID

Sends 0 to 32-byte character code of SSID by 2 to 34 bytes in a character string format.

Security

Sends 1 byte of the following setting value by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.

Setting Value	Selected Security
0	None
8	WEP
9	WPA PSK(TKIP)
10	WPA PSK(AES)
11	WPA2 PSK(TKIP)
12	WPA2 PSK(AES)
13	WPA Enterprise PEAP
14	WPA Enterprise TTLS
15	WPA2 Enterprise PEAP
16	WPA2 Enterprise TTLS

WEP encryption key

Sends 1 byte of the key number 1 to 4 by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.

IP Address

Sends the 4-byte IP address set in the printer by 10 bytes in a HEX code format.

Subnet Mask

Sends the 4-byte subnet mask set in the printer by 10 bytes in a HEX code format.

Gateway Address

Sends the 4-byte gateway address set in the printer by 10 bytes in a HEX code format.

DHCP Enable/Disable

Sends 1 byte of 0 when DHCP is disabled, or 1 byte of 1 when DHCP is enabled, by 4 bytes in a HEX code format.

DHCP Timeout Sends 2-byte timeout period 1 to 300 (seconds) by 6 bytes in a HEX code format.

Receive Timeout Sends 2-byte timeout period 60 to 300 (seconds) by 6 bytes in a HEX code format.

Notes This command is valid only for the Wireless LAN model. It is ignored in other models.

SYN ESC 'l' 'F' 'W' 'L' p1 p2 p3 p4 fn n [d]k

Set Wireless LAN Communication

Code 16H 1BH 43H 4DH 57H 4CH p1 p2 p3 p4 fn n [d]k

Definition Range $p4 \times 16777216 + p3 \times 65536 + p2 \times 256 + p1 = 2 + k$ fn = 1See "Function" below for n, d, and k.

Function Performs the various settings of Wireless LAN.

Specify the item number to set for n. The value of k (p1 to p4) available for specifying is determined by the setting item. The values of n and k available for specifying are listed in the following table. When n or k is out of the definition range, this command is ignored.

n	Item	k
32	Wireless LAN Standard	1
33	Channel	1
34	Client / Simple AP	1
35	SSID	0 to 32
36	Security	1
37	WEP encryption key selection	1
64	IP Address	4
65	Subnet Mask	4
66	Gateway Address	4
67	DHCP Enable/Disable	1
68	DHCP Timeout	2
70	Receive Timeout	2
128	WEP encryption key setting	1, 6, 11, 14, 27
129	Encryption key	0, 8 to 64
130	User name	0 to 16
131	Password	0 to 16
132	Root certificate	0 to 32768
255	Default Setting	0

Wireless LAN Standard

Specify d = 0 when disabling the Wireless LAN function, d = 1 when selecting IEEE802.11b/g/n, or d = 2 when selecting IEEE802.11a/n.

When d is not within $0 \le d \le 2$, this command is ignored.

At the factory, this setting is IEEE802.11b/g/n.

Channel

Specify d = 0 when setting to Auto, or specify one of the following channel numbers for d when specifying the channel number.

1 to 11, 12^{*1}, 13^{*1}, 36, 40, 44, 48

*1: Only for use in Japan, EU, EFTA, and UK.

When d is other than above, this command is ignored. At the factory, this setting is Auto.

Client / Simple AP

Specify d = 0 when selecting Client or d = 1 when selecting Simple AP. When d is not within $0 \le d \le 1$, this command is ignored. At the factory, this setting is Simple AP. SSID

Specify SSID in [d]k with 0 to 32-byte character string. The ASCII printable characters (except '`'(60H) and '\$'(24H)) can be specified for d. When d is other than above, this command is ignored. At the factory, this setting is "SII-Printer".

Security

Specify the following values for d.

When d is other than the following values, this command is ignored. At the factory, this setting is None.

d	Selected security	
0	None	
8	WEP	
9	WPA PSK(TKIP)	
10	WPA PSK(AES)	
11	WPA2 PSK(TKIP)	
12	WPA2 PSK(AES)	
13	WPA Enterprise PEAP	
14	WPA Enterprise TTLS	
15	WPA2 Enterprise PEAP	
16	WPA2 Enterprise TTLS	

WEP encryption key selection

Select the key number 1 to 4 for d. Specify when Security is set to WEP 40bit or WEP 128bit.

When d is not within $1 \le d \le 4$, this command is ignored. At the factory, this setting is 1.

IP Address

Specify the 4-byte address from higher byte in order from d1 to d4. At the factory, this setting is 192.168.0.1.

Subnet Mask

Specify the 4-byte subnet mask from higher byte in order from d1 to d4. At the factory, this setting is 255.255.255.0.

Gateway Address

Specify the 4-byte address from higher byte in order from d1 to d4. At the factory, this setting is 0.0.0.0.

DHCP Enable/Disable

Specify d = 0 when disabling DHCP or d = 1 when enabling it. It is valid only when in Client mode.

Selecting DHCP Disable in this command disables the DHCP client function, and the printer operates with the values set for "IP Address", "Subnet Mask", and "Gateway Address". Selecting DHCP Enable in this command enables the DHCP client function, and the printer operates with the IP address, the subnet mask or gateway address retrieved from the DHCP server.

When d is not within $0 \le d \le 1$, this command is ignored. At the factory, the setting is the DHCP enabled.

DHCP Timeout

Specify the timeout period 1 to 300 (seconds) in d1 and d2 (Timeout period = $d2 \times 256 + d1$). When d is not within $1 \le d2 \times 256 + d1 \le 300$, this command is ignored. At the factory, this setting is 11 seconds. **Receive Timeout**

Specify the timeout period 60 to 300 (seconds) in d1 and d2 (Timeout period = $d2 \times 256 + d1$). When d is not within $60 \le d2 \times 256 + d1 \le 300$, this command is ignored. At the factory, this setting is 300 seconds.

WEP encryption key setting

Specify the key number 1 to 4 for d1.

When Security is set to WEP 40bit and specifying a character string to the WEP encryption key, specify 5-byte character string in d2 to d6 (k = 6). When specifying a HEX string to the WEP encryption key, specify 10-byte HEX string in d2 to d11 (k = 11).

When Security is set to WEP 40bit and specifying a character string to the WEP encryption key, specify 13-byte character string in d2 to d14 (k = 14). When specifying a HEX string to the WEP encryption key, specify 26-byte HEX string in d2 to d27 (k = 27).

When canceling the WEP encryption key registration, do not specify d2 or later (k = 1). The ASCII printable characters (except ''(60H) and '(24H)) can be specified for the WEP encryption key.

When [d]k is not within the range above, this command is ignored. At the factory, no WEP encryption key is registered.

Encryption key

Specify the encryption key in [d]k.

When specifying a character string to the encryption key, specify 8 to 63-byte character string in $[d]k (8 \le k \le 63)$.

When specifying a HEX string to the encryption key, specify 64-byte HEX string in [d]k (k = 64). When canceling the encryption key registration, do not specify d (k = 0).

The ASCII printable characters can be specified for the encryption key.

When [d]k is not within the range above, this command is ignored.

At the factory, no encryption key is registered.

User name

Specify the user name in [d]k with 0 to 16 bytes. The ASCII printable characters can be specified for the user name. When [d]k is not within the range above, this command is ignored. At the factory, no user name is registered.

Password

Specify the password in [d]k with 0 to 16 bytes. The ASCII printable characters can be specified for the password. When [d]k is not within the range above, this command is ignored. At the factory, no password is registered.

Root certificate

Specify the root certificate in [d]k with 0 to 32768 bytes ($0 \le d \le 255$). When k is not within $0 \le k \le 32768$, this command is ignored. At the factory, no root certificate is registered.

When n = 255 is specified, the above settings are restored at the factory.

The above settings are saved in the FLASH memory. After setting, turn on the power again or execute hardware reset to reflect the settings.

Notes For p1 to p4, specify the number of bytes after fn in 32-bit value (0 to 2^{32} -1). From the lower byte to higher byte of the 32-bit value are specified in order from p1 to p4. For example, when k = 32768, 2 + k = 32770 = 00008002H, and then p1 = 02H, p2 = 80H, p3 = 00H and p4 = 00H. d1 to dn indicate the 1st byte, the 2nd byte, and the nth byte of [d]k respectively. This command is valid only for Wireless LAN model. It is ignored in other models.

DEL EOT n

Code 10H 04H n

Definition Range $0 \le n \le 11$

Function In response to the request of this command, the printer sends the specified status data.

(NOTE) Reserved values in the following tables may be changed.

D:4	Function	Value	
Bit		0	1
0	Voltage error	No	Yes
1	Hardware error	No	Yes
2	Head temperature error	No	Yes
3	Cutter error	No	Yes
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Printer Status 1 (n = 0)

Printer Status 2 (n = 1)

Bit	Function	Value	
		0	1
0	Out-of-paper error	No	Yes
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
2	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
3	Cover open error	No	Yes
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Printer Status 3 (n = 2)

Bit	Function	Value	
ы		0	1
0	FEED Switch status	OFF	ON
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
2	Paper feed status	Stop	Operating
3	Return-waiting status	No	Yes
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Option Sensor Status (n = 3)

Bit	Function	Value	
		0	1
0	Reserved	Fixed	d to 0
1	Taken sensor status	Paper removed	Paper removal waiting
2	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Printer Status 4 (n = 4)

Bit	Function	Value	
DIL		0	1
0	Rewriting FLASH memory ^{*1}	No	Yes
1	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
2	Reserved	Fixed to 0	
3	Reserved	Fixed to 1	
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

*1: The value is 1 (Yes) during writing to and deleting from the FLASH memory.

Reserved (n = 5 to 7)

Dit	Function	Value	
Bit		0	1
0	Reserved	Fixed	to 1
1	Reserved	Fixed	to 1
2	Reserved	Fixed	to 1
3	Reserved	Fixed	to 1
4	Identifier	Fixed	to 0
5	Identifier	Fixed	to 1
6	Identifier	Fixed	to 0
7	Identifier	Fixed	to 1

Paper Sensor Status (n = 8)

Bit	Function	Value	
DIL		0	1
0	Cover open sensor	Closed	Open
1	Out-of-paper sensor	Yes	No
2	Reserved	Fixed	d to 1
3	Reserved	Fixed	d to 0
4	Identifier	Fixed	d to 0
5	Identifier	Fixed	d to 1
6	Identifier	Fixed	d to 0
7	Identifier	Fixed	d to 1

Cutter Status (n = 9)

Bit	Function	Value	
ы		0	1
0	Cutter work lock error	No	Yes
1	Cutter home lock error	No	Yes
2	Cutter error history	No	Yes
3	Autocutter driving	Stop	Driving
4	Identifier	Fixed to 0	
5	Identifier	Fixed to 1	
6	Identifier	Fixed	d to 0
7	Identifier	Fixed to 1	

Reserved (n = 10 to 11)

Dit	Function	Value	
Bit		0	1
0	Reserved	Fixed	d to 0
1	Reserved	Fixed	d to 0
2	Reserved	Fixed	d to 0
3	Reserved	Fixed	d to 0
4	Identifier	Fixed	d to 0
5	Identifier	Fixed	d to 1
6	Identifier	Fixed	d to 0
7	Identifier	Fixed	d to 1

Notes

This is a realtime command.

The operation of this command differs depending on the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection).

- When the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection) is enabled: This command is valid.
 - Notes when using a realtime command:

The user should note that the same behavior as this command occurs when the code line matching the code that comprises this command is received. For example, graphics data contains such code line.

 When the Function Setting MS13-3 (Realtime Command Selection) is disabled: This command is invalid.

Do not transmit the next data until the corresponding status is received after executing this command.

Do not send this command until all response data is retrieved when the response command other than this command is executed.

6.4.10 Ruled Line

DC3 '#' n Select Ruled Line Overlapping Mode Code 13H 23H n Definition Range $0 \le n \le 255$ Default Ruled line OR overlapping mode Function Specifies OR or XOR for the overlapping mode of ruled line with character and image data. n = <******0>B: The OR overlapping mode is specified. n = <******1>B: The XOR overlapping mode is specified. Only the LSB is valid for n. Notes When the OR overlapping mode is specified, the part where dots exist either in the ruled line or in the image and character is printed out in black. XOR shows exclusive OR. When the XOR overlapping mode is specified, the part where the ruled line is overlapped with the image and character is printed out in white, and the non-overlapped part is printed out in black. DC3 '(' Specify Ruled Line Command Code 13H 28H After receiving this command, the printer accepts ruled line commands without DC3 code until it Function

receives 29H.

Notes All commands other than ruled line commands are ignored.

DC3 '+'

Code 13H 2BH

Default Ruled line OFF

Function Sets the ruled line to ON.

Notes This command is valid until the "Set Ruled Line OFF" command (DC3 '-') is executed. The dots whose bit of the selected ruled line buffer is 1 are printed out. The ruled line data of the printable area width is always printed.

Related Commands DC3 '-', ESC '#'

DC3 '-'

Set Ruled Line OFF

Set Ruled Line ON

Code 13H 2DH

Default Ruled line OFF

Function Sets the ruled line to OFF.

Notes After this command, ruled line is not printed.

Related Commands DC3 '+'

Code	13H 41H
Code	13114111
Default	Ruled line buffer A selected
Function	Selects ruled line buffer A.
Notes	Following this, ruled line data is set for the ruled line buffer A, and the image of the ruled line buffer A is printed out.

buffer A is printed out. After using this command, the setting or printing for the ruled line buffer only applies to the ruled line buffer A.

Related Commands DC3 'B'

DC3 'B'

Select Ruled Line B

Code 13H 42H

Default Ruled line buffer A selected

Function Selects ruled line buffer B.

NotesFollowing this, ruled line data is set for the ruled line buffer B, and the image of the ruled line
buffer B is printed out.After using this command, the setting or printing for the ruled line buffer only applies to the ruled
line buffer B.

Related Commands DC3 'A'

DC3 'C'

Code 13H 43H

Default All data of both ruled line buffer A and B cleared

Function Clears all bits of the selected ruled line buffer to 0.

DC3 'D' nl nh

Set Ruled Line (Unit: Dot)

Clear Ruled Line Buffer

Code 13H 44H nl nh

Definition Range $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 255$

Default All ruled lines cleared

Function Sets the bit of the $[nh \times 256 + n]$ th dot of the selected ruled line buffer to 1.

Notes The position of the dot is counted by regarding the dot on the left edge of the screen as position 0.

The specification exceeding the printable area is ignored.

The specified data by this command is added on the selected ruled line buffer.

Select Ruled Line A

DC3 'F' n1 n2

Code 13H 46H n1 n2

Definition Range $0 \le n1 \le 255, 0 \le n2 \le 255$

Default All ruled lines cleared

Function Fills the selected ruled line buffer with 2 bytes of data specified by n1 and n2.

NotesThe ruled line buffer is filled with a repetitive pattern of 16-dot image in which n1 is 8 dots on the
left side and n2 is 8 dots on the right side.
The correspondence of each bit and dots of n1 and n2 can be changed by the "Select Image
LSB/MSB" command (DC2 '='). (In the initial state, MSB is on the left side.)
The specification exceeding the printable area is ignored.

The specified data by this command is overwritten on the entire area of the selected ruled line buffer.

Related Commands DC2 '='

DC3 'L' ml mh nl nh

Set Ruled Line (Unit: Dot-Line)

Print Ruled Line 1 Dot-Line

Code 13H 4CH ml mh nl nh

Definition Range $0 \le ml \le 255, 0 \le mh \le 255$ $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 255$

Default All ruled lines cleared

- Function Sets the bits in the range from the [mh × 256 + ml]th dot to the [nh × 256 + nl]th dot of the selected ruled line buffer to 1.
- Notes The position of the dot is counted by regarding the dot on the left edge of the screen as position 0.

The specification exceeding the printable area is ignored. The specified data by this command is overwritten on the specified area of the selected ruled line buffer.

DC3 'P'

Code13H 50HFunctionPrints the image of the selected ruled line buffer in 1 dot-line when ruled line is ON.NotesWhen there is data in the line buffer, the data is printed and the thermal paper is fed for length
of space between lines, then the ruled line is printed in 1 dot-line. The ruled line is also printed
on printed characters and spaces between lines.
When ruled line is OFF, no ruled line is printed, and the paper is fed by 1 dot-line.
Configure the ruled line by 2 dots or more. 1 dot ruled line may be hard to see.

DC3 'p' nl nh

Code 13H 70H nl nh

 Definition Range
 $0 \le nl \le 255, 0 \le nh \le 255$
 $0 \le nh x 256 + nl \le 65535$

- Function Prints the image of the selected ruled line buffer in the defined [nh × 256 + nl] dot-lines when ruled line is ON.
- Notes When there is data in the line buffer, the data is printed and the thermal paper is fed for length of space between lines, then the ruled line is printed in [nh × 256 + nl] dot-lines. The ruled line is also printed on printed characters and spaces between lines. When ruled line is OFF, no ruled line is printed, and the paper is fed by [nh × 256 + nl] dot-lines.

DC3 'v' nl nh [d]k

Write Ruled Line Image

Code 13H 76H nl nh [d]k

- Definition Range $0 \le d \le 255$ $1 \le nh \times 256 + nl \le (Maximum page length)$
- Default All ruled lines cleared (d is all 0)
- Function Writes image data of [nh × 256 + nl] bytes from the 0th byte of the selected ruled line buffer. d indicates image data.

The number of data bytes is $k = nh \times 256 + nl$.

NotesFor the image data, input data equivalent to 1 dot-line.
The correspondence of each bit and dots of the image data can be changed by the "Select
Image LSB/MSB" command (DC2 '='). (In the initial state, MSB is on the left side.)
When the specification exceeds the printable area, the data within the print area is retrieved,
and the subsequent data is processed as normal data.
The specified data by this command is overwritten on the specified area of the selected ruled
line buffer.

Related Commands DC2 '='

6.4.11 Download Mode

DC2 DC2	Select Download Mode
Code	12H 12H
Function	Switches to download mode. To return from download mode to print mode, execute the "Reset Download Mode" command ('@'). In the download mode, only the commands listed below are valid. Reset Download Mode ('@') Rewrite 1-Byte Font ('S' 'W') Register 1-Byte Font ('S' 'W') Delete 1-Byte Font ('S' 'C')
Notes	The POWER Switch and FEED Switch operation are disabled during the download mode.

'@' Reset Download Mode

Code40HFunctionPerforms a software reset.NotesThis command is valid only during the download mode.

If this command is executed after the printer switches to download mode even during printing, the printing is interrupted and reset.

'S' 'W' a [d1]k1 b [d2]k2

Rewrite 1-Byte Font

Code 53H 57H a [d1]k1 b [d2]k2

Definition Range

 $\begin{array}{l} 32 \leq d1 \leq 126 \\ k1 = 64 \\ b = 0, 1 \\ 0 \leq d2 \leq 255 \\ k2 = 10752 \ (b = 0) \\ k2 = 3584 \ (b = 1) \end{array}$

a = 255

Function Registers 1-byte font data to the User page of the character code table specified by information a and b.

d1 is ID data for identifying a font to be registered.

Register with any character string of 64-bytes.

This command requires the number of data bytes + memory control information bytes in the user area of the FLASH memory.

The font data registered with this command can be used by specifying n to 255 with the "Set Codepage" command (ESC 't' n). The data is assigned in the order from 20H to FFH and requires 224 characters. The character assigned for 7FH cannot be used. At the factory, the 1-byte font by this command is not registered.

- d1: ID data
- k1: Number of ID data bytes
- b: Font size
- d2: Font data
- k2: Number of font data bytes

b	Font Size	Number of Font Data Bytes (k2)
0	24-dot font	10752 byte
1	16-dot font	3584 byte

Font data format



Notes This command is valid only in download mode.

> The memory usage m is calculated by the formula below. m = Number of data bytes + Number of bytes of memory control information

Related Commands ESC 't'

'S' 'R' a b c [d]k

Register 1-Byte Font International Character

Code 53H 52H a b c [d]k

Definition Range	a = 255
	b = 0, 1
	0 ≤ c ≤ 17
	0 ≤ d ≤ 255
	k = 576 (b = 0)
	k = 192 (b = 1)
	. ,

- Function Registers the international character of 1-byte font registered by the "Rewrite 1-Byte Font" command.
 - b : Font size
 - c : Country number

d : Font data

k : Number of font data bytes

This command requires the number of data bytes + memory control information bytes in the user area of the FLASH memory.

The font data registered by this command can be used by selecting the country registered by the "Set International Character" command (ESC 'R' n) while specifying n to 255 with the "Set Codepage" command (ESC 't'). The data is assigned in the order of 23H, 24H, 40H, 5BH, 5CH, 5DH, 5EH, 60H, 7BH, 7CH, 7DH and 7EH, and requires 12 characters.

At the factory, the 1-byte font international character by this command is not registered.

b	Font Size	Number of Font Data Bytes (k)
0	24-dot font	576 byte
1	16-dot font	192 byte

С	Country	С	Country
0	USA	9	Norway
1	France	10	Denmark II
2	Germany	11	Spain II
3	United Kingdom	12	Latin America
4	Denmark I	13	Prohibition
5	Sweden	14	Prohibition
6	Italy	15	Prohibition
7	Spain I	16	Prohibition
8	Japan	17	Arabia

Font data format



Notes This command is valid only in download mode. When the 1-byte font of the specified page has not been registered, this command is ignored.

> The memory usage m is calculated by the formula below. m = Number of data bytes + Number of bytes of memory control information

Related Commands ESC 't', ESC 'R'

'S' 'C' n

Delete 1-Byte Font

Code 53H 43H n

Definition Range n = 255

Function Deletes 1-byte font data in the page specified by n.

Notes This command is valid only in download mode. The 24-dot font, the 16-dot font, the 24-dot font international character, and the 16-dot font international character in the page specified by n are all deleted.

6.5 COMMAND LIST

6.4.1	Printing Comma	and	6-12
LF		Line Feed	6-12
CR		Carriage Return	
	C 'J' n	Print and Feed Forward	
	C 'j' n	Print and Feed Backward	
ESC	C 'd' n	Print and n Lines Feed Forward	6-13
ESC		Set 1/6 Inch Line Spacing	
ESC	C '3' n	Set Line Spacing	6-14
	C SP n	Set Character Right Space	
	C '!' n	Specify Print Mode	
	C 'M' n	Select Character Font	
GS		Specify Character Size	
	C '-' n	Set Underline	
	C'E'n	Set Bold Print	
	C 'G' n	Set Double Strike Print	
	C 'V' n	Set Character 90° Right Rotate	
	C '{' n	Set Inversion (Flip) Print	
-	'B' n	Set Reverse Print	
	C 'R' n	Set International Character	
	C't'n	Set Codepage	
	C'y'abc	Send 1-Byte Font ID	0-21
ESU	C '&' y s e [x [d]k]	Register Downloaded Character	6 72
ESC	C '%' n	Set Downloaded Character Set.	
	C '?' n	Release Downloaded Character	
	2 'D' n	Release/Allocate Downloaded Character Area	
	2 'O' n	Set Optional Font	
	2 'P' s e y x [d]k	Register Optional Font	
	2 'Q'	Release Optional Font Area	
00			0 20
6.4.4	Print Position		6-27
	'P' x y	Set Basic Calculation Pitch	
HT	ТХУ	Horizontal Tab	
	C 'D' [n]k NUL	Set Horizontal Tab Position	
	C 'a' n	Alignment	
	'L' nl nh	Set Left Margin	
-	'W' nl nh	Set Print Area Width	
-	C '\$' nl nh	Specify Absolute Position	
	C '\' nl nh	Specify Relative Position	
6.4.5	Image		6-31
	•	Print Bit Image Mode	
	'*' x y [d]k	Register Downloaded Bit Image	
	GS '/' m	Print Downloaded Bit Image	0 02
	GS '/' m n	Select Downloaded Bit Image	6-33
	'v' '0' m xL xH yL		
		Print Raster Bit Image	6-34
DC	2 'l' n	Select Bit Image Scan Method	
	2 '=' n	Select Image LSB/MSB	
		Send NV Graphics Memory Capacity	
		Send NV Graphics Memory Remaining Capacity	
	'(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn		
		Send Registered NV Graphics Key Code List	6-37
GS	'(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn	'C' 'L' 'R'	
		Delete NV Graphics Data in Batch	6-37

GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn	kc1 kc2	
	Delete Specified NV Graphics Data	6-38
GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn		
	Print Specified NV Graphics Data	6-38
GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0' fn		
	Select Specified NV Graphics Data	6-39
(1)GS '(' 'L' pL pH '0'	fn '0' kc1 kc2 b xL xH yL yH '1' [d]k	
(2)GS '8' 'L' p1 p2 p3	3 p4 '0' fn '0' kc1 kc2 b xL xH yL yH '1' [d]k	
	Register NV Graphics Data	6-39
6.4.6 Barcode		6-41
GS 'H' n	Select HRI Character Print Position	6-41
GS 'f' n	Select HRI Character Font	
GS 'h' n	Set Barcode Height	
GS 'w' n	Set Barcode Width	
DC2 ':' n	Set Barcode N:W Ratio	
GS 'k' m	Print Barcode	
647 Two-dimension	al Barcode	6-49
GS 'n' n	Set Nominal Narrow Element Width	
GS 'o' n	Set PDF Module Height	
GS 'p' 0 m2 e r c nl r		0.40
DOOL	Print PDF417	
DC2 ';' n	Set Module Size of Two-dimensional Barcode	6-50
GS 'p' 1 model e v m	node ni nh [d]k	0.50
00110	Print QR Code	6-50
GS 'p' 2 ecc row col		0.54
	Print Data Matrix	6-51
GS 'p' 3 mode 🔹 •		
	Print MaxiCode	
GS 'p' 4 0 n [d]n	Print GS1 Databar Stacked	
GS 'p' 4 1 h n [d]n	Print GS1 Databar Stacked Omni-directional	
GS 'p' 4 2 s n [d]n	Print GS1 Databar Expanded Stacked	6-53
6.4.8 Kanji		6-54
FS '&'	Specify Kanji Mode	6-54
FS '.'	Cancel Kanji Mode	
FS '!' n	Specify Kanji Print Mode	
FS '-' n	Set Kanji Underline	
FS 'C' n	Select Kanji Code System	
FS 'S' n1 n2	Set Kanji Spacing	
FS 'W' n	Set Kanji Quadruple-Size	
DC2 '.' n	Select Kanji Font	
FS'l'abc	Send 2-Byte Font ID	
FS '2' c1 c2 [d]k	Register User-Defined Character	
DC2 'G' n	Release/Allocate User-Defined Character Area	
649 Auxiliary Functi	ions	6-60
	Initialize Printer	
ESC '@'		
DC2 '@'	Hardware Reset	
GS FF	Marked Paper Form Feed (Feed Paper to Cut Position)	
GS '<'	Marked Paper Form Feed (Feed Paper to Print Start Position)	
GS 'A' m n	Correct Marked Paper Form Feed	
GS 'C' '0' n m	Set Counter Print Mode	
GS 'C' '1' aL aH bL b		0.00
	Set Count Mode	
GS 'C' '2' nl nh	Set Counter Value	
GS 'c'	Print Counter	
GS 'l' n	Send Printer ID	6-63
(1)GS 'V' m		.
(2)GS 'V' m n	Cut Paper	
ESC i	Full cut	6-65

	ESC m GS 'Y' n	Partial cut Stamp & Cut	
	GS 'g' '0' m nl nh	Initialize Maintenance Counter	
	GS 'g' '1' m	Save Maintenance Counter	
	GS 'g' '2' m nl nh	Send Maintenance Counter	
	DC2 '*' '1' n	Defragment User Area	
	DC2 '*' '2'		
		Send Remaining User Area	
	DC2 '*' '6'	Send Remaining User Area after Defragment	
	DC2 'R' n	Initialize User Area	
	DC2 'k' f [d]k NUL	Change Function Settings	
	DC2 'w' f [d]k NUL	Change Function Settings	
	DC2 'l' n	Send Function Settings	
	DC2 'q' n	Execution Response Request	
	DC2 't'	Test Print	
	ESC 'c' '4' n	Select Paper Sensor to Stop Printing	
	ESC 'c' '5' n	Enable/Disable Panel Switch	6-71
	GS 'r' n	Send Status Data	
	GS 'a' n	Enable/Disable Automatic Status Back	6-74
	DC2 '0' 'c' n	Send Error History	6-77
	DC3 '(' 'c' 'l' 'r' ')'	Clear Buffer at Error	
	DC3 '(` 'r' 'e' 's' [`] e' 't' E	DC3 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' ')'	
	,	Printer Reset	6-78
	OC2 '~' n	Set Print Density	6-79
	GS 's' n	Set Print Speed	
	GS 'O'	Execute Power Off	
	DC2 'u' 0	Set iSerialNumber	
	DC2 'u' 1 [d]k NUL	Set iSerialNumber	
	SYN ESC 'l' 'F' 'W' 'L		0-00
	STNESCIF W L	Send Wireless LAN Communication Setting	6 90
		Send Wheless LAN Communication Setting	0-00
	STINESULE VIL	' p1 p2 p3 p4 fn n [d]k	<u> </u>
		Set Wireless LAN Communication	
	DEL EOT n	Send Status Data in Real Time	0-80
6.4	.10 Ruled Line		6-90
	DC3 '#' n	Select Ruled Line Overlapping Mode	6-90
	DC3 '('	Specify Ruled Line Command	
	DC3 '+'	Set Ruled Line ON	
	DC3 '-'	Set Ruled Line OFF	
	DC3 'A'	Select Ruled Line A	
	DC3 'B'	Select Ruled Line B	
	DC3 'C'	Clear Ruled Line Buffer	
	DC3 'D' nl nh	Set Ruled Line (Unit: Dot)	
	DC3 'F' n1 n2	Fill Ruled Line Pattern	
		Set Ruled Line (Unit: Dot-Line)	
	DC3 'P'	Print Ruled Line 1 Dot-Line	
	DC3 'p' nl nh	Print Ruled Line n Dot-Lines	
		Write Ruled Line Image	
	DC3 'v' nl nh [d]k	While Ruleu Line Intage	0-93
6.4	.11 Download Mode	9	6-94
	DC2 DC2	Select Download Mode	
	@'	Reset Download Mode	
,	S' W' a [d1]k1 b [d2]		507
		Rewrite 1-Byte Font	6-94
,	S' 'R' a b c [d]k	Register 1-Byte Font International Character	
	S' 'C' n	Delete 1-Byte Font	
	STUR		

CHAPTER 7 INITIALIZATION

7.1 INITIALIZATION

There are the following processes for initialization:

- (1) Initialization of settings
 - "Initialize Printer" command (ESC '@')
- (2) Initialization with software resetting
 - Resetting of USB class request
 - "Reset Download Mode" command ('@')
 - "Printer Reset" command (DC3 '(' 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' DC3 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' ')')
- (3) Initialization with hardware resetting
 - "Hardware Reset" command (DC2 '@')
 - Power on with the POWER Switch

7.2 INITIALIZATION OF SETTINGS

The items shown in Table 7-1 are initialized by the commands below.

• "Initialize Printer" command (ESC '@')

Item	Setting Value	Command
Character right space amount	0	ESC SP
Bold printing	Cancel	ESC '!', ESC 'E'
Double strike printing	Cancel	ESC 'G'
Underline	Cancel	ESC '!', ESC '-'
90° right rotation	Cancel	ESC 'V'
Inversion (flip) printing	Cancel	ESC '{'
Character font	Font A (24×12)	ESC '!', ESC 'M'
Double height	Cancel	ESC '!', FS '!', FS 'W'
Double width	Cancel	ESC '!', FS '!', FS 'W'
Reverse printing	Cancel	GS 'B'
International character	Depends on Function Settings	ESC 'R'
Character code table	Depends on Function Settings	ESC 't'
Kanji mode	Cancel	FS '&', FS '.'
Kanji font	Font A (24 × 24)	FS '!', DC2 '.'
Kanji underline	Cancel	FS '!', FS '-'
Kanji code system	Depends on Function Settings	FS 'C'
Kanji space amount	Right = 0, Left = 0	FS 'S'
Line spacing	1/6 inches	ESC '2', ESC '3'
Horizontal tab position	Every 8 characters	ESC 'D'
Alignment	Aligned left	ESC 'a'
Counter print mode	Number of digit = 0, Aligned right	GS 'C' '0'
Count mode	Count-up	GS 'C' '1'
Counter range	1 to 65535	GS 'C' '1'
Counter value	1	GS 'C' '2'
Counter step	1	GS 'C' '1'
Number of repetitions	1	GS 'C' '1'
HRI character print position	Not printed	GS 'H'
HRI character font	Font A (24×12)	GS 'f'
Barcode print direction	No rotation	GS 'j'
Barcode height	162 dots	GS 'h'
Barcode width	0.375 mm 0.375 mm / 1.000 mm	GS 'w'
Barcode N:W ratio	1:2.5	DC2 ':'
Nominal narrow element width	3 dots	GS 'n'
PDF module height	10 dots	GS 'o'
Module size of two-dimensional barcode	6 dots	DC2 ';'、GS '(' 'k'

Table 7-1 Setting Value After Initialization

Item	Setting Value	Command
Left margin	0 (beginning of line)	GS 'L'
Printing area	Printable area	GS 'W'
Basic calculation pitch	x direction: 1/203 inches y direction: 1/203 inches	GS 'P'
Downloaded bit image selection	Cancel	GS '/'
NV graphics selection	Cancel	GS '(' 'L'
Image LSB/MSB	MSB	DC2 '='
Bit image scan method	Column scan method	DC2 'l'
Ruled line	OFF	DC3 '+', DC3 '-'
Ruled line buffer	Clear	DC3 'C'
Ruled line overlapping	OR	DC3 '#'
Downloaded character specification	Cancel	ESC '%'
Optional font selection	Cancel	DC2 'O'

7.3 INITIALIZATION WITH SOFTWARE RESETTING

Initialization is performed by the following commands or operation.

- Resetting of USB class request (Valid only by printer driver)
- "Reset Download Mode" command ('@') (Valid only in download mode)
- "Printer Reset" command (DC3 '(' 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' DC3 'r' 'e' 's' 'e' 't' ')')

This initialization initializes the items in Table 7-2 in addition to the items in "7.2 INITIALIZATION OF SETTINGS".

 Table 7-2
 Setting Value After Initialized with Software Resetting

Item	Setting Value	Command
Input buffer	Clear	-
Output buffer	Clear	-
Function Settings	Depends on Function Settings	DC2 'k', DC2 'w'
Panel switch enable/disable	Enabled	ESC 'c' '5'
Automatic status back enable/disable	Depends on Function Settings	GS 'a'
Print density	Depends on Function Settings	DC2 '~'
Print speed	Depends on Function Settings	GS 's'

7.4 INITIALIZATION WITH HARDWARE RESETTING

Initialization is performed by the following commands or operation.

- "Hardware Reset" command (DC2 '@')
- Power on with the POWER Switch

This initialization initializes the items in "7.3 INITIALIZATION WITH SOFTWARE RESETTING. Also, all interfaces are initialized. When the interfaces are initialized, the communications are disconnected.

APPENDIX A CHARACTER SETS (CHARACTER CODE TABLE)

A.1 CHARACTER CODE TABLES (CODEPAGE)

The codepage when the international character setting is set to USA is shown below. The printing result of a specific character code differs depending on the international character set to be set. For specific character codes, see "A.2 INTERNATIONAL CHARACTER SET".



Figure A-1 USA, Standard Europe (Code Page437)



Figure A-2 Katakana

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F #\$%& 20 ж +30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 ? > 40 @ A B C D E F G H Ι ΝO 50 PQRSTUVW Y 7 Х ` 60 abcdefgh mno ĸ 70 pqrstuvwxy Ζ 80 Çüéâäàåçêëè ÌAA Ï Î 90 É æ Æ ô ö ò û ù ÿ ö Ü ø £ Ø × f aoi R ¬½ 1/4 áíóúñÑ A0 **《**》 . ÂÀ C∥ Á IJ B0 ¥ ī ¢ ٦ ãÃĿŗ些 ╀ ᄂᆂᅮ C0 ᅲ╠ ï DO ðĐÊË Î Í Î E I ÓßÔÒõ Õ E0 μ ÞÚ b U U ý Y _ ¾ 2 1 3 § ſ F0 – ± ÷

Figure A-3 Multilingual (Code Page850)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F !"#\$%&' 20 () * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 ? 8 g 1 40 @ A B C D F G Κ 0 50 P Q R S T f 60 `abcd е k m g n o 70 pqrstuvw ху Z ~ 80 ÇüéâãàÁçêÊ Í è Ô ìÃÂ 90 É À È Ô Õ Ò Ú Ù Ì Õ Ü ¢£ÙľtÓ - 1/2 /4 1 AO áíóúñ Ñ <u>a o</u> Ś **«**» Ò . ╢ ╣ Ţ Ш ŧ 3 +B0 -Ŧ ī ٦ П $L \perp T$ ╞╟╚╔╩╦╠═╬╧ C0 D0 ╨╤╥╙╘╒╓ ΕΟ αβΓπΣσμ Φ θ δ Ω ø ω ıΩ τ 2 F0 ≡ ± ≥ ≤ [] ÷ ≈ o n

Figure A-4 Portuguese (Code Page860)



Figure A-5 Canadian-French (Code Page863)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F 20 ! " # \$ % & ' () * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 89 ? -7 > 40 @ A B C D E F G H I J MNO K 50 PQRSTUV 7 μ Х 60 `abcdefgh İ k mno 70 pqrstuvwxyz ~ 80 Çüéâäàåçêëè î ÌAA ï 90 É æ Æ ô ö ò û ù ÿ Ö Ü ø £ Ø ŀt f AO áíóúññªº¿┌¬½¼i≪¤ B0 🛛 🖉 🕷 | -| л _{П П Г} 4 11 11 1 11 CO └┴ㅜ├─┼╞╟╚╔╩╦╠═╬╧ D0 ╨╤╥╙╘╒╓ 册 Г ΕΟ αβΓπΣσμτΦθΩδ ∞υεΛ ż $F0 \equiv \pm \ge \le [] \div \approx \circ$ n

Figure A-6 Nordic (Code Page865)

0123456789ABCDEF 20 !"#\$%&' () * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 . 40 @ A B C D E F G Н Ι M N 0 50 PQRSTUVW Y Х 60 `abcdefgh i ĸ mno 70 pqrstuvwxyz 80 Çüéâäàåçêëèï ÎIÂĂ 90 É æ Æ ô ö ò û ù İ Ö Ü ø £ Ø Şş AO á í ó ú ñ Ñ Ğ ğ ¿ B ¬ ½ 14 1 **《**》 B0 🖉 . ÂÀC∥ Á + IJ ¢¥ъ ī +ãÃ╚╔╩╦╠═ C0 LT++-= Ø Í ÎΪΊ DO Q≜ÊËÈ€ Т ΕΟ Ó β Ô Ò õ Õ μ ×ÚÛÙ ÿ ì 3 1 $F0 - \pm$ §÷

Figure A-7 Turkish (Code Page857)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F #\$%&' !" () 20 * + 30 0 1 2 3456 8 9 >? 1 2 40 @ A B C D E F G H Ι K М. ΝO 50 PQRST 7 UV. ω Х 60 `abcdef g h I mno 70 pqrstuvwxy Z \sim 80 ΑΒΓΔΕΖΗΘΙΚ ΝΞΟΠ Μ. ΨΩαβγδεζηθ $90 P \Sigma T Y$ Ф Х ξ A0 ικλμν οπρσςτυφχψ B0 🖉 🖉 🖉 Ц Ц Ц $\parallel \pi = \parallel$ ll 🛛 +4 IJ C0 LLT ╶┼╞╟╚╔╩╦╠═╬╧ ᄮᆕᅲᄮ╘╒╓ ⋕≢ D0 1 Г ΕΟ ω ά έ ή ϊ ί ό ν ̈ ̈́ώ Å Έ Ĥ Ί ΌŶ J^{n 2} FO Ώ±≥≤ÏΫ÷≈°• •

Figure A-8 Greek (Code Page737)

0123456789ABCDEF "#\$%& 20 ! (* + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 ? 40 @ A B C D E F G H Ι MNO 50 PQRSTUV Ζ ω Y X 60 `abcdef i g Í h k mno 70 pqrstuvwxy z Š ~ ž ţ 8 80 € (Œ ‡ š ž 90 TM Ÿ æ) A0 § C <u>a</u> 《 ¬ R £ ¤¥ ¢ 2 3 / 1/4 ½ 0 3⁄4 i 1 **》** B0 ± ¶ μ ٠ Ō CO À Á Â Ã Ä Å Å Ę Ç È É Ê Ë Ì Í Î Ϊ DO ĐÑÒÓÔÕÖרÙÚÛÜÝ Þß EO à á â ã ä å æ ç è é ê ë Ì ĺ ÎΪ FO ðñòóôốö÷øùúûüýbÿ

Figure A-9 Latin (Code Page1252)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F !"#\$%&'() 20 * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 ? . 40 @ A B C D E F G H Ι J K LM ΝO 50 PQRSTUV 7 WΧ Y 60 `abcdefgh T k mno 70 pqrstuvwxy Z \sim 80 АБВГДЕЖЗИЙ ЛМНОП К 90 РСТУФХЦЧШЩЪЫЬЭЮЯ АО абвгдежзийклмноп B0 ░ ▓ | ┤╡╢╖╕╣ ║╗╝╜╛ C0 └┴ㅜㅏㅡ┼╞╟╚╔╩╦╠═╬╧ ╨╤╥╙╘╒╓╫╪┘ D0 Г ЕО рстуфхцчшщъыьэюя FO ЁёЄєЇїЎЎ°••√№¤∎

Figure A-10 Russian (Code Page866)

0123456789ABCDEF !"#\$%&' 20 () * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 く=>? 2 40 @ A B C D E F G H Ι MNO 50 PQRSTUVW Ζ Y X 60 `abcdefgh Í i k mno 70 pqrstuvwxyz { 80 ÇüéâäůćçłëőőîŹÄĆ ŚśÖÜŤťŁ×č ľ 90 É Ĺ ĺ Ô ö Ľ A0 á í ó ú A a Ž ž Ę ę ¬ ź Č ş **« »** B0 ∭ ∭ | ┤ Á Â Ě Ş ╢ ║ ╖ ╝ Ż ż ℩ C0 └└┬├─┼Ă ă └╔╨╦╠═╬¤ D0 đ Đ Ď Ë ď Ň Í Î ě ┘┌**║** ■ Ţ Ů ■ EO Ó B Ô Ń Ń Ň Š Š Ŕ Ú ŕ Ű ý Υ § - " ÷ 0 űŘř F0

Figure A-11 Eastern Europe (Code Page852)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F 20 ! " # \$ % & ' () * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 ? 9 > 40 @ A B C D E F G H Ι J MNO ĸ 50 PQRSTUVWX 7 60 `abcdefgh Í 1 mno 70 pqrstuvwxyz ł \sim 80 Çüéâäàåçêëèï î ÌAĂ 90 É æ Æ ô ö ò û ù ÿ Ö Ü ø £ Ø × f AO áíóúñѪ⊆¿ℝ¬½ 1/4 **《**》 i B0 🛛 🖉 🕷 | | A A A C || ר¥ ¢ [⊔] ¢ └┴┯┝━┿ãÃ╚╔╩╦╠═╬¤ C0 ðÐÊËÈ€ÍÎ Ϊ D0 1 Ι ΕΟ όβôòõõμþÞÚÛÙ / ý 3 Ý F0 - ± _ ¾ ¶ § ÷ 2 1 ••

Figure A-12 Euro (Code Page858)

0123456789ABCDEF !" #\$%&' 20 () * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 >? 40 @ A B C D E F G H Ι MNO 50 P Q R S T U V W X Y 7 60 `abcdefgh I k mno 70 pqrstuvwxy { z \sim 80 ϦϦŕŕëËεЄѕЅіΙ ίJ ïΙ 90 љЉњЊћЋќЌўЎџЏюЮъЪ АО аАбБцЦдДеЕфФгГ**«»** B0 🖉 🖉 ┤ӿХиИ╣║╗╝йЙ┐ C0 └┴ㅜ├─┼ĸК╚╔╩╦╠═╬¤ ∎¬ └пОоНнМмП сО ∎ II я ЕО ЯрРсСтТуУжЖвВьЬ№ F0 – ыЫзЗшШэЭшШчЧ§∎

Figure A-13 Cyrillic (Code Page855)

0123456789ABCDEF #\$%& !" () , 20 * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 8 ? g 1 40 @ A B C D F FG Κ 50 P Q R S 7 `abcdef 60 g n o 70 pqrstuvwxyz \sim °·•√ --LJ+ + + +80 لذ ذ « β ∞ φ ± ½ ¼ ≈ « » يذ ذ 90 א א – ĺ£¤ĺ خحج،ثتبا€ A0 ؟ ص ش س ؛ ف BO • ۱۲۳٤٥٦۷ ۸۹ د خ ح ج ث ت ة ب ا ل ع ف أ آ ء ¢ CO ع×÷ - ¦ غعظطضصشسزر ذ DO م غ غ ع ض یـ ی و ه نـ م اـ ک قـ فـ E (F0 – ∎ى كللآلآق غي ہے به ہن ″

Figure A-14 Arabic (Code Page864)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F !"#\$%& , 20 * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 ? 40 @ A B C D E F G H MNO 50 PQRSTU 60 `abcdefgh i k mno 70 pqrstuvwxy { z έŠ Ť Ž 80 € < Ś ‡ " TM š) ź 90 ž ś ť νυ Ş ≪ ¬ Ż § R A0 ٤Ą C ż BO °± ł´µ¶• aş≫Ľ″ CO ŔÁÂĂÄĹĆÇČÉĘËĚÍ Ď Î DO ĐŃŇÓÔŐÖ×ŘŮŮŰÜÝ ß E0 ŕáâăäĺćçčéęëěí FO đńňóôőö÷řůúűüý t

Figure A-15 Central European (Code Page1250)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F !"#\$%&'() 20 * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 ? 9 40 @ A B C D E F G H K MNO 50 PQRST 7 UΥ Ш Х 60 `abcdef g h Ī k mno 70 pqrstuvwxy Z \sim €‰ 80 Ђѓ ,ŕ,, ‡ Ъ t (胎底折貝 ... 90 ħ í. TM ќћи ٠ - -Jb h ÿÿJ¤Ґ¦§Ë©€≪¬−®ï A0 B0 ° ±Ιiґμ¶∙ë№ε≫j Ssï СО АБВГДЕЖЗИЙКЛМНОП DO РСТУФХЦЧШЩЪЫЬЭЮЯ ЕО абвгдежзийклмноп F0 рстуфхцчшщъыьэюя

Figure A-16 Cyrillic (Code Page1251)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F #\$%& 20 () * + 30 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 89 < = > ? 2 40 @ A B C D E F G H Ι MNO 50 PQRSTUVWXYZ j `abcdefghi 60 k mno 70 pqrstuvwxyz{ ł ť 8 t ‡ 80 € ("···· TM 90) C a « - R -£¤¥ ... § A0 ° ± ²³ ′ · Έ Ή Ί » Ό ½ Ϋ Ώ μ¶ B0 CO ΐΑΒΓΔΕΖΗΘΙΚΛΜΝΞΟ DO ΠΡ ΣΤΥΦΧΨΩΪΫάέήί ΕΟ ΰαβγδεζηθικλμνξο FO πρςστυφχψωϊϊόνώ

Figure A-17 Greek (Code Page1253)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F !" #\$%& 20 , (* t 012 34 56 30 8 9 ? 7 > @ A B C 40 D Ε F G N K Μ 0 50 PQRS Т 60 abcd ` е k n o m 70 z Š pqrs t Х У ~ u ٧ Ψ ž € ^ ť 80 ‡ Œ ;; ; š 90 TM Ÿ) æ <u>a</u> « A0 £ § ¥ C -ż Ï i ¢ R Ø ٦ -0 ₃⁄4 Î 3 1/4 Ż / ± 1 ½ Í **》** B0 <u>o</u> ¶ μ ٠ Ê Ë ÀÁ ÂÃÄÄÅÆÇĚÉ Ì C0 DO ĞÑÒÓÔÕÖרÙÚÛ Ü İ Ş ß E0 à á â ã ä å æ ç è é ê ë ï ì í î F0 ğñòóôõö÷øùúûü ISŸ

Figure A-18 Turkish (Code Page1254)

A.2 INTERNATIONAL CHARACTER SET

The printing result of a specific character code differs depending on the international character set to be set. Specific character codes and their printing results are shown below.

U.S.A. France Germany U.K. Denmark I Sweden Italy Spain I Japan Norway Denmark I Spain I Latin America	###£###t####	\$\$\$\$\$\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	©àsooùoosia Asooùoosia Asooùoosia Asooùoosia Asooùoosia Asooùoosia Asoooosia Asooosia Asooosia Asooosia Asooosia Asooosia Asooooo	58[∖ç:ö\Ø:ö\ĩ¥ØØĩ]§Ü]ÅÅé¿]ÅÅ¿	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	````éù``éé`	7B{éä{æäà:{ææíí	ùö øöòñ øøñ	7D}èü}ååè}}ååóó	~ B ~ ~ Ì ~ ~ Ú
Spain I Latin America Arabia		\$ \$ \$	á á Q	i i	N Ñ ∖	د ز]	é é	ü	í í {	ň ñ 	Ó Ó }	ú ú ~

Figure A-19 International Character Set

A.3 2-BYTE CHARACTERS

Kanji defined in the JIS 1st and 2nd levels in 1997, NEC selection of IBM extended characters, and IBM extended characters can be printed.

In addition, special characters and NEC special characters are assigned to the Kanji code of the non-Kanji area.

Figure A-21 NEC Special Character Set

	0	1	2	З	4	5	6	7	8	9	Α	В	С	D	Е	F
7920		纊	褜	鍈	銈	蓜	俉	炻	로	棈	鋹	曻	彅		仡	仼
7930	伀	伃	伹	佖	侒	侊	侚	侔	俍	偀	倢	俿	倞	偆	偰	偂
7940															匇	
7950																
7960																
7970	岦	岺	峵	崧	嵓	﨑	嵂	嵭	嶸	嶹	巐	弡	弴	彧	德	

- 0123456789ABCDEF
 7A20 恣恝悅悊惞惕愠惲愑愷愰憘戓抦揵
 7A30 摠撝擎教昀昕昂昉昮昞昤晥晗晙晴晳
 7A40 暙暠暲暿曺朎朗杦枻桒柀栁桄棏栟楨
 7A50 撑榘槢樰橫橆橳橾櫢櫤毖氿氾沆汯泚
 7A60 洄涇浯涖涬淏淸淲淼渹湜渧渼溿澈澵
 7A70 濵瀅瀇瀨炅炫焏焄煜煆煇凞燁燾犱
- 0123456789ABCDEF
 7B20 状猤猪獷玽珉珖珣珒琇珵琦琪琩琮
 7B30 瑢璉璟甁畯皂皜皞皛皦益睆劯砡硎硤
 7B40 硺礰礼神祥禔福禛竑竧靖竫箞精絈絜
 7B50 綷緣緒繪罇羡羽茁荢荿菇菶葈蒴蕓蕙
 7B60 蕫﨟薰蘒蜌蠇裵訒訷詹誧誾諟諸諶譓
 7B70 譿賰賴贒赶赳軏返逸違郞都鄕鄧釚

	0	1	2	З	4	5	6	7	8	9	Α	В	С	D	Е	F
7C20		釗	釞	釭	釮	釤	釥	鈆	鈐	鈊	鈺	鉀	鈼	鉎	鉙	鉑
7030															錡	
7C40															閒	
7C50															餧	
7C60	馞														黑	
7C70		i	ii	iii	iv	v	vi	vii	viii	ix	х	-	ł	'	"	

Figure A-22 NEC Selection of IBM Extended Character Set

9320 9330 9340 9350 9360 9370	Ⅵ銈侒兤		∷Ⅷ俉侚冾	ⅲ以炻侔凬	.≥×昱俍刕	>「 棈偀劜	∵鋹使劦	;≓- 曻俿勀	ⅲ" 彅倞勛	ix㈱―偆匀	×№仡偰匇	ー℡仼偂匤	:公傔卲	≡纊伃僴厓	Ⅳ褜伹僘厲	Ⅴ鍈佖兊叝
9420 9430 9440 9450 9460 9470		崧惞昕	「奓嵓惕昂朗	- 奛﨑愠昉杦	商嵂惲昮枻	- 奣嵭愑昞桒	- 好嶸愷昤柀	妺嶹愰晥栁	子譾憘晗桄	- 寀弡戓晙棏	甯弴抦晴楜	- 寘彧揵晳楨	寬德摠暙榉	- 尞忞搊暠榘	- 岦恝擎暲槢	~ 岺悅敎
	0	4	~	~		-	~	7	~	~		0	~	~	_	-

- U123456789ABCDEF
 9520 涖涬淏淸淲淼渹湜渧渼溿澈澵濵瀅
 9530 瀇瀨炅炫焏焄煜煆煇凞燁燾犱犾猤猪
 9540 獷玽珉珖珣珒琇珵琦琪琩琮瑢璉璟瓶
 9550 畯皂皜皞皛皦益睆劯砡硎硤硺礰礼神
 9560 祥禔福禛竑竧靖錚箞精絈絜綷綠緖繒
 9570 罇羡羽茁荢荿菇菶葈蒴蕓蕙蕫﨟薰
- 0123456789ABCDEF
 9620 蘒姓螭裵訒訷詹誧誾諟諸諶譓譿賰
 9630 賴贊赶赳軏返逸違郞都鄕鄧釚釗釞釭
 9640 釮釤鈔訟鈐鈊鈺鉀鈼鉎鉙鉑鈹鉧銧鉷
 9650 鉸鋧鋗鋙鋐誟鋕鋠鋓錥錡鋻鋍錞鋿錝
 9660 錂鍰鍗鎤鏆鏞鏸鐱鑅鑈閒隆隝隝隯霳
 9670 霻靃靍靏靑靕顗顥飯飼餧館馞驎髙
 - 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 A B C D E F 髜魵魲鮏鮱鮻鰀鵰鵫鶴鸙黑
- 9720 9730 9740 9750 9760
- 9770

Figure A-23 IBM Extended Character Set